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PART

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains forward-looking statements All statements other than statements of historical facts including statements

regarding our future financial condition business strategy and plans and objectives of management for future operations are forward-

looking statements Terminology such as believe may might objective estimate continue anticipate intend

should plan expect predict potential or the negative of these terms or other similarexpressions is intended to identify

forward-looking statements We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections

about future events and financial trends that we believe may affect our financial condition results of operations business strategy

and financial needs These forward-looking statements are subject to number of risks uncertainties and assumptions described

under the section titled Risk Factors and elsewhere in this report

The events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements may not be achieved or occur and actual results may differ

materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-

looking statements are reasonable we cannot guarantee future results levels of activity performance or achievements Moreover

neither we nor any other person assume responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of the forward-looking statements You

should not place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements

Except as required by law we undertake no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements for any reason to conform

these statements to actual results or to changes in our expectations We qualify all of our forward-looking statements by these

cautionary statements

Item Business

Overview

Epocrates is leading physician platform for essential clinical content practice tools and health industry engagement at the point of

care Our user network consists of well over one million healthcare professionals including approximately 340000 or more than

50% of U.S physicians Epocrates portfolio features top-rankedmedical apps including the industrys used mobile drug reference

which provides convenient point-of-care access to information such as dosing drug interactions pricing and insurance coverage

for thousands of brand generic and over-the-counter drugs The features available through our unique physician platform are

referenced multiple times per day and help healthcare professionals make more informed prescribing decisions improve workflow

and enhance patient safety We offer our products on major U.S mobile platforms including Apple iOS Android and BlackBerry

We generate approximately 80% of our revenue from providing healthcare companies with interactive services to communicate with

our network of users 60%and by leveraging our network of healthcare professionals for market research services 20% Our user

network is one of our most valuable assets and we strive to strengthen this network by increasing physician engagement and by

introducing additional tools to support healthcare professionals at the point of care We also generate revenues from the sale of our

subscription products to healthcare professionals which accounts for the remaining 20% of our revenues

In July 2011 we entered controlled release of the Epocrates electronic health record or EHR mobile and web-based EHR

offering focused on the solo and small group practices sector We did not generate any material revenues from our EHR offering in

2011 On February 24 2012 the Board of Directors of Epocrates approved the discontinuation of further development of Epocrates

EHR product The Board of Directors made this determination in order to focus Epocrates efforts on its core business Subscriptions

and Interactive Services and due to the future uncertainty and ongoing investment required for the EHR product Epocrates will

explore strategic alternatives for the EHR product In connection with this decision Epocrates recorded an impairment charge of

approximately $8.5 million in its fourth fiscal quarter of 2011which represents the write-down of the carrying value of the goodwill

intangible and other long-lived assets related to the EHR product to their estimated fair value of zero This charge is recorded in

Impairment of Long-lived Assets and Goodwill in our consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31 2011

Reportable Segments

Subscriptions and Interactive Services

Subscriptions revenue

The majority of healthcare professionals in our network use our free products and services and do not purchase any of our premium

subscriptions Premium subscriptions are available to our mobile physician platform and our online drug and clinical reference



product and site licenses or codes may be purchased for access to either our mobile or online products We also sell subscriptions

to nearly 65 education learning and clinical applications which we own as result of our acquisition of Modality Inc in late 2010

for the Apple iOS platform This channels revenues are not significant to our consolidated total revenues net Approximately 20%

of our revenue is derived from premium subscriptions

Epocrates mobile physician platform

Our proprietary drug content included in our drug reference tool provides convenient access to information healthcare professionals

need at the point of care such as dosing drug interactions pricing and insurance coverage
for thousands of brands generic and over-

the-counter drugs Physicians trust Epocrates for accurate and timely content

In October 2011 we launched redesign of our drug reference tool to create new platform that provides healthcare professionals

with improved faster access to our trusted drug content as well as additional tools In addition to access to our proprietary drug

reference tool with dosing drug interactions pricing and insurance coverage for thousands of brand generic and over-the-counter

drugs physicians now have better access and increased awareness of other resources from Epocrates and its partners The Epocrates

physician platform condenses all available and relevant medical information on one dashboard which may be customized according

to each users unique needs Our new platform should raise awareness of our interactive services such as EssentialPoints Contact

Manufacturer and Mobile Sample Closet We have also built an app directory that resides on the Epocrates platform and provides

hcalthcare professionals with convenient centralized access to portfolio of reference education and clinical apps Our new platform

serves as channel for Epocrates to partner on development and distribution of apps

Epocrates online drug and clinical reference products

We offer online drug and clinical reference tools for free or through premium subscription The free online product includes the

same drug and formulary information found in the free mobile product It also includes complimentary access to disease content

developed in conjunction with the BMJ Group publishers of the British Medical Journal as well as patient education handouts

available in English and Spanish

Our online premium product includes the items mentioned above as well as an alternative medicine database hundreds of medical

equations clinical criteria and unit/dose converters The online premium version may be purchased by individuals on the Epocrates

website or by groups through our institutional sales team

Interactive Services

We generate approximately 80% of our total revenues net by working with third parties to engage with our clinician network

Specifically providing an effective channel for pharmaceutical companies to communicate with their target audience in cost-

effective manner generates 60% of revenue and an additional 20% is generated through market research services with our extensive

physician network To date our interactive services clients have included all of the top 20 global pharmaceutical companies by sales

and hundreds of individual pharmaceutical brands Our interactive services include

DocAlert clinical messaging DocAlerts are short clinically relevant messages that deliver news and alerts including product

approvals clinical study results practice management information industry guidelines and formulary status changes to our users

The majority of these DocAlert messages are not sponsored The balance of DocAlert messages are sponsored by our clients and

are marked as such These messages serve as vehicle for our clients to communicate key scientific and medical information to

clinicians as way to keep them informed Depending on the alert clinicians may have the option to view additional information

on their mobile devices save the messages for future reference forward the message to colleague or request additional information

via e-mail

Virtual Representative Services Our fully-integrated mobile promotional programs supplement and replicate the traditional sales

model with services typically provided during representative interactions such as drug detailing sampling and patient literature

delivery which we provide through Epocrates Mobile Sample Closet as well as the ability to contact drug manufacturers at the

point of care Through Epocrates Essential Points our pharmaceutical clients may sponsor
activities on relevant topics which

Epocrates communicates via two to seven minute overviews on physicians mobile devices Our pharmaceutical clients also leverage

the Epocrates App Network service which provides our clients with development distribution or combination of these two

offerings or sponsorship of apps
which are offered to targeted groups

of physicians in our network

Epocrates market research We recruit healthcare professionals based on occupation specialty years in practice practice setting

and geography to participate in market research activities such as online surveys QA sessions and one-on-one interviews Customers



contract with us and pay fee to us for access to targeted group of our users whom they wish to survey We pay portion of this

fee to the survey participants as an incentive for them to participate Numerous market research firms have used our services to

recruit healthcare professionals for market research surveys on behalf of the healthcare and financial services industries

Formulary hosting Our clients contract with us to host their formulary and make it available to our users for one to three year
period Healthcare professionals have the option to download plan formulary lists by geographic area or patient demographic at no
cost We work with large national health insurance regional and Medicaid plans and we collaborate with the Centers for Medicare
and Medicaid Services or CMS to offer formulary information for all Medicare Part plans For each plan we integrate co-pay
levels quantity limits and prior authorization requirements into our core drug reference products and display lower-cost and generic
alternatives so physicians may select less expensive treatment reducing costs to patients and health plans

Mobile resource centers This educational service allows healthcare professionals to stay current on clinical developments for

variety of diseases conditions and topics Typically sponsored by pharmaceutical company for
year at time each resource

center is developed in conjunction with key opinion leader for that specific disease or condition The content is updated on regular
basis and includes information such as news abstracts conference highlights and commentary on medical advances in the field

Electronic Health Records

In July 2011 we entered controlled release of the Epocrates EHR mobile and web-based EHR offering with the intent to offer

full product in 2012 Our EHR solution was designed to meet the distinct needs of primary care practices with 10 or fewer physicians
and position users to qualify for subsidies under the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act passed
as part of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 Our solution is secure mobile and web-based Software-as-a-
Service system featuring core capabilities including patient encounter notes electronic lab integration ePrescribing and Epocrates
market-leading drug content The market for EHR products is competitive crowded and we have limited experience in that market
In 2011 the EHR segment did not generate significant amount of revenue

As indicated in the Overview section above on February 242012 the Board of Directors of Epocrates approved the discontinuation
of further development of Epocrates EHR product In connection with this decision Epocrates recorded an impairment charge of

approximately $8.5 million in its fourth quarter of 2011 which represents the write-down of the carrying value of the goodwill
intangible and other long-lived assets related to the EHR product to their estimated fair value of zero This charge is recorded in

Impairment of Long-lived Assets and Goodwill in our consolidated statements of operations for the
year ended December 31 2011

Financial Information About Segments

Segment information for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 is reported in Note 16 Segment Information

Intellectual Property

We rely upon combination of trade secret copyright trademark and patent laws license agreements confidentiality procedures
employee and client non-disclosure agreements to protect the intellectual property used in our business We currently have six issued

patents which expire between 2020 and 2023 and three pending patent applications

We use trademarks trade names and service marks for our drug and clinical reference products and interactive services including
DocAlert Epocrates Epocrates Honors Epocrates ID Epocrates LabTM Epocrates MedTools Epocrates Rx Epocrates Rx
Pro Epocrates Dx Epocrates QuickSurvey Epocrates QuickRecruit Epocrates Medlnsight EssentialPoints and MedCafe
We also use other registered and unregistered trademarks and service marks for our various services In addition to our trademark

registrations and applications we have registered the domain names that either are or may be relevant to conducting our business

including http//www.epocrates.com We also rely on variety of intellectual property rights that we license from third parties

including various software and healthcare content used in our services

Backlog

Our backlog consists of firm purchase orders by customers for delivery as well as deferred revenue recorded on the balance sheet
As of December 31 2011 backlog was approximately $79.0 million compared to approximately $86.0 million as of December 31
2010 majority of our unfilled orders will be recognized as revenue in the 2012 fiscal year Backlog on any particular date while

indicative of short-term revenue performance is not necessarily reliable indicator of medium or long-term revenue performance



Competition

The markets in which we participate arc competitive and dynamic subject to developments in technology and the healthcare industry

Our management team includes experienced healthcare pharmaceutical
and information technology industry executives We benefit

from their operational experience thorough understanding of the marketplace and extensive relationships with pharmaceutical

companies and other existing and potential clients

Drug and clinical reference tools Healthcare professionals use mobile online and print media to reference clinical information All

of these media compete for the attention of healthcare professionals on the basis of providing access to relevant and reliable clinical

information as well as the compatibility on mobile platforms Our mobile and online drug and clinical reference tools primarily

compete with Medscape division of WebMD Health Corp and UpToDate Inc division of Wolters Kiuwer Health

We compete primarily on the ability to reach and communicate with healthcare professionals The Epocrates brand is recognized

and endorsed among healthcare professionals as trusted and accurate source of drug and clinical information Our brand has enabled

us to build large and active network of users which enhances our ability to market our interactive services Our network ofhealthcare

professionals has grown primarily through word-of-mouth marketing the breadth and loyalty of our user network are not easily

replicated Management continuously monitors the strength of our brand through market research

Our proprietary drug content is developed and continually updated by team of physicians and pharmacists who work to ensure

accuracy
and relevance To develop our drug content our team researches and reviews primary literature specialty society

recommendations evidence-based medicine clinical guidelines and manufacturer labeling We believe the quality relevance and

ease of use of our content drive our ability to attract and retain users

Our mobile products are not dependent on continuous access to the Internet and therefore are fast and accessible to our users Our

infrastructure is designed to seamlessly control and deploy robust and customized content to large number of users allowing for

simple and efficient downloads and updates of our clinical information These attributes continue to be significant advantages in

supporting our network

Interactive services Our interactive services business competes with traditional sales and marketing methods including sales

representatives for promotional spend by pharmaceutical companies It also competes with companies marketing pharmaceutical

company products programs and services to healthcare professionals These competitors include Medscape and Physicians

Interactive

Our interactive services enable pharmaceutical companies to achieve returns on their marketing investments increase the reach and

frequency
of interactions with prescribing physicians on new niche and established brands and more effectively support underserved

geographic
markets We compete on the basis of several factors including the breadth and depth of our services our reputation the

relevance and reliability of our content and our extensive physician user network

Epocrates market research Our market research business competes with firms such as Medefield America and All Global Both of

these firms recruit physicians to participate in surveys often by phone fax e-mail or traditional mail It also competes with market

research companies that have assembled their own panels of healthcare professionals Epocrates competes in this space by leveraging

its extensive and loyal physician member network whose users are more likely to be responsive to company and brand they know

and trust Additionally in January 2012 Epocrates announced partnership with M3 Inc to create the worlds largest
verified

physician and healthcarc provider panel By combining their high-quality opted-in physician panels the companies can now offer

global market research sampling solution

Electronic health records During 2011 we competed with companies selling EHR solutions to solo and small group physician

practices including eClinicalWorks and Allscripts We competed in this space through brand recognition and by leveraging our

extensive physician user network and developing solution tailored specifically for use in solo and small group practices We did

not have strong competitive position in the EHR market in 2011 which contributed to our decision to discontinue the development

of our EHR offering in 2011

Research and Development

Our expenditures for research and development were $22.8 $19.7 and $14.7 million for the years
ended December 31 2011 2010

and 2009 respectively of which $1.7 million $4.0 million and zero related to EHR Additionally we capitalized $6.5 million and

$0.7 million of costs related to EHR in 2011 and 2010 In the fourth quarter of 2011 we recorded charge of approximately $6.7

million to write off the carrying value of capitalized software related to the EHR reporting unit down to its estimated fair value of



zero

User Privacy and Trust

We have internal policies and practices relating to among other things content standards and user privacy designed to foster

relationships with our users In addition we are licensee of the TRUSTe Privacy Program TRUSTe is an independent non-profit
organization whose goal is to build users trust and confidence in the Internet We have also provided certification to the U.S
Department of Commerce to qualify for the safe harbor exception to the European Union Data Protection Directive established for

U.S based corporations Our privacy policy informs website users and visitors of the information we collect about them and about
their use of our services We also explain the choices available as to how their personal information is used and how we protect that

information
Additionally we comply with the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard set of requirements designed to

ensure that all companies that process store or transmit credit card information maintain secure environment

Government Regulation

Most of our revenue is derived directly from the healthcare industry and from pharmaceutical companies in particular The healthcare
industry is highly regulated and is subject to changing political regulatory and other influences These factors affect the purchasing
practices and operations of healthcare organizations as well as the behavior and attitudes of our users Recently healthcare reform
has been enacted at the federal level and there have been enforcement initiatives targeting the healthcare industrys promotional
practices as well as proposals to increase the regulation of pharmaceutical companies We expect federal and state legislatures and
agencies to continue to consider programs to reform or revise aspects of the U.S healthcare system and the approval and promotion
of pharmaceuticals These programs may contain proposals to increase governmental involvement in healthcare or otherwise change
the environment in which healthcare industry participants operate Healthcare industry participants may respond by reducing their

spending or postponing decisions including purchasing our products and services

Laws and regulations have also been adopted and may be adopted in the future that address Internetrelated issues including mobile
and online content privacy online marketing unsolicited commercial e-mail taxation pricing and quality of services Many laws
are complex and their application to specific services may not be clear In particular many existing laws and regulations when
enacted do not anticipate the clinical information and interactive services that we provide However these laws and regulations may
nonetheless be applied to our services Refer to Item lA Risk Factors and particularly the risk factors entitled Healthcare and
consumer protection regulations and legislation create risks and challenges with respect to our compliance efforts and our business

strategies and We face potential liability related to the privacy and security of personal information we collect from healthcare

professionals through our products and interactive services for specific information regarding how certain governmental regulations
pertain to us

Long-lived Assets and Revenues

All of our long-lived assets are located within the U.S Our revenue is derived primarily from clients in the healthcare
industry

pharmaceutical companies managed care companies and market research firms within the U.S Revenue from clients outside the

U.S is not material for the
years ended December 31 2011 2010 or 2009 and no single customer accounted for more than 10% of

net revenue for the same periods For the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 interactive services revenue accounted
for $90.8 million $79.3 million and $74.7 million of our revenues respectively and subscription revenues accounted for $22.5
million $24.7 million and $19.0 million of our revenues respectively

The timing of our revenue has been affected by seasonal factors primarily as result of the annual budget approval process of many
of our customers in the pharmaceutical industry As result our contract bookings and revenue have historically been highest in the

fourth quarter of each calendar year and we expect this trend to continue

Employees

As of December 31 2011 we had approximately 360 employees None of our employees is covered by collective bargaining

agreement



Executive Officers of the Registrant

Our current executive officers and their respective ages and positions are

Name Age
Position

Peter Brandt
54 Interim President and Chief Executive Officer

Patrick Spangler
56 Chief Financial Officer

Matthew Kaminer 38 General Counsel and Secretary

David Burlington
48 Chief Operations Officer

Heather Gervais
41 Senior Vice President Commercial Operations

Adam Budish
51 Senior Vice President Sales

Peter Brandt has served on our Board since February 2011 and has served as our Interim President and Chief Executive Officer

since November 16 2011 Since September 2009 Mr Brandt has been serving on the boards of directors for various healthcare

companies From April 2008 to August 2009 Mr Brandt served as President and CEO of Noven Pharmaceuticals Inc specialty

pharmaceutical company where he was responsible for the overall management of the company From May 2007 to April 2008 Mr

Brandt served as consultant for various healthcare companies From January 2006 to May 2007 Mr Brandt served as President

of U.S Pharmaceutical Operations of Pfizer Inc biomedical and pharmaceutical company and as President of Latin American

Pharmaceutical Operations and Senior Vice President of Global Pharmaceuticals overseeing Finance Information Technology

Planning and Business Development departments as well as the Pfizer Health Solutions department from January 2004 to December

2005 Mr Brandt holds B.A from the University of Connecticut and an M.B.A from Columbia University Mr Brandt previously

served on the Board of Directors of oven Pharmaceuticals Inc and currently serves as director of Rexahn Pharmaceuticals Inc

and Auxilium Pharmaceuticals Inc The Nominating Committee believes that Mr Brandts extensive experience in the pharmaceutical

industry and financial matters makes him valuable member of the Board Mr Brandt was identified by recruiter and elected to

the Board to fill vacancy
created by the resignation of member of the Board and prior to his appointment as Interim President

and CEO to serve as member of our Audit Committee

Patrick Spangler has served as our CFO since September 2010 From May 2010 to September 2010 Mr Spangler served as

Operating Partner at Three Fields Capital private equity and venture capital firm where he was responsible for evaluating the

merits of investment opportunities and functioned as operating partner From June 2009 to April 2010 Mr Spangler served as CFO

for High Jump Software Inc supply chain management software company From April 2005 to January 2009 Mr Spangler served

as Senior Vice President and CFO for ev3 Inc medical device company and as its Treasurer from April 2005 to February 2008

where he was responsible for various finance functions including corporate planning tax treasury operations corporate development

risk management and audit From June 1997 to January 2005 Mr Spangler served as Executive Vice President CFO and Assistant

Secretary for Empi Inc company specializing in rehabilitative medical devices From January 2005 to March 2005 Mr Spangler

served as consultant to Empi Inc Mr Spangler holds B.S from the University of Minnesota an M.B.A from the University of

Chicago and an M.B.T from the University of Minnesota Mr Spangler serves on the Board of Directors of Urologix Inc

Matthew Kaminer has served as our General Counsel and Secretary since June 2011 From March 2010 until June 2011 Mr

Kaminer served as General Counsel for MediMedia USA Inc company that provides specialty healthcare communications

publishing and medical education where he was responsible for various legal functions From May 2004 through December 2009

Mr Kaminer served as Assistant General Counsel and Chief Privacy Officer at WebMD Health Corp where he was responsible for

various legal affairs Mr Kaminer earned his Juris Doctor from George Washington University and his Bachelor of Science in

Computer Science from Pennsylvania State University

DavidB Burlington has served as our Chief Operations Officer since October2010 From August 2005 to August2010 Mr Burlington

served as Group Vice President Applications and Technology for Taleo Corporation talent management software company where

he was responsible for various business development and operational functions including administration of strategic relationships

and product development strategy and management From March 2001 to July 2005 Mr Burlington served as Senior Vice President

of Product Development for Comergent Technologies Inc an c-business software company Mr Burlington holds B.S from Santa

Clara University

Heather Gervais has served as our Senior Vice President of Commercial Operations since November 2011 Ms Gervais joined

Epocrates in September 2010 as the Vice President of Client Services Prior to her employment at Epocrates Ms Gervais served as

Vice President Group Director at Digitas Health from March 2010 to August 2010 where she was responsible for healthcare



marketing From July 2008 to March 2010 Ms Gervais ran her own consulting firm Gervais Associates Ms Gervais also held

several management positions at Cadient Group an interactive marketing agency from 2002 through June 2008 including the

position of Vice President of Operations Throughout her career she has held positions in interactive marketing IT consulting and

healthcare finance and has over 15 years of extensive management experience developing and re-engineering business processes

developing and managing multi-disciplinary teams creating strategic business partnerships and optimizing financial results Ms
Gervais holds B.S in Finance and Marketing from LaSalle University and B.S in Computer Information Systems from Florida

Atlantic University

Adam Budish has served as our Senior Vice President of Sales since November 2011 Mr Budish was previously Senior Vice

President of Sales at Medimedia Health division of MediMedia USA Inc where he led non-personal promotion sales to

pharmaceutical companies from April2010 to November2011 Prior tojoining MediMedia Mr Budish was Executive Vice President

for dLife where he led sales of disease management lite programs to health plans and institutions from March 2009 to April 2010

Prior to joining dLife Mr Budish was Head of Sales/Pre-Sales for Cigna Health Solutions where he led sales in Disease Management
EAP Behavioral Health and Lifestyle Management programs to employers from March 2008 to March 2009 Mr Budish also held

various management positions at WebMD Health Services Inc from 2001 through March 2008 including the position of Vice

President of Strategic Accounts where he and his team successfully orchestrated sale implementation and account management for

payer accounts Mr Budish also led the Reuters Health Information business where he developed and managed very profitable

electronic wholesale and retail subscription-based business for distribution of news and information to healthcare professionals

consumers and business people Mr Budish holds an MBA from the Pennsylvania University Wharton School of Business Juris

Doctor from George Washington University and B.A from University of Virginia

Available Information

Epocrates Inc was originally incorporated in California in August 1998 as nCircle Communications Inc In September 1999 we

changed our name to ePocrates Inc and in May 2006 we reincorporated in Delaware as Epocrates Inc

Epocrates files annual reports on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-Q current reports on Form 8-K proxy and information

statements and amendments to reports filed or furnished pursuant to Sections 13a 14 and 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 as amended The public may read and copy these materials at the Securities and Exchange Commission SECs Public

Reference Room at 100 Street NE Washington DC 20549 The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public

Reference Room by calling the SEC at -800-SEC-0330 The SEC also maintains website at http//www.sec.gov that contains

reports proxy and information statements and other information regarding Epocrates and other companies that file materials with

the SEC electronically Copies of Epocrates annual reports on Form 10-K Forms 10-Q and Forms 8-K may be obtained free of

charge on the companys website at http//investor.epocrates.com/financials.cfm by contacting ir@epocrates.com or by calling

650-227-1700 extension

Item IA Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves high degree of risk You should carefully consider the risks described below and the other

information in this report on Form 10-K If any of such risks actually occui our business operating results or financial condition

could be adversely affected In those cases the trading price of our common stock could decline and you may lose all or part ofyour

investment

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

If we are unable to retain our existing users and attract new users especially physician users our revenue will decline and our

business will suffer

necessary condition to our long-term success is our ability to retain our existing users and attract new users especially physician

users in specialties of interest to our healthcare clients to our interactive services and drug and clinical reference tools If we are

unable to do so our revenue could decline materially

Most of our users use only our free drug reference product and may stop using the products at any time without loss Most of the

paid subscriptions to our premium drug and clinical reference products have term of one year and our users have no obligation to

renew their subscriptions when such subscriptions expire Under certain circumstances our users may cancel their subscriptions

prior to expiration

Factors that may affect the retention rate of our existing users and the rate at which we attract new users for our drug and clinical



reference tools include

our ability to provide current relevant and reliable healthcare content drug and clinical reference tools formulary hosting

and other services that meet the needs of healthcare professionals including physicians

our ability to provide reliable applications and to enhance the functionality availability performance and features of our

existing and future services to meet the evolving requirements and expectations of our existing and future users

deterioration of our reputation and brand for any reason including user concerns with our privacy practices or our

relationships with the healthcare industry and

the ability of the developers of mobile operating systems and mobile devices with which our products are compatible to

remain competitive in the marketplace and to be adopted into medical practice and practice workflow

In addition the availability price performance and functionality of competing products and services including mobile Web-based

and traditional products and services offered by competitors or through online resources and searches may affect our retention rate

and the rate at which we attract new users for our drug and clinical reference tools The availability of download sites such as the

Apple App Store
SM

that offer numerous free or low-priced competing products at one location has also reduced the demand for our

paid subscription products We expect the use of such sites to expand reducing the number of paying users for our drug and clinical

reference tools as percentage of total users

In addition to the loss of subscription revenue our inability to attract or retain users especially physician users may cause an even

more significant decline in revenue from our interactive services Revenue from such services is tied directly to our ability to maintain

large user network of healthcare professionals that is attractive to our industry clients

If we have an insufficient number of users especially physician users with desired characteristics for some of our interactive

services or those users do not update their mobile devices with sufficient frequency we may become unable to timely fulfill the

demand for some of our interactive services from healthcare companies

Our ability to meet the demand for delivering clinical messages formularies and other sponsored content to users mobile devices

is dependent upon our having sufficient number of users especially physician users with desired characteristics such as specialty

and prescribing habits updating their mobile devices through our servers with sufficient frequency during the period for delivery of

the service In addition we have established business rules and structured our technology to limit the number of DocAlert messages

and the mix of sponsored and non-sponsored messages delivered during any single update by user in order to promote the quality

of the users experience with the clinical messaging service It is possible that an insufficient number of users will update during

given service period for our interactive services or that demand for promotional clinical messaging sponsorship will exceed the

available supply for all or subset of our users In either of these events our healthcare clients could become dissatisfied with our

service As result we may be unable to grow our interactive services revenue beyond the bounds of our business rules and technology

structure and changes to such business rules or technology structure could cause our users satisfaction with and response to our

interactive services to decrease which could make such changes ineffective in addressing such inability to grow these revenues

If the response of our users especially physician users to our interactive services decreases the value of these services will be

reduced and our revenue will decline

In the past we have obtained positive response
from our users to our interactive services including offers to participate in market

research studies sponsored clinical messaging and other forms of communication If however our users particularly physician

users become less responsive to receiving communications or participating in such services or elect not to use new services that

we may offer the value of these interactive services will likely decline This could cause our revenue to remain flat or to decline

If we are unable to continue to provide current relevant and reliable drug and clinical refrrence tools and services we will be

unable to retain and attract users to our services and our revenue may decline

Use of our clinical information and interactive services is based upon our ability to make available current relevant and reliable

drug and clinical reference tools formulary hosting and other services that meet the needs of our users Our ability do so depends

on our ability to

hire and retain qualified physician and pharmacist editors and authors

license accurate and relevant content from third parties
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contract with health plans and insurers to host formulary information and

monitor and respond to changes in user interest in specific topics

For several of the clinical references included in our Epocrates Essentials and Epocrates Essentials Deluxe products we are

particularly dependent on third-party content providers For example we license Stedmans Medical Dictionary 28 Edition and

information regarding ICD-9 and CPT codes from third parties

We cannot assure you that we will be able to continue to develop or acquire needed content at reasonable cost that there will not

be errors or omissions in our developed or licensed content or that our competitors will not obtain exclusive access to or develop

content that healthcare professionals consider superior to ours If any of these risks materialize for any reason the value of the content

and services that we offer would diminish As result we may be unable to attract and retain users

If we are unable to maintain credibility of our brand our business and financial condition could suffei

The credibility of our brand is dependent in large part on the medical communitys continued perception of us as independent from

our healthcare industry clients particularly pharmaceutical companies If healthcare professionals believe that we are too closely
associated with such clients as result of the revenue we receive from their purchase or sponsorship of our interactive services the

credibility of our brand will diminish Although we take precautions to remain independent from our healthcare industry clients

including separating the development of our application content from our commercial dealings with such clients and clearly labeling
the source and responsibility of sponsored messages programs and activities we cannot assure you that the medical community will

view our content as sufficiently unbiased If the credibility of our brand is damaged it will be difficult expensive and time-consuming

to restore the quality of our brand with healthcare professionals and our business could suffer

We are dependent upon our senior executive management and other highly specializedpersonnel and the loss orfailure to identify

hire motivate and retain additional highly specialized personnel could negatively impact our ability to grow our business

Our success and the execution of our growth strategy depend largely on the continued service of our senior executive management
team We have recently had significant turnover in our senior executive management team In the last year we have had four members
of the senior executive management team leave the company and be replaced by members of our current management team Although
these executives have joined us with significant amount of professional experience our future success could be hindered by their

limited exposure to our business Moreover the loss of key members of our management team could have negative impact on our

ability to manage and grow our business effectively We cannot assure you that in such an event we would be able to replace any
member of our management team in timely manner or at all on acceptable terms In addition our search for chief executive

officer may cause uncertainty regarding the future of our business impact employee hiring and retention increase the volatility in

our stock price and adversely impact our revenue operating results and financial condition

Our future success and the execution of our growth strategy also depend largely on our continuing ability to identify hire develop
motivate and retain highly specialized personnel including software engineers clinician authors and other technical sales and

marketing personnel Our competitors employers in other industries healthcare providers academic institutions and governmental

entities and organizations also often seek persons with similarqualifications We cannot assure you that we will be able to hire or

retain sufficient number of qualified personnel to meet our requirements or that we will be able to do so at salary and benefit costs

that are acceptable to us

If we are unable to adopt new technologies and offer our products and services on new and existing mobile platforms we will be

unable to retain and attract users to our services and our revenue may decline

To keep pace with technological developments satisfy increasingly sophisticated client requirements and sustain market acceptance

we will need to continue to deploy new tools and features for our clinical information and interactive services and develop new
offerings with enhanced performance and functionality at competitive prices Accordingly we will need to properly identify user

needs anticipate technological advances and potentially offer our products and services on new and existing mobile platforms

The development and application of new technologies involve time substantial costs and risks Our inability for technological or

other reasons to enhance develop and introduce services in timely manner or at all in response to changing market conditions

or client requirements could result in our services losing market acceptance and therefore adversely affect our operating results The

new technologies may be significant and expensive and we cannot assure you that we will be able to implement them quickly and

efficiently or at all Failure to do so could inhibit our ability to attract or retain users which may cause our revenue to decline
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Our software applications and systems may contain defrcts or errors which could negatively affect our reputation and impair

our ability to retain and attract users to our applications and clients purchasing our services

While we test our applications and systems for defects and errors prior to release defects or errors have been identified from time

to time by our internal team and by our users and clients after release Any defects or errors that affect the quality or reliability of

our products and services or that cause interruptions to the availability of our services could result in

lost or delayed market acceptance
and sales of our applications and services

loss of users and clients

inability to attract new users and clients

product liability or breach of contract suits against us

diversion of development resources

injury to our brand and reputation and

increased maintenance and warranty costs

While our subscription and interactive services agreements typically contain limitations of liability and disclaimers that purport to

limit our liability for damages related to defects in our software or content such limitations and disclaimers may not be enforced by

court or other tribunal or otherwise effectively protect us from related claims We maintain liability insurance coverage including

coverage for errors and omissions However it is possible that claims could exceed the amount of our applicable insurance coverage

if any or that this coverage may not continue to be available on acceptable terms or in sufficient amounts Even if these claims do

not result in liability to us investigating and defending against them could be expensive and time consuming and could divert

managements attention away from our operations In addition negative publicity caused by these events may delay or hinder market

acceptance of our services including unrelated services

The healthcare information market is highly competitive and we face significant competition for our drug and clinical reference

tools and interactive services

The markets in which we participate are competitive dynamic and subject to developments in technology and the healthcare industry

Currently we compete with other companies for users of the types of drug and clinical reference tools that we offer and for budget

dollars from our pharmaceutical managed care and market research clients

We compete within broad industry of healthcare content providers for the attention of healthcare professionals who can choose to

use mobile online or print media to reference clinical information Companies providing clinical content include Medscape division

of WebMD LLC and UpToDate mc division of Wolters Kiuwer Health Competition from each of these sources of clinical

reference content may lead to reduction in the retention of our existing users and the rate at which we attract new users for our

clinical information

Our primary competition for the promotional spend available from our clients in the area of interactive services is from companies

including WebMD that help pharmaceutical companies market their products programs and services to healthcare professionals

Our market research business competes with numerous companies which recruit physicians to participate in surveys often by phone

fax email or surface mail as well as the recruitment arms of market research companies that have assembled their own survey panels

of healthcare professionals To the extent competing channels are available to access healthcare professionals including physicians

the value of our interactive services to our clients is reduced

Many of our competitors have greater financial technical product development marketing and other resources than we do They

may also be better able to develop and deploy new products and services or to take advantage of new technologies than we are Our

inability for technological or other reasons to enhance develop and introduce services in timely manner or at all in response to

changing market conditions technology or client requirements could result in our services losing market acceptance and therefore

adversely affect our operating results New technologies may be significant and expensive and we cannot assure you that we will

be able to implement them quickly and efficiently or at all We cannot assure you that we will be able to compete successfully against

these organizations or any
alliances they have formed or may form
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Moreover the competitive market in which we participate may require us to reduce the prices of our services or the rates we charge
our clients If our competitors offer discounts on certain applications or services we may be required to reduce prices or offer our
products on terms less favorable to us to compete successfully reduction in the prices of our services would reduce our margins
Some of our competitors may offer bundled products for promotional purposes or as long-term pricing strategy These practices
could over time limit the prices that we can charge for our services If we cannot offset price reductions with corresponding
increase in sales volume our operating results would be adversely affected

We have determined to explore strategic alternatives for our EHR business and we will receive negative return on investment
whether or not we are able to sell iL

We have determined to explore strategic alternatives for the EHR business which could include joint venture partnership sale

of the business or transitioning out of the business We have expended tremendous amount of time effort and expense in developing
this business and we may not be able to enter into joint venture or partnership with respect to this business or sell this business

We are not compatible with all mobile platforms

Our mobile clinical information is not compatible with all mobile platforms While we offer online services the majority of our
users and our interactive services are on mobile devices We depend on the continuing compatibility of our clinical information and
services with mobile operating systems and mobile devices and with evolving industry standards and protocols to run our mobile
clinical information

In addition we are dependent on the ability of the developers of mobile platforms with which our drug and clinical reference tools

are compatible to remain competitive in the medical community and the general marketplace To remain competitive developers of
such mobile platforms may need to timely enhance their products develop new operating systems or devices or take other actions
which are outside of our control If mobile platform that is incompatible with our products achieves widespread use and acceptance
in the medical community or if Internet resources or other non-mobile device resources become more attractive than what is offered
for mobile platforms we may be unable to retain or attract users to our products In particular our mobile products are not compatible
with Symbian-based devices

We may not sustain our revenue growth and we may not be able to manage future growth effectively

We have experienced significant revenue growth in short period of time Our revenue increased 21% to $113.3 million for the year
ended December 31 2011 from $93.7 million for the year ended December 31 2009 You should not rely on our revenue growth
gross margins or operating results for any prior quarter or annual period as an indication of our future operating performance If we
are unable to maintain adequate revenue growth in absolute dollars we may not sustain our recent profitability and our share price
could decline

Our future operating results depend to large extent on our ability to successfully manage our anticipated expansion and growth
To manage our growth successfully among other things we must effectively

add additional sales and marketing personnel in various locations

control expenses

maintain and enhance our information technology support for enterprise resource planning accounting and design
engineering by adapting and expanding our systems and tool capabilities

recruit hire train and manage additional qualified people and

manage operations in multiple locations and time zones

We are increasing our investment in research and development sales and marketing general and administrative and other functions

to grow our business We are likely to recognize the costs associated with these increased investments earlier than some of the

anticipated benefits and the return on these investments ifany may be lower may develop more slowly than we expect or may not
materialize

If we are unable to manage our growth effectively we may not be able to take advantage of market opportunities or develop new
products or enhancements to existing products and we may fail to satisfy client requirements maintain product quality execute our
business plan or respond to competitive pressures which could result in lower revenue and profitability and decline in our share
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price

Our operating results have fluctuated and are likely to continue to fluctuate which might make our quarterly results difficult to

predict and could cause our stock price to decline or exhibit volatility

Our operating results have fluctuated and are likely to continue to fluctuate as result of variety of factors many of which are

outside of our control As result comparing our operating results on period-to-period basis may not be meaningful and you should

not rely on our past results as an indication of future performance Each of the following factors among others could cause our

operating results to fluctuate from quarter to quarter

demand for and market acceptance of our services

factors relating to pharmaceutical company budget cycles and other factors that may affect the timing of promotional

campaigns for specific products or demand for our services by our clients

changes in pharmaceutical company demand as result of delays or changes in product approvals changes in marketing

strategies modifications of client budgets and similarmatters

the length of sales cycles and fulfillment periods of our services to pharmaceutical companies and other segments of the

healthcare industry

expansion of marketing and support operations

the timing of new product introductions and product enhancements by us or our competitors and

the cost of being public company

The majority of our clinical information subscriptions have terms of one year and our contracts with our other healthcare industry

clients for our interactive services typically range
from one to three years We cannot assure you that our current users and other

clients will continue to participate in our existing programs beyond the terms of their existing contracts or that they will enter into

any additional contracts for new programs that we offer

In addition the time between the date of the signing of the contract with client for program the actual fulfillment of the services

under such contract and the revenue recognition associated with such revenues may be lengthy especially for larger contracts with

multiple deliverables and may be subject to delays over which we have little or no control including those that result from the

clients need for internal approvals Other factors that could affect the timing of our interactive services revenue include

variations in the marketing budgets allocated for the types of services we offer

the timing of federal Food and Drug Administration or FDA approval for new pharmaceutical products or for new

approved uses for existing products

regulatory concerns related to the marketing of pharmaceutical products and

factors that may affect the timing of promotional campaigns for specific products

Because we recognize revenue from our drug and clinical reference tool subscriptions and certain of our interactive services

over the term or at the end of the service period significant downturn in our business may not be reflected immediately in our

operating results which may make it more difficult to evaluate our prospects

We recognize revenue from subscription agreements monthly over the terms of these agreements which are typically one year
In

most cases we recognize revenue from our interactive services over the terms of these agreements or upon delivery of each service

element As result significant portion of the revenue we report in each quarter is generated from subscription and service

agreements
entered into during prior periods Consequently decline in new or renewed subscriptions or service agreements

in any

one quarter may not materially affect our financial performance in that quarter but will negatively affect our revenue in future quarters

In addition we may be unable to adjust our costs many of which are fixed in response
to reduced revenue Accordingly the effect

of significant declines in sales and market acceptance of our services may not be reflected in our short-term results of operations

which would make our reported results less indicative of our future prospects
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Developments in the healthcare industry could negatively affect our business

Most of our revenue is derived from the healthcare industry and could be reduced by changes affecting healthcare spending General

reductions in expenditures by healthcare companies could result from among other things

government regulation or private initiatives that affect the manner in which healthcare providers interact with patients

pharmaceutical companies payors or other healthcare industry participants including changes in pricing or means ofdelivery

of healthcare products and services

consolidation of healthcare companies

reductions in governmental funding for healthcare and

adverse changes in business or economic conditions affecting healthcare
payors or providers the pharmaceutical industry

or other healthcare companies

We are particularly dependent upon pharmaceutical companies for our interactive services revenue Our business will be harmed if

business or economic conditions or government regulations result in the reduction of purchases by such clients the non-renewal of

our agreements with such clients or the need to materially revise our offerings

Even if general expenditures by healthcare companies remain the same or increase developments in the healthcarc industry may
result in reduced spending in some or all of the specific segments of the market we serve or arc planning to serve For example

purchase of our services could be affected by

decrease in the number of or the market exclusivity available to new drugs coming to market

decreases in marketing expenditures by pharmaceutical companies as result ofgovernmental regulation or private initiatives

that discourage or prohibit advertising or sponsorship activities by pharmaceutical companies

state or federal legislation requiring the disclosure of or otherwise regulating honorarium payments to physicians for

participation in market research activities and

changes in the design of health insurance plans

In addition our clients expectations regarding pending or potential industry developments may also affect their budgeting processes

and spending plans with respect to services of the types we provide

The healthcare industry has changed significantly in recent years and we expect that significant changes will continue to occur

However the timing and impact of developments in the healthcare industry are difficult to predict We caimot assure you that the

markets for our services will continue to exist at current levels or that we will have adequate technical financial and marketing

resources to react to changes in those markets

We may be subject to claims brought against us as result of the services we provide

Healthcare professionals access information including information regarding particular medical conditions and the use of particular

medications through our drug and clinical reference tools interactive services and our EHR product If our content or content we
obtain from third parties contains inaccuracies or we introduce inaccuracies in the

process of implementing third party content it

is possible that patients physicians consumers the providers of the third party content or others may sue us if they are harmed as

result of such inaccuracies We have editorial procedures in place to provide quality control of the information that we publish or

provide However we cannot assure you that our editorial and other quality control procedures will be sufficient to ensure that there

are no errors or omissions in particular content and we have had content errors in the past Although our agreements for the performance

of our services contain terms and conditions including disclaimers of liability that are intended to reduce or eliminate our liability

the law governing the validity and enforceability of online agreements and other electronic transactions is evolving We could be

subject to claims by users or third parties that our online agreements are unenforceable finding by court that these agreements

are invalid and that we are subject to liability could harm our business and financial condition and require costly changes to our

business

In addition third parties may assert claims against us alleging infringement of copyrights trademark rights or other proprietary

rights or alleging unfair competition or violations of privacy rights We could also be subject to claims for indemnification resulting

from infringement claims made against our clients and third-party service providers for third-party products and content that are

15



incorporated into our clinical information if they are found to infringe the intellectual property rights of others which could increase

our defense costs and potential damages Any of these events could be expensive and time consuming to resolve or defend may

require us to change our business practices and could have negative effect on our business operating results and financial condition

We could be required to spend significant amounts of time and money to defend ourselves against any such claims Although we

may be indemnified against such costs the indemnifying party may be unable to fulfill its obligations If any of these claims were

to prevail we could be forced to pay damages comply with injunctions or stop distributing our products and services while we re

engineer them or seek licenses to necessary technology which might not be available on reasonable terms or at all Even if potential

claims do not result in liability to us investigating and defending against these claims could be expensive and time consuming and

could divert managements attention away from our operations We maintain general liability insurance coverage including coverage

for errors and omissions however this coverage may not be sufficient to cover one or more large claims against us or otherwise

continue to be available on acceptable terms Further the insurer could disclaim coverage as to any future claim In addition our

business is based on establishing the reputation of our services as trustworthy and reliable sources of clinical information Allegations

of impropriety or inaccuracy even if unfounded could therefore harm our reputation and business

Healthcare and consumer protection regulations and legislation create risks and challenges with respect to our compliance efforts

and our business strategies

The healthcare industry is highly regulated and is subject to changing political legislative regulatory and other influences Existing

and new laws and regulations affecting the healthcare industry could create unexpected liabilities for us cause us to incur additional

costs and restrict our operations Many healthcare laws are complex and their application to specific products and services may not

be clear particularly as we develop and release new and more sophisticated products and services In particular many existing

healthcare laws and regulations when enacted did not contemplate the clinical information and interactive services that we provide

However these laws and regulations may nonetheless be applied to our services We are also subject to various federal and state

consumer protection laws Our failure to accurately anticipate the application of these laws and regulations or other failure to comply

with them could create liability for us result in adverse publicity and negatively affect our businesses Some of the risks we face

from healthcare and consumer protection regulations are as follows

Regulation of drug and medical device advertising and promotion We provide services involving promotion of prescription and

over-the-counter drugs and medical devices Any increase in regulation of these areas by the FDA the Federal Trade Commission

or FTC or other governmental bodies at the federal state or local level could make it more difficult for us to contract for certain of

our interactive services Physician groups and others have criticized the FDAs current policies and have called for restrictions on

advertising of prescription drugs and for increased FDA enforcement In response the FDA has conducted hearings and sought public

comment regarding its regulation of information concerning drugs on the Internet and the relationships between pharmaceutical

companies and those disseminating information on drugs We cannot predict what actions the FDA or industry participants may take

in response to these criticisms It is also possible that new laws would be enacted that impose restrictions on such marketing and

advertising Our interactive services revenues could be materially reduced by additional restrictions on the marketing or advertising

of prescription drugs and medical devices whether imposed by law or regulation or by policies adopted by industry members

If the FDA the FTC or another governmental body finds that any information available on our website or distributed by us violates

FDA FTC or other laws or regulations they may take regulatory or judicial action against us or the advertiser or sponsor of that

information State attorneys general may also take similaraction based on their states consumer protection statutes or other new or

existing laws

Anti-kickback laws Healthcare anti-kickback laws prohibit any person or entity from offering paying soliciting or receiving anything

of value directly or indirectly for the referral of patients covered by federal healthcare programs or the leasing purchasing ordering

or arranging for or recommending the lease purchase or order of any item good facility or service covered by these programs

Many states also have similaranti-kickback laws that are not necessarily limited to items or services for which payment is made by

federal healthcare program These laws may restrict how we and some of our clients market products to healthcare providers The

laws in this area are broadly written and it is often difficult to determine precisely how the laws will be applied in specific circumstances

Penalties for violating the federal anti-kickback laws include imprisonment fines and exclusion from participating directly or

indirectly in federal healthcare programs Any determination by state or federal regulatory agency that any of our practices violate

any of these laws could subject us to civil or criminal penalties and require us to change or terminate some portions of our operations

Even an unsuccessful challenge by regulatory authorities of our practices could result in negative publicity and it could be costly for

us to respond

Legislation relating to payments to physicians Recent legislation enacted or pending in several states and enacted at the federal level

as part of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and the Healthcare and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 mandates
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public disclosure of or otherwise regulates or limits the providing of certain gifts and payments by pharmaceutical companies to

physicians These state laws may be interpreted to cover honorarium payments made to physicians for participation in market research

activities sponsored by pharmaceutical companies Because we currently provide market research services involving participants

from our user network the increased adoption and enforcement ofthese laws and the application of any public disclosure requirements

or other limitations may have negative impact on the ability ofpharmaceutical companies to sponsor these activities or the willingness

of physicians to participate in the market research To date we have not experienced significant reduction in our market research

services business as result of these laws in the few jurisdictions in which they have been enacted and become effective However
we cannot predict how pharmaceutical companies or physicians will respond if such legislation becomes more widespread or becomes

effective at the federal level significant decline in the sponsorship of our market research services by pharmaceutical companies

or the agencies that represent such companies or significant decline in physicians willingness to participate in such studies could

negatively impact our operating results

Medical professional regulation The practice ofmost healthcare professions requires licensing under applicable state law In addition

the laws in some states prohibit business entities from practicing medicine We do not believe that we engage in the practice of

medicine and we have attempted to structure our services strategic relationships and other operations to avoid violating these state

licensing and professional practice laws We employ and contract with physicians who provide only medical information to users

some of whom may be consumers and we do not intend to provide medical care or advice Any determination that we are healthcare

provider and acted improperly as healthcare provider may result in liability to us

Anti-spam regulation We may also be required to comply with current or future anti-spam legislation by limiting or modifying some

of our interactive services such as our clinical messaging which may result in reduction in our revenue One such law the

Controlling the Assault of Non-Solicited Pornography and Marketing Act of 2003 or CAN-SPAM became effective in the United

States on January 2004 CAN-SPAM imposes complex and often burdensome requirements in connection with the sending of

commercial e-mail CAN-SPAM or similar laws may impose burdens on our user communication practices and on certain of our

services which in turn could harm our ability to attract new clients and increase revenues

Privacy and other consumer protection regulation The Childrens Online Privacy Protection Act or COPPA applies to operators

of commercial websites and online services directed to U.S children under the
age

of 13 that collect personal information from

children and operators of general audience sites with actual knowledge that they are collecting information from U.S children under

the
age

of 13 Our sites are not directed at children and we employ kick-out procedure whereby anyone identifying themselves as

being under the
age of 13 during the registration process is not allowed to register to obtain our clinical information or participate

in our services COPPA however is relatively new law can be applied broadly and is subject to interpretation by courts and other

governmental authorities The failure to accurately anticipate the application or interpretation of this law could create liability for

us result in adverse publicity and negatively affect our business

The FTC and many state attorneys general are applying federal and state consumer protection laws to require that the online collection

use and dissemination of data and the presentation of website or other electronic content comply with certain standards for notice

choice security and access Courts may also adopt these developing standards number of states including California have enacted

laws or are considering the enactment of laws governing the release of credit card or other personal information received from

consumers In many cases the specific limitations imposed by these standards are subject to interpretation by courts and other

governmental authorities determination by state or federal agency or court that any of our practices do not meet these standards

could result in liability and adversely affect our business New interpretations of these standards could also require us to incur

additional costs and restrict our business operations

In addition several foreign governments have regulations dealing with the collection and use of personal information obtained from

their citizens Those governments may attempt to apply such laws extraterritorially or through treaties or other arrangements with

U.S governmental entities We might unintentionally violate such laws such laws may be modified and new laws may be enacted

in the future which may increase the chance that we violate them unintentionally Any such developments or developments stemming

from enactment or modification of other laws or the failure to accurately anticipate the application or interpretation of these laws

could create liability to us result in adverse publicity and negatively affect our business

We rely on Internet service providers co-location data center providers other third parties and our own systems for key aspects

ofihe process ofproviding and updatingcontentto our users andperformingservicesfor our clients and anyfailure or interruption

in the services provided by these third parties or our own systems could harm our business

Our users expect to be able to update our applications and access our services 24 hours per day seven days per week without

interruption However we have experienced and expect that we will in the future experience interruptions and delays in services

and availability from time to time We rely on internal systems as well as third party vendors including co-location service provider
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and Internet service providers to provide our online services

We have computing and communications hardware operations located at our facilities in San Mateo California and in co-location

service administered by ATT Inc in Redwood City California In the event of catastrophic event at one of these sites we may

experience an extended period of system unavailability which could negatively impact our relationship with users and adversely

affect our brand and our business In particular both of our co-location facilities are located in the same seismically active location

in the San Francisco Bay Area

Any disruption in the network access or co-location services provided by these third party providers or any failure of or by these

third party providers or our own systems to handle current or higher volume of use could significantly harm our business We exercise

little control over these third party vendors which increases our vulnerability to problems with services they provide

Any errors failures interruptions or delays experienced
in connection with these third party technologies and interactive services

or our own systems could negatively impact our relationships with users and clients adversely affect our brand and our business

and potentially expose us to liability to third parties Although we maintain insurance for our business the coverage
under our policies

generally only covers losses due to our negligence and therefore may not be adequate to compensate us for all losses that may occur

In addition we cannot provide assurance that we will continue to be able to obtain adequate insurance coverage at an acceptable

cost

If the systems we use to provide our services experience security breaches or are otherwise perceived to be insecure our business

could suffer

We retain and transmit confidential information in the processing centers and other facilities we use to provide online services It is

critical that such facilities and infrastructure remain secure and be perceived by the marketplace as secure security breach could

damage our reputation or result in liability We may be required to expend significant capital and other resources to protect against

security breaches and hackers or to alleviate problems caused by breaches Despite the implementation of security measures this

infrastructure or other systems that we interface with including the Internet and related systems may be vulnerable to physical

break-ins hackers improper employee or contractor access computer viruses programming errors attacks by third parties or similar

disruptive problems Any compromise of our security whether as result of our own systems or the systems that they interface with

could reduce demand for our services and could subject us to legal claims from our clients and users including claims for breach of

contract or breach of warranty or regulatory enforcement actions against us by the government

We may not be successful in protecting our intellectual property and proprietary rights

Our success depends to significant degree on our proprietary technology and ability to establish maintain and enforce our intellectual

property rights We rely on combination of copyright trademark trade secret patent and other intellectual property laws and

confidentiality procedures to protect our proprietary rights Despite these measures any of our intellectual property rights could

however be challenged invalidated circumvented or misappropriated or such intellectual property rights may not be sufficient to

permit us to take advantage of current market trends or otherwise to provide competitive advantages which could result in redesign

efforts discontinuance of certain product offerings or other competitive harm Further the laws of certain countries do not protect

proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States Therefore in certain jurisdictions we may be unable to protect

our proprietary technology adequately against unauthorized third party copying or use which could adversely affect our competitive

position

Our pending patent and trademark registration applications may not be allowed and our competitors or other third parties may

challenge the validity or scope of our patents or trademark registrations If the patents or trademark registrations we seek do not

issue or if other problems arise with our intellectual property our competitiveness could be significantly impaired and our business

operations and prospects may suffer There can also be no assurance that any of our issued patents or registered trademarks or any

patents and trademarks that may issue in the future will adequately protect our intellectual property or that such patents and trademarks

will not be challenged by our competitors or other third parties or found by judicial authority to be invalid or unenforceable

We enter into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and consultants and with the parties with

whom we have strategic relationships and business alliances and our agreements with subscribers limit their use of the software and

content provided to them These agreements may be breached and we may not have adequate remedies for any such breach Further

no assurance can be given that these agreements
will be effective in preventing the unauthorized access to or use of our clinical

and other proprietary information or the reverse engineering of our technology In any event these agreements do not prevent our

competitors from independently developing technology or authoring clinical information that is substantially equivalent or superior

to our technology or the information we distribute
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Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual
property rights and to protect our trade secrets Litigation could

result in substantial costs and diversion of management resources and can put our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted

narrowly The occurrence of any of these events may seriously harm our business

We may be subject to claims by third parties that we are infringing their intellectual property we may be prevented from selling
certain services and we may incur significant expenses in resolving these claims

Much of our business relies on technology and content developed or licensed by third parties We also expect to seek to license

technology and content from third parties for future products and services We may not be able to obtain or continue to obtain licenses
content and technologies from these third parties on commercially reasonable terms or at all Our inability to retain our current third

party licenses or obtain third party licenses required to develop new products or product enhancements could require that we change
our product and design plans any of which could harm or delay our ability to sell our products and adversely affect our business

We may receive claims of intellectual property infringement from third parties or otherwise become aware of relevant patents or
other intellectual property rights of third parties that may lead to disputes and litigation Any claims made against us regarding patents
or other intellectual property rights could be expensive and time consuming to resolve or defend and could have negative effect

on our business We expect that software application developers will increasingly be subject to infringement claims as the number
of products and competitors grows and the functionality of products in different industry segments overlaps Our competitors or
other third parties may challenge the validity or scope

of our intellectual property rights Third parties may also claim that the

technology that we acquire or license from other third parties infringes their intellectual property rights and we may not be indemnified

for such claims

We may also be required to indemnify our clients and third-party service providers for third-party products and content that are

incorporated into our clinical information if they are found to infringe the intellectual property rights of others Although many of

our third-party service providers are obligated to indemnify us if their products infringe the rights of others such indemnification

may not be effective or adequate to protect us or the indemnifying party may be unable to uphold its contractual obligations

Litigation could be costly for us to defend distract managements attention and resources have negative effect on our operating
results and financial condition or require us to devote additional research and development resources to change our products or to

obtain licenses to any intellectual property we may be found to infringe Claims of intellectual property infringement might require

us to redesign affected products delay affected product offerings enter into costly settlement or license agreements or pay costly

damage awards or face temporary or permanent injunction prohibiting us from marketing selling or distributing the affected

products If we cannot or do not license the infringed technology on reasonable terms or at all or substitute similar technology from
another source our revenue and earnings could be adversely impacted There can be no assurance that any such litigation can be

avoided or successfully concluded

Our use of open source software could adversely affect our ability to sell our products and subject us to possible litigation

significant portion of the products or technologies licensed developed and/or distributed by us incorporate so-called open source
software and we may incorporate open source software into other products in the future Such open source software is generally
licensed by its authors or other third parties under open source licenses Some open source licenses contain requirements that we
disclose source code for modifications we make to the open source software and that we license such modifications to third parties

at no cost In some circumstances distribution of our software in connection with open source software could require that we disclose

and license some or all of our proprietary code in that software as well as distribute our products that use particular open source

software at no cost to the user We monitor our use of open source software in an effort to avoid uses in manner that would require
us to disclose or grant licenses under our proprietary source code however there can be no assurance that such efforts will be

successful Open source license terms are often ambiguous and such use could inadvertently occur There is little legal precedent

governing the interpretation of many of the terms of certain of these licenses and the potential impact of these terms on our business

may result in unanticipated obligations regarding our products and technologies Companies that incorporate open source software

into their products have in the past faced claims seeking enforcement of open source license provisions and claims asserting

ownership of open source software incorporated into their product If an author or other third party that distributes such open source

software were to allege that we had not complied with the conditions of an open source license we could incur significant legal costs

defending ourselves against such allegations In the event such claims were successful we could be subject to significant damages
or be enjoined from the distribution of our products In addition if we combine our proprietary software with open source software

in certain ways under some open source licenses we could be required to release the source code of our proprietary software which

could substantially help our competitors develop products that are similar to or better than ours and otherwise adversely affect our

business
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We face potential liability related to the privacy and security of personal information we collect from healthcare professionals

through our products and interactive services

Online user privacy is major concern in both the United States and abroad The European Union or EU adopted the Data

Protection 1irective or DPD imposing strict regulations
and establishing series of requirements regarding the collection and

use of personally identifiable information online The DPD provides for specific regulations requiring all non-EU countries doing

business with EU member states to provide adequate data privacy protection when receiving personal data from any of the EU

member states Similarly Canadas Personal Information and Protection of Electronic Documents Act provides Canadian residents

with privacy protections in regard to transactions with businesses and organizations in the private sector and sets out ground rules

for how private sector organizations may collect use or disclose personal information in the course of commercial activities We

have privacy policies posted with our services that we believe comply with applicable laws requiring notice to users about our

information collection use and disclosure practices However whether and how existing local and international privacy and consumer

protection laws in various jurisdictions apply to the Internet and other online technologies is still uncertain and may take years to

resolve United States and international privacy laws and regulations if drafted or interpreted broadly could be deemed to apply to

the technology we use and could restrict our information collection methods or decrease the amount and utility of the information

that we would be permitted to collect Any legislation or regulation in the area of privacy of personal information could affect the

way we operate our online services and could harm our business The costs of compliance with and the other burdens imposed by

these and other laws or regulatory actions may prevent us from selling our products or increase the costs associated with selling our

products and may affect our ability to invest in or jointly develop products in the United States and in foreign jurisdictions Further

we cannot assure you that the privacy policies and other statements on our applications or our practices will be found sufficient to

protect us from liability or adverse publicity relating to the privacy and security of personal information In the conduct of our market

research activities outside the United States we rely upon third party to identify and recruit respondents for the market research

and to comply with the applicable privacy laws in each jurisdiction in which it operates If this third party failed to comply with such

laws it could affect its ability to continue to support our business or negatively affect our reputation

The Privacy Standards under HIPAA establish set of basic national privacy standards for the protection of individually identifiable

health information by health plans healthcare clearinghouses healthcare providers and their business associates With our entry into

the EHR market we have become subject to HIPAA and other similar state and federal laws governing the collection dissemination

use access to and confidentiality of patient-identifiable information and will remain so for so long as we remain in the EHR market

Some users of our products and services are located outside of the United States we recruit for market research internationally

and we may in the future establish international operations and as resultface diverse risks related to engaging in international

business

Although the substantial majority of our users are located in the United States we currently have users in numerous other countries

We are or may become subject to the risks of conducting business internationally including

unexpected changes in regulatory requirements taxes trade laws tariffs export quotas custom duties or other trade

restrictions

exposure to broader more diverse set of regulations

more stringent regulations relating to data privacy and the unauthorized use of or access to commercial and personal

information particularly
in Europe and Canada

changes in specific countrys or regions political or economic conditions

unfavorable currency exchange rates

exposure to competitors who are more familiar with local markets

limited or unfavorable intellectual property protection and

restrictions on repatriation of earnings

In addition in the future we may expand geographically through product development and strategic alliances However our products

and services may not be accepted in international markets and any potential international operations involve variety of risks We

have limited experience in marketing selling and supporting our services abroad In addition while Symbian is the most widely

used mobile operating system in Europe our clinical information and interactive services are not compatible with Symbian based

devices If we invest substantial time and resources to expand our international operations and are unable to do so successfully and
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in timely manner our business and operating results will suffer

If we acquire or invest in other companies assets or technologies and we are not able to effectively integrate them with our

business or we do not realize the anticipatedfinancial and strategic goals forany of these transactions ourfinancial performance
may be impaired

If appropriate opportunities present themselves we may consider acquiring or making investments in companies assets or

technologies that we believe to be strategic such as our recent acquisition of Modality Inc We do not have significant experience
in acquisitions and investments in other companies and our acquisition of Modality exposes us and if we acquire or invest in

additional companies assets or technologies we will be further exposed to number of risks including

we may find that the acquired company asset or technology does not further our business strategy that we overpaid for the

company asset or technology or that the economic conditions underlying our acquisition decision have changed

we may have difficulty integrating the assets technologies operations or personnel of an acquired company or retaining
the key personnel of the acquired company

our ongoing business and managements attention may be disrupted or diverted by transition or integration issues and the

complexity of managing geographically or culturally diverse enterprises

we may encounter difficulty entering and competing in new product or geographic markets and we may face increased

competition including price competition or intellectual property litigation and

we may experience significant problems or liabilities associated with product quality technology and legal contingencies

relating to the acquired business or technology such as intellectual property or employment matters

In addition from time to time we may enter into negotiations for acquisitions or investments that are not ultimately consummated
These negotiations could result in significant diversion of management time as well as substantial out-of-pocket costs If we were
to proceed with one or more significant acquisitions or investments in which the consideration included cash we could be required
to use substantial portion of our available cash including the proceeds of this offering To the extent we issue shares of capital

stock or other rights to purchase capital stock including options and warrants existing stockholders might be diluted and earnings

per share amounts might decrease In addition acquisitions and investments may result in the incurrence of debt large one-time

wnte-offs such as of acquired in-process research and development costs and restructuring charges

We intend to expand our operations and increase our expenditures in an effort to grow our business If we are not able to manage
this growth and expansion or our business does not grow as we expecz our operating results may suffer

We significantly expanded our operations in 2010 and 2011 From December 31 2009 to December 31 2011 we increased the

number of our employees by over 30% from approximately 270 to approximately 360 We anticipate that further expansion of our
infrastructure and headcount will be required to achieve planned expansion of our product offerings projected increases in our user

network and anticipated growth in the number of product deployments Our rapid growth has placed and will continue to place

significant strain on our administrative and operational infrastructure Our ability to manage our operations and growth will require
us to continue to refine our operational financial and management controls human resource policies and reporting systems and

procedures Further we intend to grow our business by developing new product and service offerings and pursuing new clients If

we fail to timely or efficiently expand operational and financial systems in connection with such growth or if we fail to implement
or maintain effective internal controls and procedures resulting operating inefficiencies could increase costs and

expenses more than

we planned and might cause us to lose the ability to take advantage of market opportunities enhance existing products develop new
products satisfy client requirements respond to competitive pressures or otherwise execute our business plan Additionally if we
increase our operating expenses in anticipation of the growth of our business and such growth does not meet our expectations our

financial results likely would be negatively impacted

Business interruptions due to natural disasters and other events could adversely affect our business

Our operations can be subject to natural disasters and other events beyond our control such as earthquakes fires power failures

telecommunication losses terrorist attacks and acts of war For example the majority of our operations are based in Northern

California near major earthquake faults that are considered seismically active Such events whether natural or manmade could cause

severe destruction or interruption to our operations and as result our business could suffer serious harm

Although we carry business interruption insurance it only covers some but not all of these potential events and even for those
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events that are covered it may not be sufficient to compensate us fully for losses or damages that may occur as result of such

events including for example loss of market share and diminution of our brand reputation and client loyalty

Risks related to ownership of our common stock

As our common stock has only recently become publicly traded we expect that the price of our common stock may fluctuate

substantially

Our common stock has only been publicly traded since our initial public offering on February 2011 The trading price of our

common stock has fluctuated significantly since then For example between February 2011 and December 31 2011 the closing

trading price of our common stock was very volatile ranging between $7.74 and $26.51 per share The market price for our common

stock will be affected by number of factors including

quarterly
variations in our operating results or the operating results of our competitors

the timing of revenue recognition

the volume and timing of orders from our clients and users

the announcement of new products or service enhancements by us or our competitors

announcements related to litigation

changes in earnings estimates investors perceptions recommendations by securities analysts or our failure to achieve

analysts earnings estimates

the depth and liquidity of the market for our common stock

changing legal or regulatory requirements

developments in our industry or the medical or pharmaceutical industries generally and

general market conditions and other factors unrelated to our operating performance or the operating performance of our

competitors

In addition the stock market has experienced substantial price and volume volatility that is often seemingly unrelated to the operating

performance of particular companies These broad market fluctuations may cause the trading price of our common stock to decline

In the past securities class action litigation has often been brought against company after period of volatility in the market price

of its common stock We may become involved in this type of litigation in the future Any securities litigation claims brought against

us could result in substantial expense and the diversion of our managements attention from our business

Securities analysts may not initiate coverage of our common stock or may issue negative reports and this may have negative

impact on the market price of our common stock

Securities analysts may elect not to provide research coverage of our common stock If securities analysts do not cover our common

stock the lack of research coverage may adversely affect the market price of our common stock In addition the trading market for

our common stock may be affected in part by the research and reports that industry or financial analysts do publish about us or our

business If one or more of the analysts who elect to cover us downgrades our stock our stock price may decline If one or more of

these analysts ceases coverage of us we could lose visibility in the market which in turn could cause our stock price to decline It

may be difficult for companies such as ours with smaller market capitalizations to attract independent financial analysts that will

cover our common stock This could have negative effect on the market price of our stock

Our directors officers and principal stockholders have significant voting power and may take actions that may not be in the best

interests of our other stockholders

As ofianuary 312012 our officers directors and principal stockholders each holding more than 5%of our common stock collectively

controlled approximately 68.0% of our outstanding common stock As result these stockholders if they act together will be able

to control our management and affairs and most matters requiring stockholder approval including the election of directors and

approval of significant corporate transactions This concentration of ownership may have the effect of delaying or preventing

change of control and might adversely affect the market price of our common stock This concentration of ownership may not be in
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the best interests of our other stockholders

Anti-takeoverprovisions in our amended and restated certificate ofincorporation and amended and restated bylaws andDelaware

law contain provisions that could discourage takeover

In addition to the effect that the concentration of ownership by our officers directors and significant stockholders may have our

amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws which became effective upon completion

of our initial public offering on February 2011 contain provisions that may enable our management to resist change of control

These provisions may discourage delay or prevent change in our ownership or change in our management In addition these

provisions could limit the price that investors would be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock Such provisions

to be set forth in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or amended and restated bylaws that became effective upon
the completion of our initial public offering on February 2011 include

our Board of Directors will be authorized without prior stockholder approval to create and issue preferred stock commonly

referred to as blank check preferred stock with rights senior to those of common stock

advance notice will be required of stockholders to nominate candidates to serve on our Board of Directors or to propose

matters that can be acted upon at stockholder meetings

stockholder action by written consent will be prohibited

special meetings of the stockholders will be permitted to be called only by majority of our Board of Directors the chairman

of our Board of Directors or our Chief Executive Officer

stockholders will not be permitted to cumulate their votes for the election of directors

newly created directorships resulting from an increase in the authorized number of directors or vacancies on our Board of

Directors will be filled only by majority vote of the remaining directors even though less than quorum is then in office

our Board of Directors will be expressly authorized to modif alter or repeal our amended and restated bylaws and

stockholders will be permitted to amend our amended and restated bylaws only upon receiving at least two-thirds of the

votes entitled to be cast by holders of all outstanding shares then entitled to vote generally in the election of directors voting

together as single class

We are also subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law which may prohibit certain business

combinations with stockholders owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock These and other provisions in our amended

and restated certificate of incorporation our amended and restated bylaws and Delaware law could make it more difficult for

stockholders or potential acquirors to obtain control of our Board of Directors or initiate actions that are opposed by our then-current

Board of Directors including delaying or impeding merger tender offer or proxy contest involving us Any delay or prevention

of change of control transaction or changes in our Board of Directors could cause the market price of our common stock to decline

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item Properties

We have offices located in San Mateo California Ewing New Jersey and Durham North Carolina Our San Mateo office

consists of approximately 59000 square feet of office space pursuant to lease that is set to expire on December 31 2014 Our

Ewing New Jersey office consists of approximately 20000 square feet of office space pursuant to lease that is set to expire on

March 31 2014 Our Durham North Carolina office consists of approximately 8000 square feet of office space pursuant to

lease that is set to expire on December 31 2014

Item Legal Proceedings

On February 25 2011 we received letter from the SEC informing us that the SEC was conducting an investigation and attaching

subpoena for certain information and documents related to our expert network services including our relationship with Hudson

Street Services Goldman Sachs Co business On January 2012 we received letter from the SEC notifying us that the SEC

has terminated its inquiry regarding Epocrates expert network services and that no enforcement action has been recommended
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Item Mine Saftty Disclosures

Not applicable

PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

As of December 31 2011 there were 105 stockholders of record of our common stock Our common stock has been traded on the

NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol EPOC since February 2011 Prior to this date there was no public market for our

common stock The table below sets forth the high and low closing sales prices for our common stock as reported on the NASDAQ

Global Select Market during the periods indicated

Year Ended December 31 201

1St Quarter

2nd Quarter

High Low

3rd Quarter
19.4

4th Quarter
8.96

We have never declared or paid and do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends on our common stock Any future

determination as to the declaration and payment of dividends if any will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will

depend on then existing conditions including our financial condition operating results contractual restrictions capital requirements

business prospects and other factors our Board of Directors may deem relevant at that point in time

COMPARISON OF 11 MONTH CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among Epocrates Inc the Russell MicroCap Index and the RDG MicroCap Biotechnology Index

$.l invested on 2/2/11 in stock or 1/31/11 in index including reinvestment of dividends

Fiscal year ending December 31

26.51

24.28

19.25

15.92

8.54
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Item Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read together with Risk Factors Managements Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes

appearing elsewhere in this report The selected consolidated financial data in this section is not intended to replace our consolidated
financial statements and the accompanying notes The results of the acquired businesses have been included in our consolidated
financial statements since their respective dates of acquisition Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of our future

results

We derived the consolidated statements of operations data for the fiscal years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 and the

consolidated balance sheets data as of December 31 2011 and 2010 from our audited consolidated financial statements appearing
elsewhere in this report The consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 and the
consolidated balance sheets data as of December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 are derived from our audited consolidated financial

statements which are not included in this report

December 31

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

in thousands except per share information

Total revenues net 113346 103988 93654 83345 65611

Net loss income 3573 3803 7659 7434 25739
Net loss income

per common share basic 0.17 0.01 0.22 0.21 1.18

Net loss income per common share diluted 0.17 0.01 0.20 0.19 1.06

Total assets 152224 127216 125465 116359 135565

Deferred revenue 54517 54896 62308 58439 58250

Financing liability 20314 20314 20314

Other long-term obligations 1893 16929 2642 1577 694

Mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred stock 73342 70502 67662 64822

WRepresents financing liability incurred in connection with the build-out of our San Mateo facility Please refer to Note of
our audited financial statements

Mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred stock includes $29.3 million of cumulative dividends to be paid in cash from
the proceeds of our initial public offering as of December 31 2010

Other Financial Data

Adjusted EBITDA is an unaudited number and represents net income before income and expenses unrelated to core business activities

such as interest income other income expense net and benefit from provision for income taxes non-recurring income and

expenses such as gain on settlement and change in fair value of contingent consideration gain on sale-leaseback of building

impairment of intangible and long-lived assets related to EHR loss on impairment related to EHR business and other expenses

including legal expenses facilities exit costs employee severance charges current period depreciation and amortization expense
related to assets assigned to the EHR business and refund of rent and non-cash charges such as depreciation and amortization

expense including intangible assets related to core business and stock based compensation

Adjusted EBITDA is not measure of operating performance or liquidity calculated in accordance with U.S generally accepted

accounting principles or GAAP and should be viewed as supplement to and not substitute for our results of operations

presented on GAAP basis Adjusted EBITDA does not purport to represent cash flow provided by or used in operating activities

as defined by GAAP Our statements of cash flows present our cash flow activity in accordance with GAAP Furthermore adjusted
EBITDA is not necessarily comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other companies

We believe adjusted EBITDA is used by and is useful to investors and other users of our financial statements in evaluating our

operating performance because it provides them with an additional tool to compare business performance across companies and

across periods We believe that
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EBITDA is widely used by investors to measure companys operating performance without regard to such items as interest

income or expense taxes depreciation and amortization which can vary substantially from company to company depending

upon accounting methods and book value of assets capital structure and the method by which assets were acquired and

investors commonly adjust EBITDA information to eliminate the effect of stock based compensation expenses
and other

charges which can vary widely from company to company and impair comparability

Our management uses adjusted EBITDA

as measure of operating performance to assist in comparing performance from period to period on consistent basis

as measure for planning and forecasting overall expectations
and for evaluating actual results against such expectations

in communications with the Board of Directors stockholders analysts and investors concerning our financial performance

and

as significant performance measurement included in our bonus plan
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The table below sets forth reconciliation of net loss income to adjusted EBITDA in thousands

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

in thousands

unaudited

Net loss income as reported under U.S GAAP 3573 3803 7659 7434 25739
Add Income expenses unrelated to core business activities

Interest income 75 93 127 1180 1714
Other income expense net 183 73 545 233

Benefit from provision for income taxes 2198 5187 6788 6510 21126
Add Non-recurring and non-cash

expenses income

Non-recurring income expense

Gain on settlement and change in fair value of contingent
consideration 8145 1034

Gain on sale-leaseback of building 1689
Impairment of intangible and long-lived assets related to EHR 7281

Loss on impairment related to EHR business 1220

Other expenses 3484 701

Non-cash expenses

Depreciation and amortization expense including intangible

assets related to core business 8065 4395 2889 2645 1906

Stock-based compensation 7342 6356 4534 3620 3187

Adjusted EBITDA 13218 17626 21816 18484 8225

For the year ended December 31 2011 includes gain of $449 from the write-down of the contingent consideration liability
related to an earn-out agreement recognized in the fourth quarter of 2011 for Caretools Inc and $6.4 million gain recognized
in the second quarter of2011 associated with the settlement of the contingent consideration liability with the sellers of MedCafe
Inc company we acquired in 2010

2For the year ended December 31 2011 includes legal expenses of $1033 facilities exit costs of $618 employee severance
charges of $986 current period depreciation and amortization expense of $673 related to assets assigned to the EHR business
and $174 relating to refund of rent For the year ended December 31 2010 includes employee severance charges of $694
and amortization expense of $7 related to intangible assets assigned to the EHR business

Note prior period amounts have been revised to conform to the current period presentation

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with the consolidated

financial statements and the notes thereto included elsewhere in this report The following discussion contains forward-looking

statements that reflect our plans estimates and beliefs Our actual results could differ materially from those discussed in the forward

looking statements Factors that could cause or contribute to these djfferences include those discussed below and elsewhere in this

report particularly in the sections titled Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements and Risk Factors

Business Overview

Epocrates is leading physician platform for essential clinical content practice tools and health industry engagement at the point of

care Our user network consists of well over one million healthcare professionals including approximately 340000 or more than
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50% of U.S physicians Epocrates portfolio features top-rankedmedical apps including the industrys used mobile drug reference

which provides convenient point-of-care access to information such as dosing drug interactions pricing and insurance coverage

for thousands of brand generic and over-the-counter drugs The features available through our unique physician platform are

referenced multiple times per day and help healthcare professionals
make more informed prescribing decisions improve workflow

and enhance patient safety We offer our products on major U.S mobile platforms including Apple Android and Blackberry

Recent Developments

In April 2011 we announced the recent launch of our new mobile drug sampling service Epocrates Mobile Sample Closet This

new service provides pharmaceutical companies with the ability to provide custom sample offers to U.S physicians who are members

of Epocrates network via their mobile devices In addition to drug samples sponsoring companies may provide physicians with

access to patient starter kits vouchers and educational materials

In July 2011 we entered controlled release of the Epocrates EHR mobile and web-based EHR offering with the intent to introduce

the second phase of the product in 2012 Our EHR solution was designed to meet the distinct needs of primary care practices with

10 or fewer physicians and includes an intuitive user interface affordable cost structure and comprehensive support and service

program Our EHR solution is secure web-based Software-as-a-Service or SaaS system featuring core capabilities including

patient encounter notes electronic lab integration ePrescribing and Epocrates market-leading drug content We did not generate

any material revenues from our EHR offering in 2011

In October 2011 we launched redesign of our drug reference tool to create new platform that provides healthcare professionals

with improved faster access to our trusted drug content It now also serves as way to surface rich medical content tailored for the

user Our new platform should raise awareness of our interactive services such as EssentialPoints Contact Manufacturer and Mobile

Sample Closet We have also built an app directory that resides on the Epocrates platform and provides healthcare professionals with

convenient centralized access to portfolio of reference education and clinical apps Our new platform serves as channel for

Epocrates to partner on the development and distribution of apps

On February 2012 we announced that we had satisfied the federal governments meaningful use criteria by earning complete

Electronic Health Record or EHR ambulatory certification for Epocrates EHR v2 The designation officially deems the EHR

software capable of enabling providers to qualify for funding under the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act or ARRA

Also in February we entered release of our iPad EHR application and previewed the application at the 2012 Healthcare Information

and Management Systems Society or HIMSS conference in Las Vegas Designed to support and document patient encounters

with the ease of templates gesture-based
motions and quick navigation the application provided an elegant and intuitive user

experience

Despite achieving the meaningful use certification on February 2012 management determined in early 2012 that the forecasted

revenues from and the projected subscribers for the EHR product had not materialized and that the costs to develop continue to

enhance and support the EHR product had significant adverse effect on our operating margin in 2011 and would likely continue

to have such an adverse effect for the foreseeable future On February 24 2012 the Board of Directors of Epocrates approved the

discontinuation of further development of Epocrates EHR product The Board of Directors made this determination in order to focus

Epocratesefforts on its core business Subscriptions and Interactive Services and due to the future uncertainty and ongoing investment

required for the EHR product Epocrates will explore strategic alternatives for the EHR product In connection with this decision

Epocrates recorded an impairment charge of approximately $8.5 million in its fourth fiscal quarter of 2011 which represents the

write-down of the carrying value of the goodwill intangible and other long-lived assets related to the EHR product to their estimated

fair value of zero This charge is recorded in Impairment of Long-lived Assets and Goodwill in our consolidated statements of

operations for the year
ended December 31 2011

Financial Operations Overview

We generate revenue by providing healthcare companies with interactive services to communicate with our network of users through

the sale of subscriptions to our premium drug and clinical reference tools to healthcare professionals and in 2011 through our

recently released EHR solution For the year ended December 31 2011 we recorded total net revenues of $113.3 million 9%

increase from the year
ended December 31 2010 For the year

ended December 31 2010 we recorded total net revenues of

$104.0 million an 11% increase from the year ended December 31 2009

Our users pay for one year of our premium subscriptions upfront This amount is deferred and recognized ratably over the term of

the subscription Typically interactive services clients are billed portion of the contracted fee upon signing of the contract with the

balance billed upon one or more future milestones The amounts collected are deferred and recognized as services are delivered
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Deferred revenue at December 31 2011 was $54.5 million versus $54.9 million at December 31 2010 Our total backlog was $79.2

million at December 31 2011 compared to $86.4 million at December 31 2010 The decline in backlog in 2011 is attributable to

weaker than expected bookings in the second third and fourth quarters of 2011 While this booking shortfall had little revenue impact

in 2011 it will have considerable impact on 2012 revenue

To date we have not experienced significant price pressure from competitors other than for our market research services Competition

is high among market research firms and price has become major driver in clients decision about which vendor to use We have

attempted to limit reductions in price because we believe our sizable network of healthcare professionals contributes significantly

to superior result for our clients This price pressure has caused revenue from market research services to remain essentially

unchanged since 2008

Currently our customer base is located almost entirely within the United States No single customer accounted for more than 10%

of our net revenue during the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 One customer accounted for 15% and 11% of the net

accounts receivable as of December 31 2011 and 2009 respectively No single customer accounted for more than 10% of the net

accounts receivable as of December 31 2010

We have invested significant development and marketing resources during the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 to develop

and deliver new products Specifically we recorded $12.6 million and $8.0 million in operating expenses related to the EHR product

during the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively This investment of resources has caused operating margins to

decrease significantly in 2011 and 2010 As mentioned above our Board of Directors approved the discontinuation of further

development of our EHR offering and our operating results include an impairment charge of approximately $8.5 million in the fourth

quarter of 2011 representing the write-down of the carrying value of the long-lived assets and goodwill related to the EHR product

to an estimated fair value of zero

Total cash cash equivalents and short-term investments at December 31 2011 were $85.2 million an increase of $30.5 million

compared to December 31 2010 however this was primarily as result of our initial public offering of our common stock in the

first quarter of 2011

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our managements discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial

statements and notes to the consolidated financial statements which were prepared in accordance with GAAR The preparation of

the financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements

and accompanying notes We evaluate our estimates on an ongoing basis including those related to revenue recognition and deferred

revenue stock based compensation impairment of goodwill and intangible assets and the valuation of deferred tax assets We base

our estimates and judgments on our historical experience knowledge of factors affecting our business and our belief as to what could

occur in the future considering available information and assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances

The accounting estimates we use in the preparation of our financial statements will change as new events occur more experience is

acquired additional information is obtained and our operating environment changes Changes in estimates are made when

circumstances warrant Such changes in estimates and refinements in estimation methodologies are reflected in our reported results

of operations and if material the effects of changes in estimates are disclosed in the notes to our consolidated financial statements

By their nature these estimates andjudgments are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty and actual results could differ materially

from the amounts reported based on these estimates

While our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note Summary of Significant Accounting Policies we
believe the following reflect our critical accounting policies and our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation

of our financial statements

Revenue recognition and deft rred revenue

Revenue is recognized only when

there is persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists in the form of written contract amendments to that contract or

purchase orders from third party

delivery has occurred or services have been rendered
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the price is fixed or determinable after evaluating the risk of concession and

collectability is probable and/or reasonably assured based on customer creditworthiness and past history of collection

Determining whether and when some of these criteria have been satisfied often involves judgments that can have significant impact

on the timing and amount of revenue we report For example our assessment of the likelihood of collection is critical element in

determining the timing of revenue recognition If we do not believe that collection is probable and/or reasonably assured revenue

is deferred until cash is received

Subscriptions are recognized as revenue ratably over the term of the subscription as services are delivered Billings for subscriptions

occur in advance of services being performed therefore these amounts are recorded as deferred revenue when billed license code

allows holder to redeem the code for subscription Typically license codes must be redeemed within six months to one year of

issuance When license code is redeemed for mobile subscription revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the subscription

If license code expires before it is redeemed revenue is recognized upon expiration

We often enter into multiple element arrangements that contain various combinations of services from the above described

subscriptions and interactive services Typically interactive services clients are billed portion of the contracted fee upon signing

of the contract with the balance billed upon one or more future milestones Because billings for sponsored content occur in advance

of services being performed these amounts are recorded as deferred revenue when billed Revenue is recognized over the contracted

term as delivery occurs Each element typically has delivery period of one year but the various elements may or may not be

delivered concurrently

In October 2009 the FASB amended the accounting guidance for multiple deliverable revenue arrangements to

provide updated guidance on whether multiple deliverables exist how the deliverables in an arrangement should be separated

and how the consideration should be allocated

require an entity to allocate revenue in an arrangement using best evidence of selling price or BESP if vendor does

not have vendor specific objective evidence or VSOE of fair value or third party evidence TPE of fair value and

eliminate the use of the residual method and require an entity to allocate revenue using the relative selling price method

We adopted this guidance early for all contracts signed or materially modified on or after January 2009 as we believe that the

new guidance will better align revenue recognition with the delivery of services Under the new guidance if we cannot establish

VSOE of fair value we then determine if we can establish TPE of fair value TPE is determined based on competitor prices for

similar deliverables when sold separately Our services differ significantly from those of our peers and our offerings contain

significant level of customization and differentiation such that the comparable pricing of products with similar functionality cannot

generally be obtained Furthermore we are unable to reliably determine what similar competitor products selling prices are on

stand-alone basis Therefore we are typically not able to determine TPE

If both VSOE and TPE do not exist we then use BESP to establish fair value and to allocate total consideration to each element in

the arrangement and consideration related to each element is then recognized as each element is delivered Any discount or premium

inherent in the arrangement is allocated to each element in the arrangement based on the relative fair value of each element

The objective of BESP is to determine the price at which we would transact sale if the product or service were sold on stand alone

basis We determine BESP for product or service by considering multiple factors including an analysis of recent stand-alone sales

of that product market conditions competitive landscape internal costs gross margin objectives and pricing practices As these

factors are mostly subjective the determination of BESP requires significant judgment If we had chosen different values for BESP

our revenue and deferred revenue could have been materially different

We have established hierarchy to determine BESP First we consider recent stand-alone sales of each product If the quantity of

stand-alone sales is not substantive we calculate BESP as percentage discount off of the approved selling price as established by

our pricing committee This discount is calculated as the average discount in recent deals where the product was bundled with other

products If there are not substantive number of deals where the product was bundled with other products we use the approved

selling price as established by our pricing committee until we have sufficient history of transactions to compute BESP using either

the stand-alone or bundled methodology discussed above

We regularly review VSOE TPE and BESP and maintain internal controls over the establishment and updates of these estimates

There was no material effect during the year ended December 31 2011 nor do we currently expect material effect in the near term

from changes in VSOE TPE or BESP

30



Stock based compensation

The following table summarizes stock based compensation charges for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 in
thousands

Stock-based compensation expense

Amortization of deferred stock-based compensation

Stock-based compensation associated with outstanding

repriced options

Total stock-based compensation

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

7805 5962 4760

14

463 394 240
7342 6356 4534

For stock options and restricted stock units or RSUs granted on or after January 2006 stock based compensation is measured
at grant date based on the fair value of the award and is expensed on straight-line basis over the requisite service period For options
granted prior to January 2006 we continue to recognize compensation expense on the remaining unvested awards under the

intrinsic value method unless such grants are materially modified

We considered the fair value of our common stock and the exercise price of the
grant as variables in the Black- Scholes option pricing

model to determine stock based compensation This model requires the input of assumptions on each grant date some of which are

highly subjective including the expected term of the option expected stock price volatility and expected forfeitures

We determined the expected term of our options based upon historical exercises post-vesting cancellations and the contractual term
of the option We concluded that it was not practicable to use our share price as the sole basis for calculating volatility due to the

fact that our securities have been publicly traded for less than one year Therefore we based expected volatility on combination

of Epocrates volatility and the historical volatility of peer group of publicly traded entities for the same expected term of our options
with heavier weighting being given to the peer group We intend to continue to consistently apply this process using the same or
similar entities and more fully weight the Epocrates volatility in the calculation as sufficient amount of historical information

regarding the volatility of our own share price becomes available or unless circumstances change such that the identified entities

are no longer similar to us In this latter case more suitable entities whose share prices are publicly available would be utilized in

the calculation We based the risk-free rate for the expected term of the option on the U.S Treasury Constant Maturity Rate as of
the grant date We determined the forfeiture rate based upon our historical experience with pre-vesting option cancellations If we
had made different assumptions and estimates than those described above the amount of our recognized and to be recognized
stock-based compensation expense net loss and net loss

per share amounts could have been materially different

Certain employees have received grants for which the ultimate number of shares that will be subject to vesting is dependent upon
the achievement of certain financial targets for the year Such determination is not made until the grants vesting determination date
which is the date our audited financial statements are available The grant is initially recorded for that number of shares that is most

likely to be subject to vesting based on available financial forecasts as of the date of grant This amount is adjusted on quarterly
basis as new financial forecasts become available Stock-based compensation expense for these grants is recorded over the requisite

service period generally four years Such options generally vest ratably for 36 months from the vesting determination date

Impairment of Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Significant judgments are required in assessing impairment of goodwill and intangible assets including indentifying reporting units

assigning assets and liabilities to reporting units and determining the fair value of each reporting unit which includes estimating
future cash flows determining appropriate discount and growth rates and other assumptions Changes in these estimates and

assumptions could materially affect the determination of fair value whether an impairment exists and if so the amount of that

impairment Circumstances that could affect the valuation of goodwill and intangible assets include among other things significant

change in our business climate and buying habits of our customers along with increased costs to provide systems and technologies

required to support the technology

Goodwill Goodwill is currently our only indefinite-lived intangible asset Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit

level at least annually on December 31 of each calendar year or more often if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying
value may not be recoverable We have identified two reporting units Subscriptions and Interactive Services and Electronic
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Health Records and we have assigned portion of goodwill to each of our two reporting units Based on our analysis in 2011 we

recorded an impairment charge of$ 1.1 million in the fourth quarter of2O 11 to write down the carrying value of the goodwill associated

with the EHR reporting unit to its estimated fair value of zero We have determined that 10% change in the probability of the

possible strategic alternatives would not change the amount of the impairment As of December 31 2011 we had $18.0 million of

goodwill all of which is assigned to the Subscriptions and Interactive Services reporting unit We have determined that 10% change

in the future undiscounted cash flows as of the date of our most recent goodwill impairment test would not have changed the outcome

of the test for the Subscriptions and Interactive Services reporting unit No goodwill impairment was recorded during the year ended

December 31 2010

Intangible Assets Intangible assets consist of purchased intellectual property acquired in transactions that were accounted for as

business combinations under GAAP and are measured at fair value at the date of acquisition We amortize all intangible assets on

straight line basis over their expected lives We evaluate our intangible assets for impairment by assessing the recoverability of these

assets whenever adverse events or changes in circumstances or business climate indicate that expected undiscounted future cash

flows related to such intangible assets may not be sufficient to support the net book value of such assets An impairment charge is

recognized in the period of identification to the extent that the carrying amount of an asset exceeds the fair value of such asset Based

on our analysis we recorded an impairment charge of $0.5 million in the fourth quarter of 2011 to write down the carrying value of

the intangible assets associated with the EHR reporting unit to their estimated fair value of zero As of December 31 2011 we had

$6.8 million of intangible assets net No impairment was recorded in fiscal year
2010

Valuation of deferred tax assets

valuation allowance of approximately $0.7 million has been recorded at December 31 2011 to offset specific state deferred tax

assets as we believe that it is not more likely than not that such deferred tax assets will be realized

At December 31 2011 we had federal and state tax net operating loss carryforwards before the valuation allowance and before the

excess tax benefit of $2.4 million and $16.0 million respectively The federal and state net operating losses will begin to expire in

2019 and 2014 respectively At December 31 2011 we had federal and state research tax credit carryforwards of $0.9 million and

$1.3 million respectively The federal research credit carryforward begins to expire in 2028 The state research credit carryforwards

do not expire At December 31 2011 we had federal alternative minimum tax or AMT credit carryforwards
of $0.7 million The

federal AMT credits carryforwards do not expire The future utilization of our net operating loss and research and development credit

carryforwards to offset future taxable income may be subject to an annual limitation as result of ownership changes

Based on our forecasts we believe that we will more likely than not be able to utilize our U.S federal net operating losses and

research and development credits as such no valuation allowance is necessary
With regard to our state net operating losses we

have established valuation allowance on specific state net operating losses for which we believe that we will not more likely than

not be able to utilize During the year we evaluated our California research and development credits carried forward Based on our

projected California income we believe that we will not more likely that not be able to utilize our existing research and development

credits and as such valuation allowance has been recorded against the California research and development credits
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our statements of operations data based on the amounts and percentage relationship of the items listed

to net revenue for each period presented dollars in thousands

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Revenue

Total revenues net

Total cost of revenues

Gross profit

Operating expenses

Sales and marketing

Research and development

General and administrative

Facilities exit costs

Gain on settlement and change in

fair value of contingent

consideration

Impairment of long-lived assets

and goodwill

Total operating expenses

Loss income from operations

Interest income

Interest expense

Other income expense net

Gain on sale-leaseback of building

Loss income before income taxes

Benefit from provision for income

taxes

100.0 93654

30.5

69.5

75 0.1% 93 0.1%

183 0.2%

214

1689

5771 5.l% 8990

1.9

15248

14447

100.0

31.4

68.6

Net loss income

Revenues

3573 3.2% 3803 3.7 7659 8.2

We generate revenue by providing healthcare companies with interactive services to communicate with our netvork of users through

the sale of subscriptions to our premium drug and clinical reference tools to healthcare professionals and in July2011 we also began

recognizing revenue for our EHR solution Revenues from our Subscriptions and Interactive Services were as follows

103988

31730

72258

113346

41711

71635

31193

22797

22700

100.0

36.8

63.2

27.5

20.1

20.0

29452

64202

22704

14663

11587

618 0.5

7.2%8145

8501

77664

6029

7.5%

68.5 64836

5.3% 7422

30424 29.3 24.2

19717 19.0 15.7

15729 15.1 12.4

1034 1.0%

62.3 48954 52.3

7.1 16.3

127 0.1

0.2% 855 0.9%

73 0.1%

1.6%

8.6 15.4

5187 5.0% 6788 7.2%2198
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Years ended December 31

Subscriptions

Interactive Services

Cost of revenues

Subscriptions

Interactive Services

2011 2010 2009

22520 24683 19001

90826 79305 74653

113346 103988 93654

Subscriptions Subscriptions revenue decreased $2.2 million for the year ended December 31 2011 primarily due to substantial

decline in the number of license code expirations Subscriptions revenue increased $5.7 million for the year
ended December 31

2010 of which $4.8 million was due to large number of license code expirations during the year and the remainder was due to an

increase in paid subscriptions from iPhone users List prices for our subscription products did not change during 2011 or 2010

The majority of healthcare professionals
in our network use our free products users who paid for subscription averaged

approximately 10% oftotal active users for the
years

ended December 3120112010 and 2009 We expect revenues from subscriptions

to our premium products to decrease as percentage of total revenue in the future as we expand our interactive services offerings

to our pharmaceutical clients

Interactive Services Revenues from our Interactive Services business increased $11.5 million in 2011 compared to 2010 due to

$7.1 million increase in DocAlert clinical messaging services and $6.2 million increase in revenue from virtual representative

services which were partially offset by $2.9 million decrease in revenue from formulary hosting services In 2010 Interactive

Services revenue increased $4.7 million from 2009 due to $2.2 million of new virtual representative services which were launched

in the first quarter of2O 10 with the remainder due to growth revenue from mobile resource centers and clinical messaging Historically

our interactive services revenues and particularly our clinical messaging revenues have grown at much faster rate than subscriptions

and we expect this trend to continue

Maintaining our large user network of U.S physicians is important because it is key driver of long-term interactive services revenue

growth The number of U.S physician users as of December 312011 increased to approximately 340000 or 8% from approximately

314000 as of December 31 2010 The number of U.S physician users as of December 31 2010 increased approximately 14% from

approximately 275000 as of December31 2009 This high growth rate was due to rapid iPhone adoption by our user network and

to lesser extent Android adoption We expect our user network to continue to increase but at lower rate

Cost ofrevenues consists of the costs related to providing services to customers which include salaries and related personnel expenses

stock based compensation service support costs payments to participants for market research surveys we conduct third-party

royalties and allocated overhead Third-party royalties consist of fees paid to branded content owners for the use of their intellectual

property in our premium drug and reference products Allocated overhead represents expenses
such as rent occupancy charges and

information technology costs that we allocate to all departments based on headcount Depreciation and amortization expense
is also

allocated to cost of revenues

The following is breakdown of cost of revenue related to subscriptions and interactive services for the years
ended December 31

2011 2010 and 2009 in thousands

Years ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

8360 6516 6558

33351 25214 22894

41711 31730 29452

Cost of subscriptions revenue Cost of subscriptions revenue increased $1.8 million in the year ended December 31 2011 primarily

due to increases of $1.0 million in third-party royalties related to our subscriptions revenue $0.6 million in the amortization of

capitalized software and $0.3 million in consulting For the year ended December 31 2010 the change in cost of subscriptions

revenue from December 31 2009 was not significant
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Cost of subscriptions revenue as percentage of subscriptions revenue was 37% 26% and 35% in 20112010 and 2009 respectively

We expect that the cost of subscriptions revenue will continue to increase in absolute dollars

Cost of interactive services revenue Cost of interactive services revenue increased $8.1 million in the year ended December 31
2011 due to increases of $4.2 million in amortization of intangible assets and capitalized software primarily due to full year of

amortization of intangible assets acquired as result of the MedCafe Inc and Modality Inc acquisitions in 2010 and amortization

of certain intangible assets which began upon entering controlled release of the Companys EHR solution and $3.0 million in

consulting and employee compensation due to increases in outsourced services and in regular and temporary employee headcount

Cost of interactive services revenue increased $2.3 million in 2010 compared to 2009 primarily due to $1.3 million in amortization

of intangible assets and $0.5 million in outside consulting services

Cost of interactive services revenue as percentage of interactive services revenue was 37% 32% and 31% in 2011 2010 and 2009

respectively We expect that the cost of interactive services revenue will continue to increase in absolute dollars

Sales and marketing expense

Sales and marketing expense consists primarily of salaries and related personnel expenses sales commissions stock -based

compensation trade show expenses promotional expenses public relations
expenses and allocated overhead

Sales and marketing expense increased $0.8 million or 3% in 2011 compared to 2010 primarily due to an increase of $1.3 million

in salary and other personnel costs to support the entrance of controlled release of our EHR offering offset by decrease of $0.5

million in consulting costs Sales and marketing expense increased $7.7 million or 34% in 2010 compared to 2009 primarily due

to increased salary and other personnel costs related to additional headcount to support corporate marketing efforts of $4.1 million

increased salary consulting and other costs to support the entrance of controlled release of our EHR product of $3.1 million and

increased stock based compensation of $0.5 million

Sales and marketing expense as percentage of total revenues net for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 was 28%
29% and 24% respectively We expect sales and marketing expense to continue to increase in absolute dollars

Research and development expense

Research and development expense consists primarily of salaries and related personnel expenses stockbased compensation

allocated overhead consultant fees and expenses related to the design development testing and enhancements of our services

Research and development expense increased $3.1 million or 16% in 2011 compared to 2010 primarily due to $4.3 million increase

in salaries and related personnel expenses due to 23% increase in research and development This increase was partially offset by

$0.8 million decrease in stock option expense due to lower stock price in 2011 In 2010 research and development expense

increased $5.1 million or 35% compared to 2009 This increase was primarily due to increased salary consulting and other costs

to support the development of our EHR product of $4.0 million and an increase in stock--based compensation of $0.6 million

Research and development expense related to EHR was $1.7 million $4.0 million and zero for the years ended December 31 2011

2010 and 2009 Additionally we capitalized $6.5 million and $0.7 million of costs related to EHR in 2011 and 2010

Research and development expense as percentage of total revenues net for 2011 2010 and 2009 was 20% 19% and 16%
respectively We expect research and development expense to increase in absolute dollars as we continue to develop new services

General and administrative expense

General and administrative expense consists primarily of salaries and related personnel expenses stock based compensation

consulting audit fees legal fees allocated overhead and other general corporate expenses

General and administrative expense increased $7.0 million or 44% in 2011 compared to 2010 primarily due to increases of $2.2

million in stock-based compensation expense due to the modification of certain options $1.9 million in employee salary and other

personnel costs $1.8 million in professional services due to increased legal fees related to the SEC investigation discussed under

Item of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and $0.4 million in recruiting costs General and administrative expense increased

$4.1 million or 36% in 2010 compared to 2009 This increase was primarily due to increased salary and other personnel expenses

of $1.9 million an increase in stock--based compensation of $0.6 million and increased recruiting costs of $0.6 million General and

administrative expense as percentage of total net revenue in 2011 2010 and 2009 was 20% 15% and 12% respectively
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Facilities exit costs

In the first quarter of 2011 we vacated our East Windsor New Jersey office and relocated to Ewing New Jersey The non-cancellable

lease we had entered into for our East Windsor office holds us liable for monthly lease payments until the expiration of the lease at

the end of 2012 The liability recorded at fair value is based on the present value of the remaining lease rentals and is reduced for

the estimated sublease rentals that could be reasonably obtained for the property In 2011 we recorded charge of approximately

$0.6 million in 2011 relating to facilities exit costs

Gain on settlement and change in fair value of contingent consideration

We acquired certain intangible assets of Caretools Inc in June 2009 and of MedCafe Inc in February 2010 These acquisitions

were accounted for as business combinations under GAAP

Caretools Inc In connection with the acquisition of Caretools Inc on June 23 2009 we recorded contingent consideration of $1.3

million on the acquisition date This contingent consideration was based on an estimate of revenues to be generated from sales of

products developed incorporating Caretools technology In 2010 we recorded contingent consideration expense of $0.9 million

related to revaluing the contingent consideration liability for Caretools to its fair value as of December 31 2010 The change in the

fair value of the contingent consideration was due to changes in discount periods as well as new estimates of revenue expected to

be generated using Caretools technology At December 31 2010 the fair value of this contingent consideration was $2.2 million

As result of our decision to pursue strategic alternatives for the EHR business we recorded an impairment charge to write down

the carrying value of the contingent consideration liability associated with the EHR business to an estimated fair value of zero during

the fourth quarter of 2011 The change in the fair value of the contingent consideration was due primarily to revised estimates of

revenues to be derived from the acquired technologies of Caretools Inc As of December 31 2011 the fair value of the contingent

consideration liability was zero due to the discontinuation of the EHR business

MedCafe Inc In connection with the acquisition of MedCafe on February 2010 we recorded contingent consideration of $14.8

million on the acquisition date This contingent consideration was based on an estimate of revenues to be generated from sales of

products developed incorporating MedCafe technology In 2010 we recorded reduction to contingent consideration expense of

$1.9 million to revalue the contingent consideration liability for MedCafe to its fair value as of December 31 2010 The change in

the fair value of the contingent consideration was due to changes in discount periods as well as new estimates of revenue expected

to be generated using MedCafe technology We did not make any contingent payments to the sellers in 2010 As of December 31

2010 the fair value of this contingent consideration was $12.8 million

In 2011 we recorded decrease in the contingent consideration liability resulting in gain of approximately $5.9 million for the

year
ended December 31 2011 The change in the fair value of the contingent consideration was due primarily to an agreement with

the sellers in the second quarter of 2011 to settle the liability for $6.4 million As of December 31 2011 the fair value of this

contingent consideration liability was zero

Impairment ofLong-livedAssels and Goodwill

During July 2011 we began to compete in the EHR market by entering controlled release of the Epocrates EHR mobile and web-

based El-IR offering with the intent to offer full product in 2012 For the year
ended December 31 2011 we had not generated

significant revenues and had not met our forecasts for subscribers or revenues from our EHR product On February 24 2012 the

Board of Directors of Epocrates approved the discontinuation of further development of Epocrates EHR product In connection with

this decision Epocrates recorded an impairment charge of approximately $8.5 million in its fourth quarter of 2011 which represents

the write-down of the carrying value of the goodwill intangible and other long-lived assets related to the EHR product to their

estimated fair value of zero
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Segment Earnings from Operations

Subscriptions and Electronic

Year ended December 31 2011 Interactive Services Health Records Total

Net revenue 113321 25 113346

Segment income loss from operations 38229 14084 24145

Unallocated items

Stock-based compensation 7342
Other unallocated corporate costs 22832

Loss from operations 6029
Interest income

75

Other income 183

Loss before income taxes 5771

Subscriptions and Electronic

Year ended December 31 2010 Interactive Services Health Records Total

Net revenue 103988 103988

Segment income loss from operations 42413 8021 34392

Unallocated items

Stock-based compensation 6356
Other unallocated corporate costs 20614

Income from operations 7422

Interest income 93

Interest expense 214
Gain on sale-leaseback of building 1689

Income before income taxes 8990

The segment income loss from operations figures reported above represent income loss from operations before stockbased

compensation general and administrative expenses and certain marketing and research and development expenses

We were organized as one operating segment in 2009 and therefore no separate segment information is presented for the year ended

December 31 2009

Interest income

Interest income in 2011 was relatively consistent with interest income in 2010 and 2009 The continued decline in prevailing interest

rates during 2011 and 2010 resulted in slight decrease in interest income during 2011 and 2010

Interest expense

We incurred no interest expense in 2011 compared to $0.2 million and $0.9 million in 2010 and 2009 respectively Interest expense
in 2010 and 2009 relates to rent payments on our San Mateo facility which was capitalized Interest expense decreased during the

year ended December 31 2010 due to sale-leaseback of our San Mateo facility

Other income expense net

We had approximately $0.2 million of other income in 2011 due to refund of property taxes from the landlord of our San Mateo

facility We did not have other income expense net in 2010 and other income expense net was not significant in 2009

37



Gain on sale-leaseback of building

In 2010 we completed the sale-leaseback of our corporate headquarters which resulted in gain of $1.7 million Previously we

capitalized the fair value of the unfinished portion of the building of $17.6 million with corresponding credit to financing liability

In 2010 under the terms of the modified lease we began accounting for the building lease as an operating lease In connection with

the sale-leaseback of the building we wrote off the remaining asset value of the building related accumulated depreciation and the

financing liability

Benefit from provision for income taxes

Our projected long-term combined federal and state tax rate is approximately 36% We received an income tax benefit of approximately

$2.2 million in 2011 compared to provision for income taxes of approximately $5.2 million in 2010 Our effective tax rate for 2011

was 38% compared to 58% for 2010

During the year ended December 31 2010 we had provision for income taxes of approximately $5.2 million which resulted in

an effective tax rate of 57% The effective rate for 2010 was higher than our statutory tax rate due to the need to provide for income

tax on $3.1 million of stock-based compensation related to incentive stock options or ISOs GAAP does not allow us to record

benefit on ISOs unless and until there is disqualifying disposition of the stock This increased our effective tax rate by approximately

12% In addition California amended its tax law effective 2011 to allow companies to elect to use sales as the sole factor in determining

California apportionment We elected this method and therefore the amount of income subject to tax in California was reduced As

result our deferred tax assets in California were written down which increased our effective tax rate by approximately 8%

During the year
ended December 31 2011 we received an income tax benefit of $2.2 million which resulted in an effective tax rate

of 38% The effective tax rate for 2011 was higher than our statutory tax rate due to an increase in the generation of federal and

California research and development credits of $0.5 million and $0.3 million respectively This increased our effective tax rate by

approximately 14% The income tax benefit was partially offset by tax expense of approximately $0.5 million related to the

establishment of valuation allowance against our California research and development credits This decreased our effective income

tax rate by approximately 9%

We incurred provision for income taxes of $5.2 million in 2010 compared to provision for income taxes of $6.8 million in 2009

Our effective tax rate for 2010 was 58% compared to 47% for 2009 This rate is driven primarily by pre-tax book income which was

lower in 2010 compared to 2009 coupled with the fact that we must still provide for income tax on approximately $3.1 million of

stockbased compensation related to incentive stock options or ISOs GAAP does not allow us to record benefit on incentive stock

options unless and until there is disqualifying disposition of the stock This increased our effective tax rate by approximately 12%

In addition California amended its tax law effective 2011 lowering the amount of income that is subject to tax in California for

certain California corporations As result our deferred tax assets in California had to be written down which drove up the overall

effective rate This increased our effective tax rate by approximately 8%
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Quarterly Results of Operations

The following table sets forth selected unaudited quarterly statements of operations data for the eight quarters ending March 31
2010 through December 31 2011 The information for each of these quarters has been prepared on the same basis as our audited

financial statements and in the opinion of management includes all adjustments necessary for fair statement of the results of

operations for such periods This data should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and related notes

Three Months Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

2011 2011 2011 2011

in thousands except per share information

Total revenues net 29177 27860 26602 29707

Gross profit 19787 18092 15741 18015

Gain on settlement and change in fair value of contingent

consideration 301 6375 1622 449
Impairment of long-lived assets and goodwill 8501

Gain on sale-leaseback of building

Net loss income 1125 3393 686 6527
Net loss income per common share basic 0.08 0.14 0.03 0.27

Net loss income per common share diluted 0.08 0.13 0.03 0.27

Three Months Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

2010 2010 2010 2010

in thousands except per share information

Total revenues net 24336 25277 24090 30285

Gross profit 17084 17541 15748 21885

Gain on settlement and change in fair value of contingent
consideration 1214 569 240 1919
Impairment of long-lived assets and goodwill

Gain on sale-leaseback of building 1689

Net loss income 26 762 336 2679

Net loss income per common share basic 0.12 0.02 0.07 0.10

Net loss income per common share diluted 0.12 0.02 0.07 0.09

For the three months ended June 30 2011 includes $6.4 million gain relating to the settlement of the contingent consideration

liability with the sellers of MedCafe Inc company that Epocrates acquired in 2010 For the three months ended December

31 2011 includes gain of $0.4 million from the write-down of the contingent consideration liability related to an earn-out

agreement recognized in the fourth quarter of 2011 for Caretools

Net loss income per share for the four quarters of each fiscal year may not sum to the total for the fiscal year because of the

different number of shares outstanding during each period

Our revenue is generally highest in the fourth quarter of each calendar year primarily as result of the annual budget approval

processes of many of our customers in the pharmaceutical industry and we expect this trend to continue We may also experience

fluctuations in our quarterly results due to factors including but not limited to the timing of revenue recognition our ability to

retain and attract new customers and the general economic and regulatory environment in the U.S Due to these factors we believe

that quarter-to-quarter comparisons of operating results are not meaningful and should not be relied upon as an indication of future

performance

39



Liquidity and Capital Resources

We expect cash generated by operations to be our primary source of liquidity and that we will continue to generate positive cash

flows from operations in 2012 We believe that existing cash cash equivalents and short-term investments together with any cash

generated from operations will be sufficient to meet our normal operating requirements including any capital expenditures and

possible strategic acquisitions for at least the next 12 months

Operating activities

In 2011 we generated net loss of $3.6 million primarily due to the $8.5 million impairment charge related to our EHR business

which was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2011 Cash provided by operating activities of approximately $8.8 million in 2011 was

almost entirely due to depreciation and amortization expense of $8.7 million which was offset by changes in operating accounts

Cash provided by operating activities was approximately $9.1 million in 2010 which was primarily attributable to net income of

$3.8 million plus stock-based compensation of $6.3 million and depreciation and amortization of $4.4 million and decrease in

deferred tax assets of $4.5 million partially offset by decrease in deferred revenue of $7.5 million

Cash provided by operating activities was $17.0 million in 2009 which was primarily attributable to net income of $7.7 million plus

employee stock-based compensation expense of $4.5 million and depreciation and amortization of $2.9 million

Investing activities

The primary objectives of our investment activities are to preserve principal and maintain liquidity while at the same time maximizing

yields without significantly increasing risk Our policy is to invest only in fixed income instruments denominated and payable in

U.S dollars Our investment policy allows investment in obligations of the U.S government and its agencies money market

instruments commercial paper certificates of deposit bankers acceptances corporate bonds of U.S companies municipal securities

and asset-backed securities We do not invest in auction rate securities futures contracts or hedging instruments Securities of

single issuer valued at cost at the time ofpurchase should not exceed 5% of the market value of the portfolio or $1.0 million whichever

is greater but securities issued by the U.S Treasury and U.S government agencies are specifically exempted from these restrictions

Issue size should normally be greater than $50 million for corporate bonds No single position in any issue should equal more than

10% of that issue The final maturity of each security within the portfolio should not exceed 24 months

The following table summarizes our investments in cash cash equivalents and short-term investments as of December 31 2011

2010 and 2009 in thousands

As of December 31

2011 2010 2009

Cash 65016 10676 12140

Cash equivalents
10310 25311 48755

Short-term investments 9897 18697 4424

Total cash cash equivalents and short-term investments 85223 54684 65319

Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities

Our primary use of cash from investing activities is for capital expenditures which was $10.1 million $4.7 million and $2.6 million

in 2011 2010 and 2009 and for business acquisitions which was $14.7 million in 2010 Other cash provided by used in investing

activities was due to purchases sales and maturities of short-term investments

Financing activities

Cash provided by financing activities of $31.5 million in 2011 was due to proceeds of $64.2 million from the issuance of common

stock in the initial public offering and proceeds of $3.5 million from the exercise of employee stock options partially offset by the

payment of accrued dividends on Series mandatonly redeemable convertible preferred stock of $29.6 million and the settlement

and payment of contingent consideration of $6.9 million In February 2011 we issued 4.4 million shares at price of $16.00 per
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share in an initial public offering net of underwriting discounts commissions and other costs totaling $7.9 million of which $2.0
million had been capitalized in 2010

Cash used in financing activities of$0 million in 2010 was due to repurchases ofour stock from certain employees former employees
and former directors totaling $3.5 million partially offset by proceeds from the exercise of employee stock options of $2.7 million

During 2010 certain individuals including former employees and former directors entered into binding agreements to sell common
stock held by them to three accredited investors During 2010 we exercised our right of first refusal for 0.4 million shares of common
stock at contracted prices ranging from $6.42 to $11.43 for an aggregate purchase price of $3.5 million

Cash used in financing activities in 2009 was $6.9 million and was due to repurchases of our stock from employees and former

employees totaling $7.9 million partially offset by proceeds from the exercise of employee stock options of $0.9 million On June

2009 we repurchased 0.5 million shares of common stock from existing employees for an aggregate $5.8 million pursuant to tender
offer Also during the fourth quarter of 2009 certain former employees entered into binding agreements to sell common stock held

by them to one of various accredited investors In certain instances we elected to exercise our right of first refusal by purchasing
the shares from these individuals at contracted prices ranging from $8.27 to $9.54 per share We exercised our right of first refusal

to repurchase 0.2 million shares of common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $2.1 million

We believe that our available cash resources and anticipated future cash flow from operations will provide sufficient cash resources
to meet our contractual obligations and our anticipated working capital and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next
12 months However prior to such time we may seek to sell additional equity or debt securities or obtain credit facility The sale

of additional equity or convertible securities may result in additional dilution to our stockholders If we raise additional funds through
the issuance of debt securities these securities could have rights senior to those of our common stock and could contain covenants
that could restrict our operations Any required additional capital may not be available on reasonable terms if at all

Our future liquidity and capital requirements will depend upon numerous factors including retention of customers at current volume
and revenue levels our existing and new application and service offerings competing technological and market developments and
potential future acquisitions In addition our ability to generate cash flow is subject to numerous factors beyond our control including
general economic regulatory and other matters affecting our customers and us

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31 2011 and the years in which these obligations are
due in thousands

Less than More than
Total Year Years Years Years

Operating leases 7364 2861 4503
Minimum royalty and contract license fees 8530 4571 3959

Engineering and content development 1200 600 600

Uncertain tax positions 1126 1126

Total 18220 8032 9062 1126

Relates to our facilities in California New Jersey and North Carolina

Relates to medical information licensed from third parties for use in our subscription services

Relates to contract with consulting firm to provide product development and content development work

Represents uncertain tax positions for which we could not make reasonable estimate of the amount or the exact period of

related future payments

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships such as entities often referred to as structured

41



finance or special purpose
entities We do not have any outstanding derivative financial instruments off-balance sheet guarantees

interest rate swap transactions or foreign currency forward contracts

Indemnification

We enter into standard indemnification agreements
in the ordinary course of business Pursuant to the agreements each party may

indemnify defend and hold the other party harmless with respect to such claim suit or proceeding brought against it by third party

alleging that the indemnifying partys intellectual property infringes upon the intellectual property
of the third party or results from

breach of the indemnifying partys representations and warranties or covenants or that results from any acts of negligence or willful

misconduct The term of these indemnification agreements
is generally perpetual any time after execution of the agreement The

maximum potential amount of future payments we could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is unlimited

Historically we have not been obligated to make significant payments for these obligations and no liabilities have been recorded for

these obligations on the balance sheet as of December 31 2011 or 2010

We also indemnify our officers and directors for certain events or occurrences subject to certain limits while the officer is or was

serving at our request in such capacity The maximum amount of potential future indemnification is unlimited however we have

Director and Officer Insurance Policy that limits its exposure
and enables us to recover portion of any future amounts paid

Historically we have not been obligated to make any payments for these obligations and no liabilities have been recorded for these

obligations on the balance sheet as of December 31 2010 or 2011

Sarbanes Oxley Compliance and Corporate Governance

As public company we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 In particular we must perform

system and process evaluation and testing of our internal control over financial reporting to allow management to report on the

effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act beginning with

this annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending December 31 2011 and potentially our independent registered public

accounting firm beginning with our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending December 31 2012 In order to maintain

and improve the effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures
and internal control over financial reporting significant resources

and management oversight will be required We also must comply with all corporate governance requirements of The NASDAQ

Global Market

Recently Adopted and Recently Issued Accounting Guidance

See Note Summaryof Significant Accounting Policies to the consolidated financial statements included in this report regarding

the impact of certain recent accounting pronouncements on our consolidated financial statements

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk

The primary objectives of our investment activities are to preserve principal and maintain liquidity while at the same time maximizing

yields without significantly increasing risk To achieve these objectives we invest in money market funds and high quality debt

securities Our investments in debt securities are subject to interest rate risk To minimize the exposure due to an adverse shift in

interest rates we invest in short-term securities and maintain an average portfolio duration of less than one year

Unrestricted cash cash equivalents
and short-term investments are held for working capital purposes and acquisition financing We

do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes While our portfolio of available-for-sale marketable securities

create an exposure to interest rate risk we believe that we do not have material exposure to changes in the fair value as result of

changes in interest rates due to the short-term nature of our investments Declines in interest rates may reduce future investment

income However hypothetical
decline of one percentage point in the interest rate on our investments would not have material

effect on our consolidated financial condition or results of operations

Item Financial Statements and Supplementay Data

Supplementary Data

The information regarding our quarterly financial results required by this item is incorporated by reference here from Item

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Quarterly Results of Operations
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders

of Epocrates Inc

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under Item 5a present fairly in all material

respects the financial position of Epocrates Inc and its subsidiaries at December 31 2011 and December 31 2010 and the results

of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2011 in conformity with

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ofAmerica In addition in our opinion the financial statement schedule

listed in the index appearing under Item 5a2 presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein when read

in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements These financial statements and financial statement schedule are

the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and on

the financial statement schedule based on our audits We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with the standards

of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining

on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements assessing the accounting principles used

and significant estimates made by management and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our

audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

Is PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

San Jose California

March 19 2012
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EPOCRATES INC

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

in thousands except per share data

December 31

2011 2010

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
75326 35987

Short-term investments 9897 18697

Accounts receivable net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $85 and $141 respectively 22748 21101

Deferred tax asset 7390 4971

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3218 3548

Total current assets 118579 84304

Property and equipment net 7283 8757

Deferred tax asset long-term
1280 779

Goodwill 17959 19079

Other intangible assets net 6771 11438

Other assets
352 2859

Total assets 152224 $127216

Liabilities Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders Equity

Current liabilities

Accounts payable
3282 3635

Deferred revenue 46429 46164

Other accrued liabilities 9600 9251

Total current liabilities 59311 59050

Deferred revenue less current portion
8088 8732

Contingent consideration 15016

Other liabilities 1893 1913

Total liabilities 69292 84711

Commitments and contingencies Note 10

Mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred stock

$0.00 par value 15304 shares authorized and 13142 shares issued and outstanding at

December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively liquidation preference of $0 and $73373 at

December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively __________
73342

Stockholders equity deficit

Preferred stock $0.00 par value 10000 and shares authorized no shares issued and

outstanding at December 31 2011 and 2010

Common stock $0.00 par value 100000 and 30129 shares authorized 24370 and 7802

shares issued and outstanding at December 31 20 and 2010 respectively
24

Additional paid-in-capital 129238 11911

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Accumulated deficit 46328 42755

Total stockholders equity deficit
82932 30837

Total liabilities mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders equity deficit 152224 127216

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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EPOCRATES INC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

in thousands except per share data

Subscription revenues

Interactive services revenues

Total revenues net

Cost of subscription revenues

Cost of interactive services revenues

Total cost of revenues

Gross profit

Operating expenses

Sales and marketing

Research and development

General and administrative

Facilities exit costs

Gain on settlement and change in fair value of contingent
consideration

Impairment of long-lived assets and goodwill

Total operating expenses

Loss income from operations

Interest income

Interest expense

Other income expense net

Gain on sale-leaseback of building

Loss income before income taxes

Benefit from provision for income taxes

Net loss income

Net loss income available to common stockholders basic

Net loss income available to common stockholders diluted

Net loss income per common share basic

Net loss income per common share diluted

Weighted average common shares outstanding basic

Weighted average common shares outstanding diluted

Includes stock-based compensation of the following amounts

Cost of revenues

Sales and marketing

Research and development

General and administrative

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

22520 24683 19001

90826 79305 74653

113346 103988 93654

8360 6516 6558

33351 25214 22894

41711 31730 29452

71635 72258 64202

31193 30424 22704

22797 19717 14663

22700 15729 11587

8145 1034
8501

77664 64836 48954

7422

75 93

214
183 73

1689

8990

2198 5187 6788

3573 3803 7659

3867 113 1703

3867 126 1908

0.17 0.01 0.22

0.17 0.01 0.20

22297 7558 7758

22297 9145 9491

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

618

6029 15248

127

855

5771 14447

183 272

1361

730

5068

1741

1512

2831

213

1221

899

2201
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EPOCRATES INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN MANDATORILY REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY DEFICIT AND

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS
in thousands

Balance at January 2009

Issuance of common stock upon

exercise of stock options

Issuance of common stock upon

release of RSUs

Stock-based compensation

expense

Amortization of deferred stock-

based compensation

Adjustment
to deferred stock-

based compensation for

terminations

Unrealized loss on available-for-

sale securities

Purchase of treasury stock

Retirement of treasury stock

Accrued dividend on Series

mandatorily redeemable

convertible preferred stock

Excess tax benefit from stock-

based compensation awards

Net income

Comprehensive income

Balance at December 31 2009

Issuance of common stock upon

exercise of stock options

Stock-based compensation

expense

Stock compensation associated

with outstanding repriced

options

Purchase of treasury stock

7533

Mandatorily
Redeemable

Convertible

Preferred Stock
Common Stock

Additional

Treasury Paid-in

Shares Amount Shares Amount Stock Capital

13142 67662 7937 4027

294 941

13

4760

240

7928

735 7928 395

2840 2840

38

Accumulated

Deferred Other Total

Stock-Based Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders Comprehensive

Compensation Income Loss Deficit Equity Deficit Income Loss

14 44088 40067

941

4760

240

14
14

7928

2840

38

7659 7659 7659

7658

13142 70502 7509 6291
43962 37664

663 2680 2680

5962
5962

394
394

120 3491
3491
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Retirement of treasury stock

Accrued dividend on Series

mandatorily redeemable

convertible preferred stock

Excess tax benefit from stock-

based compensation awards

Net income

Comprehensive income

Balance at December 31 2010

Issuance of common stock in an
initial public offering IPO
net of discounts and issuance

costs

Accrued dividend on Series

mandatorily redeemable

convertible preferred stock

Payment of accrued dividends

on Series mandatorily
redeemable convertible

preferred stock

Conversion of mandatorily
redeemable convertible

preferred stock to common stock

in conjunction with the IPO

Conversion of preferred stock

warrant to common stock

warrant

Issuance of common stock upon
exercise of stock options

Issuance of common stock upon
release of RSUs

Stock-based compensation

expense

Stock compensation associated

with outstanding repriced

options

Unrealized loss on available-for-

sale securities

Excess tax benefit from stock-

based compensation awards

Net loss

Comprehensive loss

Balance at December 31 2011

250 3491 895 2596

2840 2840 2840

319 319

3803 3803 3803

3803

13142 73342 7802 11911 42755 30837

4378 62159 62163

255 255 255

29586

13142 44011 11089 11 44000
44011

140
140

1084 3483 3484

17

7935 7935

463 463

328
328

3573 3573 3573

3574
24370 24 129238 46328 82932

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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EPOCRATES INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

in thousands

Cash flows from operating activities

Net loss income

Adjustments to reconcile net loss income to net cash provided by operating activities

Stock-based compensation

Depreciation and amortization

Amortization of intangible assets

Allowance for doubtful accounts and sales returns reserve

Loss on write-off of property and equipment

Facilities exit costs

Impairment of long-lived assets and goodwill

Change in carrying value of preferred stock liability

Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation awards

Gain on settlement and change in fair value of contingent consideration

Gain on sale-leaseback of building

Changes in assets and liabilities net of effect of acquisitions

Accounts receivable

Deferred tax asset current and non-current

Prepaid expenses and other assets

Accounts payable

Deferred revenue

Other accrued liabilities and other payables

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Capital expenditures

Business acquisitions

Purchase of short-term investments

Sale of short-term investments

Decrease in restricted cash

Maturity of short-term investments

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of common stock in an initial public offenng

Payment of accrued dividends on Series mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred stock

Payment and settlement of contingent consideration

Acquisition of common stock

Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation awards

Proceeds from exercise of common stock options

Net cash provided by used in financing activities

Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of penod

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Supplemental Disclosures

Cash paid for income taxes

Cash refunded for income taxes

Cash paid for interest

Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities

Retirement of treasury
stock

Unrealized gain loss on available-for-sale securities net of tax effect

Dividend accrued on Series mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred stock

Accrued purchase of property and equipment and other assets

Contingent consideration recorded in connection with business acquisitions

Conversion of mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred stock into common shares

Reclass of common stock issuance costs from prepaid expenses to additional paid-in-capital

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

3573 3803 7659

7342

4557

4181

56
187

618

8501

328

8145

391 4978

4495 5841

1165 1447

27 1210 523

379 7464 3869

399 4276 767

8819 9112 17018

10064 4657 2613

14600 400

24849 27793 4426

8590 1797

500

24800 11725

1023 33528 7439

64188

29586

6871

3491 7928

328 319 38

3484 2680 941

31543 492 6949

39339 24908 2630

35987 60895 58265

75326 35987 60895

691 2444

293 969
214 855

2596

255 2840

62 843

14750

44011

2025

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

6356

3083

1319

119

33

319

1034

1689

4534

2889

16
38

1591

2920
797

7533

2840

1300
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EPOCRATES INC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Background

Epocrates Inc the Company or Epocrates was incorporated in California in August 1998 as nCircle Communications Inc

In September 1999 the Company changed its name to ePocrates Inc and in May 2006 the Company reincorporated in Delaware

and changed its name to Epocrates Inc

The Company is leading provider of subscriptions for mobile drug reference tools and electronic health records to healthcare

professionals and interactive services to the healthcare industry Most commonly used on mobile devices at the point of care the

Companys products help healthcare professionals make more informed prescribing decisions enhance patient safety and improve

practice productivity Through the Companys interactive services it provides the healthcare industry primarily pharmaceutical

companies access to its user network to deliver targeted information and conduct market research in cost-effective manner

Initial Public Offering IPO

On February 2011 the Companys registration statement on Form S-i File No 333-168176 was declared effective for its

initial public offering IPO pursuant to which it registered the offering and sale of 5360000 shares of common stock at

public offering price of $16.00 per share and an aggregate offering price of $85.8 million of which 3574285 shares were sold

by the Company for an aggregate offering price of $57.2 million and 1785715 shares were sold by the selling stockholders for

an aggregate offering price of $28.6 million On February 2011 the overallotment option of 804000 shares was exercised at

price of $16.00 per share for an aggregate of $12.9 million all of which were sold by the Company and the offering was

completed with all of the shares subject to the registration statement having been sold

As result of the Companys IPO and the exercise of the overallotment option on February 2011 both of which closed on

February 2011 the Company received net proceeds of approximately $62.2 million after underwriting discounts and

commissions of $4.9 million In addition the Company incurred other costs associated with its IPO of approximately $3.0 million

From these proceeds aggregate cumulative dividends to the holders of Epocrates Series preferred stock were paid in full in

the amount of approximately $29.6 million Upon the consummation of the IPO the outstanding shares ofthe Companys preferred

stock were converted into an aggregate of 11089201 shares of common stock

After the completion of the IPO on February 2011 the Company amended its certificate of incorporation and increased its

authorized number of shares of common stock to 100000000 and reduced the authorized number of shares of preferred stock

to 10000000 The Company also established the par value of each share of common and preferred stock to be $0.00 per share

Common Stock Split

An Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation for -for-0.786 reverse split approved by the Companys Board of

Directors on November 18 2010 was filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on January 28 2011 and was effected upon the

closing of the IPO All information related to common stock stock options restricted stock units and earnings per share as well

as all references to preferred stock or preferred stock warrants as converted into common stock has been retroactively adjusted

to give effect to the reverse split

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles GAAP in the United

States requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements

and accompanying notes The Company is subject to uncertainties such as the impact of future events economic and political

factors and changes in the Companys business environment therefore actual results could differ from these estimates

Accordingly the accounting estimates used in the preparation of the Companys financial statements will change as new events

occur as more experience is acquired as additional information is obtained and as the Companys operating environment changes

Changes in estimates are made when circumstances warrant Such changes in estimates and refinements in estimation

methodologies are reflected in reported results of operations and if material the effects of changes in estimates are disclosed in

the notes to the financial statements Significant estimates and assumptions by management affect revenue recognition the

allowance for doubtful accounts the subscription cancellations reserve the carrying value of long-lived assets and goodwill the
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depreciation and amortization period of long-lived assets the provision for income taxes and related deferred tax accounts the

sales tax accrual the build-out of the Companys San Mateo facility accounting for business combinations stock based

compensation and the fair value of the Companys common stock and fair value of contingent consideration

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original or remaining maturity from the Companys date of purchase

of 90 days or less to be cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents were $75.3 million and $36.0 million as of December 31

2011 and 2010 respectively

Restricted Cash

As of December 31 2011 the Company had no restricted cash As of December 31 2010 restricted cash totaled $0.5 million

related to an agreement with the Companys merchant card provider This balance is recorded within other assets on the balance

sheet

Short- Term Investments

The Company has classified its short-term investments as available-for-sale securities Epocrates may sell these securities at any

time for use in current operations or other purposes including as consideration for acquisitions and strategic investments These

securities are reported at fair value with any changes in market value reported as part of comprehensive income

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Companys financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents accounts receivable and accounts payable are carried

at cost which approximates fair value because of the short-term nature of those instruments The carrying value of the common

stock warrant liability which converted from preferred stock warrant liability in 2011 see Note 11 Mandatorily Redeemable

Convertible Preferred Stock and contingent consideration see Note 6Acquisitions represents fair value Based on borrowing

rates available to the Company for loans with similar terms the carrying value of borrowings including the financing liability

see Note Financing Liability approximate fair value

The Company measures and reports certain financial assets at fair value on recurring basis including its investments in money

market funds and available-for-sale securities The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs into three broad levels

Level Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2Inputs are quoted prices for similarassets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable for the asset

or liability either directly or indirectly through market corroboration for substantially the full term of the financial

instrument

Level Inputs are unobservable inputs based on the Companys assumptions

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist principally of cash cash equivalents short-term

investments and accounts receivable

The Company limits its concentration of risk in cash equivalents and short-term investments by diversifing its investments

among variety of industries and issuers and by limiting the average maturity to less than one year The primary goals of the

Companys investment policy are in order of priority preservation of principal liquidity and current income The Companys

professional portfolio managers adhere to this investment policy as approved by the Companys Board of Directors

The Companys investment policy is to invest only in fixed income instruments denominated and payable in U.S dollars

Investment in obligations of the U.S government and its agencies money market instruments commercial paper certificates of

deposit bankers acceptances corporate
bonds of U.S companies municipal securities and asset backed securities are allowed

The Company does not invest in auction rate securities futures contracts or hedging instruments Securities of single issuer

valued at cost at the time of purchase should not exceed 5% of the market value of the portfolio or $1 million whichever is

greater but securities issuedby the U.S Treasury and U.S government agencies are specifically exempted from these restrictions

Issue size should normally be greater than $50 million for corporate
bonds No single position in any issue will equal more than

10% of that issue The final maturity of each security within the portfolio shall not exceed 24 months
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The Companys revenue is derived primarily from clients in the healthcare industry pharmaceutical companies managed care

companies and market research firms within the United States For the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 no
single customer accounted for more than 10% of total revenues net One customer accounted for 15% and no single customer

accounted for more than 10% of the net accounts receivable as of December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively

Allowance for DoubtfulAccounts

The allowance for doubtful accounts reflects the Companys best estimate ofprobable losses inherent in the Companys receivables

portfolio determined on the basis of historical experience specific allowances for known troubled accounts and other currently
available evidence Historically the Company has not experienced significant credit losses from its accounts receivable The

Company performs regular review of its customers payment histories and associated credit risks and it does not require collateral

from its customers

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment including equipment under capital leases are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
amortization Depreciation and amortization

expense is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives

of the related assets The useful lives of the property and equipment are as follows

Computer equipment 36 months

Office equipment furniture and fixtures 3644 months

Software 36 months

Leasehold improvements Shorter of useful life or lease term

Upon retirement or sale the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the balance sheet and the resulting gain
or loss is reflected in operations Major additions and improvements are capitalized while repairs and maintenance that do not
extend the life of the asset are charged to operations as incurred Depreciation and amortization expense is allocated to both cost
of revenues and operating expenses

Software Development Costs

Software development costs incurred in conjunction with product development are charged to research and development expense
until technological feasibility is established Thereafter until the product is released for sale software development costs are

capitalized and reported at the lower of unamortized cost or net realizable value of the related product The Company does not
consider product in development to have passed the technological feasibility milestone until the Company has completed
model of the product that contains essentially all the functionality and features of the final product and has tested the model to

ensure that it works as expected Prior to 2011 the Company had not incurred significant costs between the establishment of

technological feasibility and the release of product for sale Thus the Company had historically expensed all software

development costs as incurred During the
year ended December 31 2011 the Company capitalized software development costs

of approximately $5.1 million relating to the Electronic Health Record EHR solution

The Company entered controlled release of its EHR product in July 2011 and commenced amortization of the capitalized
software development costs Amortization of capitalized software development costs was $0.3 million during the year ended

December31 2011 The market for EHR products has been competitive and the Company did not generate significant revenues

from its EHR product during the year ended December 31 2011 On February 24 2012 the Board of Directors of Epocrates

approved the discontinuation of further development of Epocrates EHR product In connection with this decision the Company
recorded an impairment charge of $4.8 million associated with the EHR capitalized software development costs this charge is

recorded in Impairment of Long-lived assets and Goodwill in the Companys consolidated statements of operations

Internal Use Software and Website Development Costs

With regard to software developed for internal use and website development costs the Company expenses all costs incurred that

relate to planning and post-implementation phases of development Costs incurred in the development phase are capitalized and

amortized over the products estimated useful life which is generally three
years During the years ended December 31 2011 and

2010 the Company capitalized $2.4 million and $2.6 million of software development costs related to software for internal use
respectively Internal software development costs are generally amortized on straight-line basis over three years beginning with
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the date the software is placed into service Amortization of software developed for internal use was $2.0 million $1.7 million

and $1.4 million for the years
ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively Amortization of internal use software is

reflected in cost of revenue Costs associated with minor enhancement and maintenance of the Companys website are expensed

as incurred

As discussed above the Company plans to discontinue further development of the EHR business and therefore re-evaluated all

EHR assets forpotential impairment The EHRbusiness had $1.9 million ofnet capitalized software for internal use as of December

312011 The Company determined that all EFIR assets that could not be redeployed should be written down from their carrying

values to an estimated fair value of zero The Company recorded $1.9 million impairment charge for the year ended December

31 2011 related to capitalized
software for internal use This charge is recorded within Impairment of Long-lived Assets and

Goodwill in the Companys consolidated statements of operations

Goodwill

Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level on an annual basis and whenever events or changes in circumstances

indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable Application of the goodwill impairment test requires judgment including the

identification of reporting units assigning assets and liabilities to reporting units assigning goodwill to reporting units and

determining the fair value of each reporting unit Significant judgments required to estimate the fair value of reporting units

include estimating future cash flows and determining appropriate discount and growth rates and other assumptions Changes in

these estimates and assumptions could materially affect the determination of fair value for each reporting unit which could trigger

impairment

For the Subscriptions and Interactive Services reporting unit the Company performed its annual impairment tests in December

2011 and 2010 and determined that the undiscounted cash flow from the long-range forecast exceeded the carrying amount of

goodwill in both years and therefore no impairment was indicated The Company has determined that 10% change in the future

undiscounted cash flows as of the date of its most recent goodwill impairment test would not have changed the outcome of the

test for the Subscriptions and Interactive Services reporting unit

The EHR reporting unit included goodwill of $1.1 million that was recorded in conjunction with the acquisition of Caretools

Inc In conducting the annual impairment test for 2011 the Company took into account that it had only recently entered controlled

release of its EHR product and that its revenue and subscriber estimates had not materialized Based on the factors outlined above

the Company compared the fair value of the goodwill assigned to the EHR reporting unit against its carrying value As result

of this analysis the Company determined that the carrying value of the EHR goodwill exceeded its fair value at December 31

2011 and recorded an impairment charge of $1.1 million to write down the carrying value of the goodwill
associated with the

EHR business to an estimated fair value of zero The impairment charge is recorded in Impairment of Long-lived Assets and

Goodwill in the Companys consolidated statements of operations

Impairment ofLong-livedAssets

The Company evaluates long-lived assets for potential impairment whenever adverse events or changes in circumstances or

business climate indicate that expected undiscounted future cash flows related to such long-lived assets may not be sufficient to

support the net book value of such assets An impairment charge exists when the carrying value of long-lived asset exceeds its

fair value An impairment loss is recognized only if the canying value of long-lived asset is not recoverable and exceeds its

fair value The carrying value of long-lived asset is not recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected

to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset There were no such impairment losses during the years ended

December 31 2010 or 2009

As discussed earlier the Company determined that revenue and subscriber estimates for its EHR offering had not materialized

and has discontinued further development of the EHR product and business There is no assurance that the Company will be able

to sell its El-IR assets Therefore the carrying value of these assets was written down to an estimated fair value of zero

Freestanding Prefrrred Stock Warrants

Freestanding warrants that are related to the Companys Convertible Preferred Stock were classified as liabilities on the Companys

balance sheet through the year
ended December 31 2010 The warrants were subject to reassessment at each balance sheet date

and any change in fair value was recognized as component of other income expense net The Company adjusted the liability

for changes in fair value until the completion of its IPO which closed on February 2011 at which time all preferred stock

warrants were converted into warrants to purchase common stock and accordingly the liability was reclassified to stockholders

equity deficit
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Revenue Recognition

Stand-Alone Sales ofPremium Subscriptions Services The majority of healthcare professionals in the Companys network uses
its free products and do not purchase any of the Companys premium subscriptions The Company generates revenue from the

sale of premium subscription products Subscription options include

subscription to one of three premium mobile products the Company offers that user downloads to their mobile device

subscription to the Companys premium online product or site licenses for access via the Internet on desktop or
laptop and

license codes that can be redeemed for such mobile or online premium products

Mobile subscription services and license codes contain elements of software code that reside on mobile device and are essential

to the functionality of the service being provided For these services revenue is recognized only when

there is persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists in the form of written contract amendments to that contract
or purchase orders from third party

delivery has occurred or services have been rendered

the price is fixed or determinable after evaluating the risk of concession and

collectability is probable based on customer creditworthiness and past history of collection

Online products and site licenses do not contain any software elements that are essential to the services being provided For these

services revenue is recognized using the same criteria as above however
collectability only need be reasonably assured When

collectability is not reasonably assured revenue is deferred until collection

Subscriptions are recognized as revenue ratably over the term ofthe subscription as services are delivered Billings for subscriptions
typically occur in advance of services being performed therefore these amounts are recorded as deferred revenue when billed

license code allows holder to redeem the code for subscription Typically license codes must be redeemed within six to

twelve months of issuance When license code is redeemed for premium mobile product revenue is recognized ratably over
the term of the subscription If license code expires before it is redeemed revenue is recognized upon expiration

Extended payment terms beyond standard terms may cause deferral of revenue until such amounts become due Allowances
are established for uncollectible amounts and potential returns based on historical experience

If paid user is unsatisfied for any reason during the first 30 days of the subscription and wishes to cancel the subscription the

Company provides refund The Company records reserve based on estimated future cancellations using historical data To
date such returns reserve has not been material and has been within managements expectations

Stand lone Sales of Interactive Services The Company also generates revenue by providing healthcare companies with
interactive services through targeted access to its user network through interactive services These services include DocAlert
clinical messaging services virtual representative services Epocrates market research services formulary hosting services and
mobile resource centers

Interactive services do not contain any software elements that are essential to the services being provided therefore revenue is

recognized when

there is persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists in the form of written contract amendments to that contract
or purchase orders from third

party

delivery has occurred or services have been rendered

the price is fixed or determinable after evaluating the risk of concession and

collectability is reasonably assured based on customer creditworthiness and past history of collection
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Doc4lerI Clinical Messaging Services DocAlert messages are short clinical alerts delivered to the Companys users when they

connect with the Companys databases to receive updated content Most of these DocAlert messages are not sponsored and include

useful infonnation for recipients such as new clinical studies practice management information and industry guidelines The

balance of DocAlert messages are sponsored by the Companys clients Messages are targeted to all or subset of physicians to

increase the value and relevance to recipients Clients contract with the Company to publish an agreed upon number of DocAlert

messages over the contract period typically one year Each sponsored message is available to users for four weeks Typically

clients are billed portion of the contracted fee upon signing of the contract with the balance billed upon one or more future

milestones Because billings for clinical messaging services typically occur in advance of services being performed these amounts

are recorded as deferred revenue when billed The messages to be delivered can be either asymmetrical that is each message is

delivered to different target group
of users or symmetrical that is each message is delivered to the same target group of users

As discussed in detail under multiple element arrangements below for contracts signed or materially modified on or after January

2009 the Company allocates consideration to each message based on the Companys best estimate of sales price BESP and

recognizes revenue ratably over the delivery period of each message As it relates to contracts signed prior to January 2009

the Company has not established vendor objective evidence VOE of fair value for DocAlert messages Therefore for those

contracts signed prior to January 2009 revenue in asymmetrical arrangements is recognized over the delivery period of the

last contracted message or if the Companys client does not provide all such messages to the Company upon expiration of the

contract Revenue for symmetrical agreements is recognized ratably over the delivery period of each symmetrical message because

despite not being able to demonstrate VOE of fair value for each individual message each message is of equal value to the client

because the target audience for each message is the same

Virtual Representative Services The Companys mobile promotional programs are designed to supplement and replicate the

traditional sales model with services typically provided during representative interactionsproduct detailing drug sample delivery

patient
literature delivery and drug coverage updates The Companys pharmaceutical clients contract with the Company to make

one or more of these services available to its users for period of time usually one year Typically clients are billed portion of

the contracted fee upon signing of the contract with the balance billed upon one or more future milestones Because billings for

virtual representative
services typically occur in advance of services being performed these amounts are recorded as deferred

revenue when billed Revenue is recognized ratably over the contracted term

Epocrates Honors Market Research Services The Company recruits healthcare professionals to participate in market research

activities Concurrently this service offers market research specialists marketers and investors the opportunity to survey
their

target audience Typically
customer will pay the Company fee for access to targeted group of its users whom they wish to

survey
The Company pays portion of this fee to the survey participants as an honoraria Upon completion of the survey which

typically runs for about month the Company will bill the customer the entire amount due The Company has concluded that it

acts as the primary obligor Accordingly the Company recognizes the entire fee paid by its customers as revenue upon confirmation

of completion of the survey and the compensation paid by the Company to survey participants is recorded as cost of revenue

when earned by the participant

Formulary HostingServices Healthcare professionals have the option to downloadhealth plan formulary lists fortheir geographic

area or patient demographic at no cost Clients usually health insurance providers contract with the Company to make their

formulary available to the Companys user base typically for one to three year period Clients are typically billed up front on

quarterly or an annual basis Because billings for formulary services typically occur in advance of services being performed

these amounts are recorded as deferred revenue when billed Revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the contract

Mobile Resource Centers This educational service allows healthcare professionals to stay current on clinical developments for

variety of disease conditions and topics Sponsored by pharmaceutical company each resource center is developed in

conjunction with key opinion leader for that specific disease or condition Clients usually pharmaceutical companies contract

with the Company to host mobile resource center and make it available to its users for one year period Clients are typically

billed half of the contracted fee upon signing the contract with the balance being billed 90 days after the contract is signed

Because billings for sponsored content typically occur in advance of services being performed these amounts are recorded as

deferred revenue when billed Revenue is recognized ratably over the contracted term

Commission and royalty costs associated with products sold are expensed as incurred

Multiple Element Arrangements Signed On or After January 2009 The Company often enters into arrangements that contain

various combinations of services from the above described subscriptions and interactive services The customer is typically

charged fee for the entire group of services to be provided Clients are typically billed half of the contracted fee upon signing

the contract with the balance being billed 90 days after the contract is signed Each element typically has delivery period of

one year but the various elements may or may not be delivered concurrently
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In October 2009 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB amended the accounting standards for multiple deliverable

revenue arrangements to

provide updated guidance on whether multiple deliverables exist how the deliverables in an arrangement should be

separated and how the consideration should be allocated

require an entity to allocate revenue in an arrangement using BESP if vendor does not have vendor specific objective
evidence VSOE of fair value or third party evidence TPE of fair value and

eliminate the use of the residual method and require an entity to allocate revenue using the relative selling price method

The Company elected to early adopt this accounting guidance as of January 2009

The new guidance does not change the units of accounting for the Companys revenue transactions However prior to adopting
this new guidance revenue for some delivered items was often deferred until certain other deliverables completed their delivery
Under the new guidance if the Company cannot establish VSOE of fair value the Company should then determine if it can

establish TPE of fair value TPE is determined based on competitor prices for similardeliverables when sold separately The

Companys services differ significantly from that of its peers and its offerings contain significant level of customization and

differentiation such that the comparable pricing of products with similar functionality cannot be obtained Furthermore the

Company is unable to reliably determine what similarcompetitor products selling prices are on stand-alone basis Therefore
the Company is typically not able to determine TPE

If both VSOE and TPE do not exist the Company then uses BESP to establish fair value and to allocate total consideration to

each element in the arrangement and consideration related to each element is then recognized ratably over the delivery period of

each element Any discount or premium inherent in the arrangement is allocated to each element in the arrangement based on
the relative fair value of each element

The objective of BESP is to determine the price at which the Company would transact sale if the product or service were sold

on stand- alone basis The Company determines BESP for product or service by considering multiple factors including an

analysis of recent stand alone sales of that product market conditions competitive landscape internal costs gross margin

objectives and pricing practices As these factors are mostly subjective the determination of BESP requires significant judgment
If the Company had chosen different values for BESP the Companys revenue and deferred revenue could have been materially
different

The Company has established hierarchy to determine BESP First the Company considers recent stand-alone sales of each

product If the quantity of stand-alone sales is not substantive the Company calculates BESP as percentage discount off of the

approved selling price as established by the Companys pricing committee This discount is calculated as the
average discount

in recent deals where the product was bundled with other products If there are not substantive number of deals where the

product was bundled with other products the Company uses the approved selling price as established by the Companys pricing

committee until the Company has sufficient history of transactions to compute BESP using either the stand-alone or bundled

methodology discussed above

Net revenue as reported and net revenue that would have been reported during the year ended December 31 2009 had the

Company not adopted the new guidance pro forma basis is shown in the following table in thousands

As Reported Pro Forma Basis

Total revenues net 93654 91595

Multiple Element Arrangements Signed Prior to January 2009 For contracts that were signed prior to January 2009 that

were not materially modified after January 2009 the Company used and continues to use the prior revenue recognition guidance
Under this guidance if VSOE or VOE of fair value exists for the last undelivered element the Company applies the residual

method whereby only the fair value of the undelivered element is deferred and the remaining residual fee is recognized when

delivered If VSOE or VOE of fair value does not exist for the last undelivered element the entire fee is recognized over the

period of delivery of the last undelivered element

VSOE of fair value has been established for subscriptions to the Companys mobile premium products and license codes and

represents the price charged when that element is sold separately VOE of fair value for online premium product subscriptions

site licenses and interactive services is also established based on the price paid when such services are sold separately To date

VOE of fair value for online premium product subscriptions or site licenses has not been established nor has VOE of fair value

been established for interactive services due to the wide variability in the pricing of most interactive services
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Stock Based compensation

For options granted on or after January 2006 stock based compensation is measured at grant date based on the fair value of

the award and is expensed on straight-line basis over the requisite service period For options granted prior to January 2006

the Company will continue to recognize compensation expense on the remaining unvested awards under the intrinsic value method

unless such grants are materially modified

The Company will only recognize tax benefit from stock-based awards in additional paid-in capital if an incremental tax benefit

is realized after all other tax attributes currently available to the Company have been utilized In addition the Company has

elected to account for the indirect effects of stock-based awards on other tax attributes such as the research tax credit through

its statement of operations

Equity instruments issued to non-employees are recorded at their fair value on the measurement date The measurement of

stock based compensation is subject to periodic adjustment as the underlying equity instruments vest The fair value of options

granted to consultants is expensed over the vesting period

Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred except for certain internal use software development costs which may

be capitalized as noted above Research and development costs include salaries stock based compensation expense benefits

and other operating costs such as outside services supplies and allocated overhead costs

Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and included in sales and marketing expense in the accompanying statements of

operations Advertising expense
totaled $0.9 million $0.7 million and $0.5 million for the years

ended December 31 2011 2010

and 2009 respectively

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the liability method Under this method deferred tax assets and liabilities are

determined based on differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities and net operating loss and

credit carryforwards using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse Valuation

allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts expected to be realized

Sales Taxes

When sales and other taxes are billed such amounts are recorded as accounts receivable with corresponding increase to sales

tax payable respectively The balances are then removed from the balance sheet as cash is collected from the customer and as

remitted to the tax authority

Net Loss Income Per Share

Basic loss income per share is computed by dividing net loss income available to common stockholders by the sum of the

weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period net of shares subject to repurchase Net loss income

available to common stockholders is calculated using the two class method as net loss income less the preferred stock dividend

for the period less the amount of net loss income if any allocated to preferred based on weighted preferred stock outstanding

during the period relative to total stock outstanding during the period

Diluted loss income per
share gives effect to all dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period The computation

of diluted income per
share does not assume conversion exercise or contingent exercise of securities that would have an anti-

dilutive effect on earnings The dilutive effect of outstanding stock options warrants and restricted stock units RSUs is

computed using the treasury stock method

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss income per common share for the years ended

December 31 20112010 and 2009 in thousands except per share data
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Numerator

Net loss income 3573
Less Accrued dividend on Series mandatorily redeemable

convertible preferred stock plus an 8% non-cumulative dividend on
Series and Series mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred
stock

Less Allocation of net income to participating preferred shares

Numerator for basic calculation

Undistributed earnings re-allocated to common stockholders

Numerator for diluted calculation

Denominator

Denominator for basic calculation weighted average number of

common shares outstanding

Dilutive effect of stock options restricted stock units and warrants

using the treasury stock method

Denominator for diluted calculation

Diluted loss income per share would give effect to the dilutive impact ofcommon stock equivalents which consists ofconvertible

preferred stock and stock options and warrants using the treasury stock method Dilutive securities have been excluded from
the diluted loss per share computations as such securities have an anti-dilutive effect on net loss income

per share

For the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 the following securities were not included in the calculation of fully

diluted shares outstanding as the effect would have been anti-dilutive in thousands

Series preferred stock warrants

Outstanding unexercised options and restricted stock units

Mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred stock

Total outstanding

Comprehensive Loss Income

Years Ended December 31
2011 2010 2009

11 18 18

3034 3138 2081

972 13142 13142

4017 16298 15241

Comprehensive loss income consists of two components net loss income and other comprehensive loss income Other

comprehensive loss income refers to losses or gains that under GAAP are recorded as elements of stockholders equity deficit
but are excluded from net loss income The Companys other comprehensive loss income consists of unrealized losses gains
on available-for-sale securities Comprehensive loss income as of December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 consists of the following

components net of related tax effects in thousands

Net loss income

Change in unrealized loss gain on available-for-sale securities net of tax effect

Comprehensive loss income

Recently Adopted and Recently Issued Accounting Guidance

Years Ended December 31
2011 2010 2009

3573 3803 7659

______________

3574 3803 7658

In January 2010 the FASB issued revised guidance that expands the disclosure requirements for fair value measurements New
disclosure required under the revised guidance includes information about significant transfers in and out of Level and Level

and the reason for such transfers and inclusion ofpurchases sales issuances and settlements information for Level measurements

Years Ended December 31
2011 2010 2009

3803 7659

294 3523 3523

____________
167 2433

3867 113 1703

13 205

3867 126 1908

22297 7558 7758

_____________
1587 1733

22297 9145 9491

0.17 0.01 0.22

0.17 0.01 0.20

Net loss income per share

Basic net loss income per common share

Diluted net loss income
per common share
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in the roliforward of activity on gross
basis This guidance was effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2009

The Company adopted this guidance in the first quarter of 2010 The guidance for the rollforward of activities on gross basis

for Level is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 152010 The Company adopted this guidance in the first quarter

of 2011 The adoption did not impact the Companys results of operations or financial position

In December 2010 the FASB issued updated accounting guidance related to the calculation of the carrying amount of reporting

unit when performing the first step of goodwill impairment test More specifically this update will require an entity to use an

equity premise when performing the first step of goodwill impairment test and if reporting unit has zero or negative carrying

amount the entity must assess and consider qualitative factors and whether it is more likely than not that goodwill impairment

exists The new accounting guidance is effective for public entities for impairment tests performed during entities fiscal years

and interim periods within those years that begin after December 15 2010 Early adoption is not permitted The adoption of

this guidance did not have any impact on the Companys results of operations or financial position

In December 2010 the FASB issued updated accounting guidance to clarify that pro forma disclosures should be presented as if

business combination occurred at the beginning
of the prior annual period for purposes of preparing both the current reporting

period and the prior reporting period pro forma financial information These disclosures should be accompanied by narrative

description about the nature and amount of material non-recurring pro forma adjustments The new accounting guidance is

effective for business combinations consummated in periods beginning after December 15 2010 and should be applied

prospectively as of the date of adoption Early adoption is permitted The adoption of this guidance did not have any impact on

the Companys consolidated financial statements as there were no acquisitions completed in 2011

In May 2011 the FASB issued new accounting guidance that amends some fair value measurement principles and disclosure

requirements The new guidance states that the concepts of highest and best use and valuation premise are only relevant when

measuring the fair value of non-financial assets and prohibits the grouping of financial instruments for purposes
of determining

their fair values when the unit of account is specified in other guidance Early application is not permitted for public companies

The Company will adopt this guidance upon its effective date for periods beginning after December 15 2011 and does not

anticipate that this adoption will have significant impact on the Companys financial position or results of operations

In June 2011 the FASB issued new disclosure guidance related to the presentation of the Statement of Comprehensive Income

This guidance eliminates the current option to report other comprehensive income and its components in the statement of changes

inequity In December2011 the FASB issued revised accounting guidance which deferred the guidance relating to the presentation

of reclassification adjustments All other requirements of the previously issued guidance were not affected by the issuance of this

revised guidance The Company will adopt this guidance upon its effective date for periods ending on or after December 15

2011 and does not anticipate that this adoption will have any impact on the Companys financial position or results of operations

In September 2011 the FASB issued new accounting guidance intended to simplify goodwill impairment testing Entities will

be allowed to perform qualitative assessment on goodwill impairment to determine whether quantitative assessment is

necessary This guidance is effective for the Companys interim and annual periods beginning January 2012 Early adoption

of the standard is permitted The Company will adopt this standard for the annual period beginning January 12012 The adoption

of this guidance is not expected to have material effect on the Companys consolidated financial statements

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer liability the exit price in an orderly

transaction between market participants at the measurement date three level hierarchy is applied to prioritize the inputs to

valuation techniques used to measure fair value The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active

markets for identical assets and liabilities Level measurements and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs Level

measurements

The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs into three broad levels

Level Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level Inputs are quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable for the asset

or liability either directly or indirectly through market corroboration for substantially the full term of the financial

instrument

Level inputs are unobservable inputs based on the Companys assumptions
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The following tables represent the Companys financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on recurring basis as of

December 31 2011 and 2010 and the basis of that measurement in thousands

Total

Total

As of December 31 2010

ASSETS

Cash equivalents

Short-term investments See Note

Obligations of U.S government agencies

Obligations of U.S corporations

Obligations of Non-U.S corporations

Bank certificates of deposit

Total short-term investments

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Acquisition-related contingent consideration See Note

Preferred stock warrant

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Fair Value Level Level Level

25311 24177 1134

10029 10029

3354 3354

2114 2114

3200
_____________

3200
__________

18697
_____________

18697
__________

44008 24177 19831

15016 15016

140 140

15156 15156

The Companys financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents accounts receivable and accounts payable are carried

at cost which approximates fair value due to the short-term nature of those instruments The carrying value of the preferred stock

warrant liability see Note 11 Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and contingent consideration see Note

Acquisitions represents fair value

During the year ended December 2011 there were no material transfers between Level and Level fair value instruments

There were no transfers of instruments to Level and the only instruments transferred out of Level in 2011 were the preferred
stock warrants which were settled The following table presents reconciliation of the recurring Level measurements on gross
basis at December 31 2011 in thousands

Balance at January 2011

Settlements

Total gains included in earnings

Balance at December 31 2011

Acquisition-Related

Contingent

Consideration

As of December31 2011

ASSETS

Cash equivalents

Short-term investments See Note

Obligations of U.S government agencies

Obligations of U.S corporations

Obligations of Non-U.S corporations

Total short-term investments

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS

Fair Value Level Level Level

10310 10035 275

6219 6219

2630 2630

1048 1048
__________

9897 9897

20207 10035 10172

Fair Value Measurements Using

Significant Unobservable Inputs

Level

Preferred

Stock Warrant

15016 140

6871

8145
140
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Short-Term Investments

Marketable securities are classified as available-for-sale These securities are reported at fair value with any changes in market

value reported as part of comprehensive income Premiums discounts are amortized accreted to interest income over the

life of the investment Marketable securities are classified as short-term investments if the remaining maturity from the date of

purchase is in excess of 90 days Investments with contractual maturities of more than one year are included in current short-

term investments since the Company intends to convert them into cash as necessary to meet liquidity needs

The Company determines the fair value amounts by using available market information As of December 31 2011 and 2010 the

average portfolio
duration was less than six months and the contractual maturity of any single investment did not exceed 12 months

All short-tenn investments except for the money market funds as of December 31 2011 and 2010 are considered Level

investments under the GAAP fair value hierarchy because the fair value inputs are quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities

in active markets or inputs that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly through market corroboration

for substantially the full term of the financial instrument

As of December 31 2011 and 2010 unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities can be summarized as follows

in thousands

Cash Cash Equivalents
and Available-for-Sale Securities

Obligations of U.S government agencies

Obligations of U.S corporations

Obligations of Non-U.S corporations

Money market funds

Cash

Amounts included in cash and cash equivalents

Amounts included in short-term investments

Cash Cash Equivalents and Available-for-Sale Securities

Obligations of U.S government agencies

Obligations of U.S corporations

Obligations of Non-U.S corporations

Bank certificates of deposit

Money market funds

Cash

Amounts included in cash and cash equivalents

Amounts included in short-term investments

Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

1$
2633 2630

1048 1048

10035 10035

65016 65016

85226 85223

75326 75326

9900 9897

85226 85223

Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

10562 10562

3955 3955

2114 2114

3200 3200

24177 24177

10676 10676

54684 54684

35987 35987

18697 18697

54684 54684

6494 6494

As of December 31 2011 and 2010 the Companys cash equivalents were primarily in the form of money market funds and the

Company had no significant unrealized gains or losses on any of these investments Money market funds included in cash

equivalents as of December 31 2011 and 2010 are considered Level investments under the GAAP fair value hierarchy because

fair value inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities The remaining portion of cash

equivalents is comprised of obligations of U.S government agencies which are considered Level investments under the GAAP

fair value hierarchy Cash equivalents were $10.3 million and $25.3 million as of December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively
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Balance Sheet Components

The components of property and equipment net as of December 31 2011 and 2010 in thousands are as follows

Computer equipment and purchased software

Software developed for internal use

Furniture and fixtures

Leasehold improvements

Less Accumulated depreciation and amortization

December 31
2011 2010

9955 8366

8947 9240

3131 2330

2112 2285

24145 22221

16862 13464

7283 8757

Depreciation and amortization expense for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 was $4.6 million $3.1 million

and $2.9 million respectively

The components of other accrued liabilities as of December 31 2011 and 2010 in thousands are as follows

Accrued employee compensation

Accrued market research honoraria

Accrued royalties payable

Other accrued expenses

Acquisitions

December 31

2011 2010

3021 4400

1476 1166

1273 1063

3830 2622

9600 9251

Acquisition of Modality Inc On November 12 2010 the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding stock of Modality Inc
in exchange for $13.8 million in cash The Company acquired Modality for its current applications for the Apple iPod touch and

Apple iPhone as well as its existing processes in place to develop additional applications

Acquisition ofMedCafe Inc On February 12010 the Company acquired certain intangible assets ofMedCafe Inc or MedCafe
Delaware corporation in exchange for $0.9 million in cash The Company acquired MedCafe to allow it to expand the information

it provides its users In addition the seller had the potential to earn additional amounts contingent consideration based on the

operating results of the MedCafe product line The Company recorded $14.8 million in earn-out consideration on the acquisition

date based on its estimate of the operating results of the MedCafe product line through March 2014 The contingent consideration

liability is re-measured using Level inputs and carried at its fair value with changes in fair value recorded in operating expenses

In April 2011 the Company paid approximately $0.5 million towards the first installment of the earn-out consideration In

June 2011 the Company entered into an agreement with the sellers of MedCafe to settle the earn-out consideration liability for

lump sum payment of $6.4 million The settlement of the liability resulted in gain of approximately $6.4 million in the second

quarter of 2011 which has been recorded under Gain on settlement and change in fair value of contingent consideration in the

Companys consolidated statements of operations
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The following table summarizes the purchase price allocations in connection with acquisitions completed in 2010 in thousands

Net liabilities acquired

Technology

Customer relationships

Trademark and trade name

Non-compete agreement

Goodwill

Modality Inc MedCafe Inc

789
5500 5760

30

40

700 150

8339 9620

13750 15600

The following table presents selected financial data assuming the acquisitions in 2010 had occurred on January 2010 in

thousands except per share data

Total revenues net

Net income

Net loss income per common share basic

Net loss income per common share diluted

2269 4999

0.17 0.06

0.17 0.06

Contingent consideration of Caretools Inc The Company acquired Caretools Inc or Caretools for its technology which

was intended to be used in the development of Epocrates EHR offering In connection with the acquisition of Caretools on

June 23 2009 the Company recorded contingent consideration of $1.3 million on the acquisition date This contingent

consideration was calculated based on an estimate of royalty on revenues generated from sales of product developed incorporating

Caretools technology As of December 31 2011 and 2010 the fair value of this contingent consideration was zero and $2.2

million respectively

The Company calculated the fair value of the liability during the year ended December31 2011 using Level inputs and recorded

decrease in the contingent consideration liability of approximately $1.7 million primarily due to changes in the discount periods

and estimates of revenues to be derived from the acquired technologies of Caretools On February 242012 the Board of Directors

of Epocrates approved the discontinuation of further development of Epocrates EHR product In connection with this decision

Epocrates recorded gain of $0.5 million to write down carrying value of the contingent consideration liability to an estimated

fair value of zero This gain has been recorded in Gain on settlement and change in fair value of contingent consideration in the

Companys consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31 2011

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill

Changes in the carrying value of goodwill were as follows in thousands

Balance at January 2009

Additions

Balance at December 31 2009

Additions

Balance at December 31 2010

Additions

Impairment

Balance at December 31 2011

Caretools MedCafe Modality Total

1120 1120

1120 1120

9620 8339 17959

1120 9620 8339 19079

1120
_____________ _____________

1120

9620 8339 17959

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009

105661 95588
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Acquired Intangible Assets

Intangible assets excluding goodwill consisted of the following in thousands

December 31 2011 December 31 2010

Gross Net Gross Net

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Amount Amortization Impairment Amount Amount Amortization Amount

Technology 11780 5015 448 6317 11780 1189 10591

Customer relationships 60 34 26 60 15 45

Trademarks and trade name 50 31 10 50 10 40

Non-compete agreement 870 423 444 870 108 762

12760 5503 486 6771 $12760 1322 11438

Amortization of intangible assets was $4.2 million $1.3 million and $3333 for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and

2009 respectively Amortization of the acquired intangible assets is reflected in cost of revenues Amortization for the years

ending December 31 2012 and 2013 is expected to be approximately $4.0 million and $2.8 million respectively

Financing Liability

In April 2007 the Company began build-out of existing office space which would become the Companys San Mateo facility

From April 2007 through September 2007 the Company incurred $4.0 million in construction costs Per the terms of the lease

with the sublandlord of the property the sublandlord would reimburse up to $2.7 million of these construction costs

When the Company signed the lease the construction of the space it would lease was unfinished There was no HVAC no

plumbing or electricity no networking capability and no internal walls or offices As such the space was not capable of being

occupied by any lessee The Company concluded that under GAAP it should be considered the owner of the construction project

for two reasons

Under the lease agreement the Company was responsible to pay for any cost overruns to make the building ready for

occupancy Per GAAP if lessees guarantee exceeds 90% of the total project costs it should be considered the owner

of the project lessees unlimited obligation to cover costs over certain amount would result in its maximum guarantee

to be in excess of 90% of the total project costs Under GAAP the probability of the lessee having to make such payments

should not be considered in performing the maximum guarantee test

Per GAAP regardless of the 90% test discussed above lessee should be considered the owner of construction project

if the lessee is responsible for paying directly any cost of the project other than normal tenant improvements Normal

tenant improvements exclude costs of structural elements of the project and any equipment that would be necessary

improvement for any lessee Under the lease agreement the Company was responsible for direct payment to the contractor

for completing the construction of the leased space

Therefore the Company capitalized the fair value of the unfinished portion of the building that it occupies of $17.6 million with

corresponding credit to financing liability pursuant to the financing method under GAAP The fair value was determined as of

May 2007 using an average of the sales comparison and income approaches In addition the Company has capitalized $4.0 million

in construction costs to complete the space Each major construction element has been capitalized and is being depreciated over

its useful life The reimbursement from the sublandlord of $2.7 million has also been recorded as financing liability as of

December 31 2007 The total amount recorded as financing liability was $20.3 million

Subsequent to the completion of construction the Company did not qualify for sale-leaseback accounting under GAAP because

of provision in the lease which constituted continuing involvement There was requirement to issue the sublandlord letter

of credit in lieu of cash security deposit The Companys bank required it to maintain restricted deposit at least equal to the

amount of the letter of credit Under GAAP providing collateral on behalf of the buyer lessor including collateralized letter

of credit constitutes continuing involvement if earlier Further financial institutions right of offset against any amounts on

deposit against letter of credit constitutes collateral Therefore the Company expected the building to remain on its books until

the earlier of the end of the lease or until the Company no longer has continuing involvement Interest
expense on the financing

obligation is recorded over the term of the obligation

Because the Company is considered the owner of the building for accounting purposes the building is being depreciated on

straight-line basis over its useful life which the Company determined to be 40 years The Company determined that certain
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improvements including plumbing electrical wiring concrete structural steel carpentry ceiling fire sprinklers and heating and

air conditioning have weighted average life of 29 years

In April 2010 the Company modified the tenns of the building lease Under the terms of the modified lease the letter of credit

was replaced with cash security deposit This provision allowed the Company to qualify for sale-leaseback accounting and to

begin accounting for the lease as an operating lease In connection with the sale-leaseback of the building the Company wrote

off the remaining asset value of the building related accumulated depreciation and the financing liability As result the Company

recorded gain on sale-leaseback of $1.7 million

Income Taxes

The Companys effective tax expense differs from the expense computed using statutory tax rates for the years ended December 31

2011 2010 and 2009 as follows in thousands

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Tax computed at the federal statutory rate 1962 3147 5056

State tax federally effected 123 744 884

Stock compensation
21 1080 718

Tax credits 780 408 381

State rate adjustment
15 763 325

Permanent differences 79 139 186

Valuation allowance 509

Other 43
_____________

Income tax benefit provision 2198 5187 6788

The benefit from provision for income taxes for the years
ended December 3120112010 and 2009 are as follows in thousands

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Current tax expense

Federal 568 1353 254

State 152 76 695

720 1429 949

Deferred tax expense

Federal 2838 2050 4690

State 80 1708 1149

2918 3758 5839

Income tax benefit provision 2198 5187 6788
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Significant components ofthe Companys deferred tax assets and liabilities from federal and state income taxes as of December 31
2011 and 2010 are as follows in thousands

December 31

2011 2010

Deferred tax assets

Net operating losses 1300 1841

Tax credits 911 355

Deferred revenue 7021 4486

Stock compensation 3718 1983

Accrued expenses 1388 1380

Total deferred tax assets 14338 10045

Valuation allowance 668 159
13670 9886

Fixed assets 2126 2282
Intangible assets 2875 1854
Net deferred tax assets 8669 5750

The Company recorded increases in the valuation allowance of approximately $0.5 million and $0.2 million as of December 31
2011 and 2010 respectively The increase in the valuation allowance in 2011 was recorded against state deferred tax assets related

to certain research and development credits for which the Company has determined it is more likely than not that such deferred

tax assets will not be realized in the future

At December 31 2011 the Company had federal and state tax net operating loss carryforwards before the valuation allowance

and before the excess tax benefit of $2.4 million and $16.0 million respectively Of these amounts $0.7 million and $3.0 million

is associated with windfall tax benefits and will be recorded as additional paid-in capital when realized The federal and state net

operating losses will begin to expire in 2019 and 2014 respectively At December 31 2011 the Company had federal and state

research tax credit carryforwards of $0.9 million and $1.3 million respectively Of these amounts $0.2 million and zero is

associated with windfall tax benefits and will be recorded as additional paid-in capital when realized The federal research credit

carryforward begins to expire in 2028 The state research credit carryforwards do not expire At December31 2011 the Company
had federal alternative minimum tax AMT credit carryforwards of $0.7 million which is associated with windfall tax benefits

and will be recorded as additional paid-in capital when realized The federal AMT credit carryforwards do not expire

As of December 31 2011 the Company had reserves and excess tax benefits totaling $1.5 million which have been reflected as

reduction to the Companys gross tax credits of $2.4 million

As of December 31 2011 the Company has deferred the recognition of its excess tax benefit from stock option exercises of $1.3

million until it is actually realized

At December31 2011 the Companys unrecognized tax benefit totaled $1.1 million of which $0.9 million if recognized would

affect the Companys effective income tax rate The Company will recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax

benefits as component of income tax expense
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The rollforward of
gross unrecognized tax benefits is as follows in thousands

Balance as of January 2009

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year

Additions for tax positions of prior years

Reductions for tax positions of prioryears

Settlements

Balance as of December 31 2009

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year

Additions for tax positions of prior years

Additions related to Modality acquisition

Reductions for tax positions of prior years

Settlements
_____________________

Balance as of December 31 2010

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year

Additions for tax positions of prior years

Reductions for tax positions of prior years

Settlements
_____________________

Balance as of December 31 2011

As of December 31 2011 the amount of interest and penalties associated with the unrecognized tax benefits were insignificant

The Company does not expect any significant increases or decreases to its unrecognized tax benefits within the next 12 months

The Company is subject to federal and state income tax in the jurisdictions in which the Company operates The tax years
that

remain subject to examination are 2008 through 2011 for federal income taxes and 2007 through 2011 for state income taxes

However to the extent allowed by law the tax authorities may have the right to examine prior periods where net operating losses

or tax credits were generated and carried forward and make adjustments up to the amount of the net operating losses or credit

carryforward amount

The Company completed an examination of its 2007 and 2008 California state tax returns during December 2010 with no

adjustment The Company is not currently under examination in any other jurisdiction

10 Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

The Company leases two office spaces
in New Jersey one in San Mateo California and one in Durham North Carolina under

non-cancellable operating leases which expire in December2012 March 2014 December 2014 and December2014 respectively

Rent expense for the years
ended December 3120112010 and 2009 was $2.5 million $2.0 million and $0.5 million respectively

Future minimum lease payments under these leases as of December31 2011 are as follows in thousands

Operating

Leases

Minimum Royalty and Content License Fee Commitments

The Companys royalty and license fee expenses
consist of fees that the Company pays to branded content owners for the use of

their intellectual property Royalty and license fee expenses are expensed as incurred

533

103

32

668

142

83

891

236

1126

Years Ending December 31

2012

2013

2014

2861

2565

1938

7364
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The Companys contracts with some licensors include minimum guaranteed royalty payments which are payable regardless of

the ultimate sales of subscriptions Because significant performance remains with the content owner including the obligation on

the part of the content owner to keep its content accurate and up to date the Company records royalty payments as liability

when incurred rather than upon execution of the agreement

Typically the terms of the Companys royalty agreements call for the Company to pay the content owner either percentage of

sales of subscription products that use such content or are based upon the number of users to subscription products that use such

content However certain royalty agreements require payment to content owners only after funds are received from the Companys
customers Payments are due within 30-45 days of the designated royalty period which is typically either three or six months

Royalty agreements require the Company to report subscription sales data and as well as data regarding the number of users for

subscription products that use such data Royalty agreements may initially be signed for multi-year terms typically two to four

years but revert to automatically renewable one-year agreements after the initial contract term expires

Actual royalty expense under such royalty agreements was $4.2 million $3.2 million and $3.2 million for the years ended

December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively Future minimum payments under various royalty and license fee agreements

with vendors as of December 31 2011 are as follows in thousands

Royalty and

Content License

Years Ending December 31 Fee Commitments

2012 4571

2013 2642

2014 1317

8530

Other Commitments

The Company has contracted with consulting firm to provide product development and content development work The Company
is committed to pay $50000 per month through December 2013 under this arrangement

Subscription Cancellation Reserve

If paid user is unsatisfied for any reason during the first 30 days of the subscription and wishes to cancel the subscription the

Company will provide full refund Refunds made by the Company under this obligation have not been material during all

periods presented and have been within managements expectations The Company maintains reserve for estimated future

returns based on historical data The provision for estimated future returns is included in other accrued liabilities

Legal Matters

On February 25 2011 the Company received letter from the SEC informing it that the SEC was conducting an investigation

and attaching subpoena for certain information and documents related to the Companys expert network services including its

relationship with Hudson Street Services Goldman Sachs Co business On January 52012 Epocrates Inc received letter

from the SEC notifying the Company that the SEC had terminated its inquiry regarding Epocrates expert network services and

that no enforcement action has been recommended

From time to time the Company may be involved in lawsuits claims investigations and proceedings consisting of intellectual

property commercial employment and other matters which arise in the ordinary course of business In accordance with GAAP
the Company records liability when it is both probable that liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be

reasonably estimated These provisions are reviewed at least quarterly and adjusted to reflect the impact of negotiations

settlements ruling advice of legal counsel and other information and events pertaining to particular case Litigation is inherently

unpredictable If any unfavorable ruling were to occur in any specific period or if loss becomes probable and estimable there

exists the possibility of material adverse impact on the Companys results of operations balance sheet or cash flows

indemnification

The Company enters into standard indemnification agreements in the ordinary course of business Pursuant to the agreements
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each party may indemnify defend and hold the other party harmless with respect to such claim suit or proceeding brought against

it by third party alleging that the indemnifying partys intellectual property infringes upon the intellectual property of the third

party or results from breach of the indemnifying partys representations and warranties or covenants or that results from any

acts of negligence or willful misconduct The term of these indemnification agreements is generally perpetual any time after

execution of the agreement The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under

these indemnification agreements is unlimited Historically the Company has not been obligated to make significant payments

for these obligations and no liabilities have been recorded for these obligations on the balance sheet as of December 31 2011 or

2010

The Company also indemnifies its officers and directors for certain events or occurrences subject to certain limits while the

officer is or was serving at the Companys request in such capacity The maximum amount of potential future indemnification is

unlimited however the Company has Director and Officer Insurance Policy that limits its exposure
and enables the Company

to recover portion of any future amounts paid Historically the Company has not been obligated to make any payments for

these obligations and no liabilities have been recorded for these obligations on the balance sheet as of December 31 2011 or

2010

Other Contingencies

The Company is subject to claims and assessments from time to time in the ordinary course of business The Companys

management does not believe that any such matters individually or in the aggregate will have material adverse effect on the

Companys financial position results of operations or cash flows

11 Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

On February 2011 the Companys registration statement on Form S-i for its IPO was declared effective by the SEC and on

February 2011 the Company closed its IPO As result of the IPO the Companys mandatorily redeemable convertible

preferred stock was automatically converted into common stock

The following table summarizes information related to the Companys mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred stock prior

to conversion into common stock in thousands except par value

Proceeds

Net of

Shares Shares Liquidation tssuance

Series Par Value Authorized Outstanding Preference Costs

0.001 5050 4195 4195 4150

0.001 6250 6217 64830 35455

0.001 4004 2730 4348 4302

15304 13142 73373 43907

The Series and mandatonly redeemable convertible preferred stock converted on 10.786 basis into common stock while

the Series mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred stock converted on 10.908 basis

Dividends

Holders of Series Stock are entitled to receive dividends in preference to the holders of Series Stock Series Stock and

common stock at the simple rate of 8% of the original issue price of $5.71 on each outstanding share of Series Stock The

dividends are cumulative and shall be payable in cash or stock as determined by the Board of Directors only upon any

consolidation or merger of the Company in which in excess of 50% of the Companys voting power is transferred the sale lease

or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company upon the automatic conversion in connection with

either an initial public offering or the requisite vote of the outstanding preferred stock or upon the first redemption date The

Company accrued dividends related to Series Stock of $2.8 million for the
year

ended December 31 2010 and $0.3 million

for the three month period ended March 31 2011 From the proceeds of the IPO aggregate cumulative dividends of $29.6 million

were paid in full to the holders of the Companys Series preferred stock

Convertible Prefrrred Stock Warrants

In June 2000 the Company had issued warrant to purchase 18214 shares of Series stock at $5.71 per share Outstanding
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warrants were classified as liabilities which were adjusted to fair value at each reporting period until the earlier of their exercise

or expiration or the completion of liquidation event including the completion of an IPO The Company recorded decrease to

general and administrative expense of$ 15549 for the
year

ended December 312009 and an increase to general and administrative

expense of $32752 for the year ended December 31 2010 to reflect change in the fair value of these outstanding warrants

Upon the consummation of the IPO in February 2011 the preferred stock warrant was automatically converted to warrant to

purchase shares of common stock in accordance with the terms of the warrant agreement and the warrant was reclassified to

stockholders equity

12 Common Stock

As of December 31 2011 and 2010 the Company was authorized to issue 100 million and 30.1 million shares of $0.00 par

value common stock respectively Reserved shares of common stock were as follows in thousands

Warrants

Options

Restricted stock units

Mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred stock

Total outstanding

December 31

2011 2010

17 17

4684 7403

137 168

11089

4838 18677

Repurchase of Common Stock

Common Stock Warrants

13 Equity Award Plans

During the year ended December 31 2010 certain individuals including current employees former employees and former

directors entered into binding agreements to sell common stock held by them to one of various accredited investors During the

year ended December 31 2010 the Company exercised its right of first refusal for an additional 0.4 million shares at contracted

prices ranging from $6.42 to $11.43 for an aggregate purchase price of $3.5 million The shares repurchased were subsequently

retired In connection with the retirement of these shares $2.6 million representing the difference between the repurchase price

and the average original issuance price of the retired shares was recorded to accumulated deficit

Upon the consummation of the IPO in February 2011 the preferred stock warrant was automatically converted to warrant to

purchase shares of common stock in accordance with the terms of the warrant agreement and the warrant was reclassified to

stockholders equity At December 31 2011 there were 16540 common stock warrants outstanding at an exercise price of $6.29

In August 1999 the Companys Board of Directors adopted and the stockholders approved the 1999 Stock Option Plan 1999

Plan In May 2009 the Board of Directors adopted and the stockholders approved an amendment and restatement of the 1999

Plan the 2008 Equity Incentive Plan 2008 Plan In July 2010 the Companys Board of Directors adopted the 2010 Equity

Incentive Plan 2010 Plan and collectively the Plans The 2010 Plan was most recently amended by the Board of Directors

on December 22 2010 and was approved by the Companys stockholders on January 2011 The 2010 Plan became effective

upon the completion of the IPO Awards granted after May 2009 but before the adoption of the 2010 Plan continue to be governed

by the 2008 Plan All outstanding stock awards granted prior to May 2009 continue to be governed by the terms of the Companys

1999 Plan

The Plans provide for the grant of incentive stock options under the federal tax laws and non-statutory stock options Only

employees may receive incentive stock options but non-statutory stock options may be granted to employees non-employee

directors and consultants The exercise price of incentive stock options may not be less than 100% of the fair market value of the

Companys common stock on the date of grant The exercise price of non-statutory stock options may not be less than 85% of

the fair market value of the Companys common stock on the date of grant Shares subject to options under the Plans generally

vest in series of installments over an optionees period of service generally four years The 2008 Plan provides for the grant

of restricted stock units to employees

The term of options granted under the Plans may not exceed ten years Unless the terms of an optionees stock option agreement

provide otherwise if an optionees service relationship with the Company or any of its affiliates ceases for any reason other
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than disability or death the optionee may exercise the vested portion of any options for three months after the date of such

termination If an optionees service relationship with the Company or any of its affiliates ceases due to disability or death or

an optionee dies within certain period following cessation of service the optionee or beneficiary may exercise any vested

options for period of 12 months in the event of disability and 18 months in the event of death In no event however may an

option be exercised beyond the expiration of its term

As of December 31 2011 the Company had reserved approximately 6.5 million shares of common stock for issuance under the

Plans

summary of activity under the Plans for the years ended December31 2009 2010 and 2011 is as follows in thousands except

weighted average
exercise price

Options Outstanding

Weighted Weighted

Number Average Average Aggregate

of Exercise Contractual Intrinsic

Options Price Term Years Value

Balances January 12009 4210 5.85 6.96 31211

Granted 2319 11.28

Forfeited cancelled or expired 318 10.83

Exercised 293 3.21

Balances December 31 2009 5918 7.89 7.26 18790

Options vested and expected to vest at December 31 2009 5718 7.77 7.18 18762

Options exercisable at December 31 2009 3017 4.97 5.39 17205

Granted 1629 13.39

Forfeited cancelled or expired 636 10.73

Exercised 664 4.04

Balances December 31 2010 6247 9.44 7.23 28424

Options vested and expected to vest at December 31 2010 5957 9.27 7.12 28141

Options exercisable at December 31 2010 3348 6.82 5.67 24007

Granted 527 15.08

Forfeited cancelled or expired 1006 12.53

Exercised 1084 3.22

Balances December 31 2011 4684 10.85 5.32 4318

Options vested and expected to vest at December 31 2011 4524 10.73 5.19 4318

Options exercisable at December 31 2011 3328 9.83 3.95 4317

The intrinsic value of options exercised during the years
ended December 3120112010 and 2009 was $9.2 million $7.9 million

and $3.5 million respectively The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted for the years ended December 31

2011 2010 and 2009 was $6.96 $5.96 and $5.11 respectively

70



The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding as of December 31 2011 in thousands except

weighted average exercise price

Options Outstanding Options Vested

Weighted

Average Weighted Weighted

Remaining Average Average

Exercise Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise

Price Outstanding Life Years Price Exercisable Price

$0.20-$5.50 818 2.89 2.77 818 2.77

$5.80-$10.17 924 6.04 9.31 603 9.28

$10.8l-$12.1l 902 2.27 12.08 836 12.10

$13.17-$l3.26 590 4.48 13.24 553 13.24

$l3.36-$13.99 1193 8.26 13.62 453 13.51

$16.00-$22.97 257 9.40 19.40 65 19.88

4684 5.32 10.85 3328 9.83

Restricted Stock Units

The Company grants RSUs to its employees under the 2008 Plan The value of RSUs granted is determined using the fair value

of the Companys common stock on the date of grant RSUs typically vest in monthly installments over period of three to four

years but are released only after all RSUs have been vested on date of the employees choosing Compensation expense is

recorded ratably on straight-line basis over the requisite service period The following table summarizes all RSU activity for

the years ended December 31 2009 2010 and 2011 in thousands except weighted average grant date fair value

Weighted

Average
Number of Remaining

RSUs Contractual Aggregate

Outstanding Life in years Intrinsic Value

Balances at January 2009

Granted 100

Forfeited or canceled 38
Released 13
Balances at December 31 2009 49 2.49 506

RSUs vested and expected to vest at December 31 2009 41 2.21 416

Awarded 149

Forfeited or canceled 30
Balances at December 31 2010 168 2.67 2346

RSUs vested and expected to vest at December 31 2010 119 2.65 1663

Awarded 20

Released 17
Forfeited or canceled 34
Balances at December 31 2011 137 1.74 1072

RSUs vested and expected to vest at December 31 2011 122 1.70 798

The fair value of option and RSU grants that vested during the
years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 was $6.5 million

$5.8 million and $3.9 million respectively
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14 Stock-Based Compensation

The following table summarizes all stock-based compensation charges for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

in thousands

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Stock-based compensation expense
7805 5962 4760

Amortization of deferred stock-based compensation
14

Stock-based compensation associated with outstanding repriced options 463 394 240

Total stock-based compensation 7342 6356 4534

Included in the stock-based compensation expense is charge of approximately $1.5 million for the year ended December 31

2011 relating to modification of the vesting or exercise terms of the stock options held by certain directors who have resigned

from the Board of Directors and certain employees who have resigned from the Company

For stock options and restricted stock units granted on or after January 2006 stock based compensation cost is measured at

grant date based on the fair value of the award and is expensed over the requisite service period For grants prior to the January

2006 the Company continues to recognize compensation expense on the remaining unvested awards under the intrinsic value

method

The Company uses the Black- Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of options and restricted stock units This

model requires the input ofhighly subjective assumptions including the expected term of the option expected stock price volatility

and expected forfeitures The Company used the following assumptions

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010

Dividend yield

Expected volatility
50%-60% 1%-52%

Risk-free interest rate
0.9%-2.1% .2%-2.3%

Expected life of options in years 4.7-5.0 4.5-4.75

Weighted average grant date fair value $6.96 $5.96

The assumptions above are based on multiple factors including historical exercise patterns of relatively homogeneous groups

with respect to exercise and post-vesting termination behaviors expected future exercising patterns for these same homogeneous

groups and the volatility of similar public companies in terms of type ofbusiness industry stage of life cycle size and geographical

market The risk-free interest rate for the expected term of the option is based on the U.S Treasury Constant Maturity Rate as of

the date of grant

Cash proceeds from the exercise of stock options were $3.5 million $2.7 million and $0.9 million for the
years

ended December 31

2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

Compensation expense
is recognized ratably over the requisite service period At December 31 2011 there was $6.7 million of

unrecognized compensation cost related to options and $0.9 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to RSUs which

is expected to be recognized over weighted average period of 3.0 years
and 2.6 years respectively

For options that are exercised after they are vested and for RSUs that are released the Companys policy is to issue new shares

immediately upon exercise or release The issuance of these new shares is from the Companys pool of common stock reserved

for future issuance as approved by the Companys stockholders As of December 312011 the Company had reserved 6.5 million

shares of common stock for issuance under the Plans

Stock Based Compensation Associated With Outstanding Rep riced Options

In November 2003 the Companys Board of Directors approved stock option repricing program Under this program eligible

employees could elect to exchange certain outstanding stock options with an exercise price greater than or equal to $1.00 for

new option to purchase the same number of shares of common stock As of the cancellation date the Company had accepted
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0.7 million shares for exchange and 0.7 million stock options were granted six months and one day after they were exchanged

for an average exercise price of $0.32

Because of the subsequent reassessment of the fair market value of the common stock the options repriced became subject to

variable accounting which requires all such vested options repriced be marked to market until such options are cancelled expire

or are exercised For the year ended December 31 2011 the Company recorded decrease to expense of $0.5 million related to

these repriced options The Company recorded an increase to expense related to these repriced options of $0.4 million during the

year ended December 31 2010 The impact of the change in fair value related to repricing during the year ended December 31
2009 was reduction to expense of $0.2 million

15 Employee Benefit Plans

The Company sponsors 401k defined contribution plan covering all employees The Board of Directors determines

contributions made by the Company annually The Company made no contributions under this plan for the years ended

December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

16 Segment Information

Historically the Company was organized as one segment Beginning in 2010 the Company organized its operations into two

operating segments Subscriptions and Interactive Services and Electronic Health Records Both segments market their services

to clients in the healthcare pharmaceutical and insurance industries primarily located within the United States All of the

Companys long-lived assets are located in the United States

The Company presents its segment information along the same lines that its Chief Operating Decision Maker CODMreviews

the Companys operating results in assessing performance and allocating resources The Company does not allocate certain

expenses to its segments such as stock based compensation and certain general and administrative marketing and research and

development expenses that benefit both segments These costs are reported as other unallocated corporate costs in the tables

below The Companys CODM does not review asset information on segment basis and therefore no such information is

presented

To date the Company has not generated significant revenue from its EHR offering In early 2012 management determined that

the forecasted revenues from and the projected subscribers for the EHR had not materialized and that the costs to develop continue

to enhance and support the EHR offering had significant adverse effect on its operating margin in 2011 On February 24 2012
the Board of Directors of Epocrates approved the discontinuation of further development of Epocrates EHR Epocrates will

explore strategic alternatives for the EHR but has only just begun to identify the potential market and options for the EHR and

therefore the Companys EHR assets and results at December 31 2011 are considered held and used in accordance with U.S

GAAP In connection with this decision Epocrates recorded an impairment charge of approximately $8.5 million in its fourth

quarter of 2011 which represents the write-down of the carrying value of the goodwill intangible and other long-lived assets

related to the EHR product to their estimated fair value of zero This charge is recorded in Impairment of Long-lived Assets and

Goodwill in its consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31 2011

Once the criteria for reporting assets as held for sale under GAAP are met the Company will begin reporting the EHR business

as discontinued operation in its consolidated financial statements The Company expects that it will begin reporting EHR as

discontinued operation in its first quarter of 2012 Form 10-Q
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The following tables summarize the Companys operating results by reportable segment for the years
ended December31 2011

and 2010 in thousands

Subscriptions and Electronic

Year ended December 31 2011 Interactive Services Health Records Total

Net revenue 113321 25 113346

Segment income loss from operations 38229 14084 24145

Unallocated items

Stock-based compensation
7342

Other unallocated corporate costs 22832

Loss from operations
6029

Interest income 75

Other income 183

Loss before income taxes 5771

Subscriptions and Electronic

Year ended December 31 2010 interactive Services Health Records Total

Net revenue 103988 103988

Segment income loss from operations 42413 8021 34392

Unallocated items

Stock-based compensation 6356

Other unallocated corporate costs 20614

Income from operations
7422

Interest income 93

Interest expense
214

Gain on sale-leaseback of building
1689

Income before income taxes 8990

The segment income loss from operations figures reported above represent income loss from operations before stock- based

compensation general and administrative expenses and certain marketing and research and development expenses

17 Related Party Transactions

The Company recorded revenue from three advertising agencies whose parent companys chief executive officer is member of

the Epocrates Board of Directors The Companyrecordedrevenue from these entities of$5 million $0.3 million and $1.5 million

for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively There were accounts receivable from this entity of

approximately $1.0 million and zero as of December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively

The Company recorded revenue from an affiliate of an investment banking firm whose representative is former member of the

Epocrates Board of Directors The Company recorded revenue from this entity of approximately $0.1 million $0.2 million and

$0.1 million for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively There were no accounts receivable from this

entity as of December 31 2011 and 2010 The Company also paid fees for customer referrals to this firm for the years ended

December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 these fees were immaterial There were no accounts payable and an insignificant amount of

accounts payable to this entity as of December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively

The Company recorded revenue from pharmaceutical company who has director who is also member of the Companys

Board of Directors The Company recorded revenue from this company of $0.2 million for each of the years
ended December 31

2011 2010 and 2009 respectively There was an insignificant amount of accounts receivable for this entity as of December 31

2011 and 2010 respectively

18 Subsequent Event

On February 24 2012 the Board of Directors of Epocrates approved the discontinuation of further development of Epocrates
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EHR product The Board of Directors made this determination in order to focus Epocrates efforts on its core business

Subscriptions and Interactive Services and due to the future uncertainty and ongoing investment required for the EHR product

to remain competitive Epocrates will explore strategic alternatives for the EHR product In connection with this decision

Epocrates recorded an impairment charge of approximately $8.5 million in its fourth quarter of 2011 which represents the write-

down of the canying value of the long-lived assets and goodwill related to the EHR product fair value which was determined

to be zero This charge is recorded in Impairment of Long-lived Assets and Goodwill in the Companys consolidated statements

of operations for the year ended December 31 2011

Item Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Our management with the participation of our Interim Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer evaluated the

effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31 2011 The term disclosure controls and procedures

as defined in Rules 3a- 15e and Sd- 15e under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange Act means

controls and other procedures of company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by company

in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time

periods specified in the SECs rules and forms Disclosure controls and procedures include without limitation controls and

procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by company in the reports that it files or submits under

the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the companys management including its principal executive and principal

financial officers as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure Management recognizes that any controls

and procedures no matter how well designed and operated can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives

and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures

Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31 2011 our Interim Chief Executive Officer

and Chief Financial Officer concluded that as of such date our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable

assurance level

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in

Rules 3a- 15f and Sd-i 5f under the Exchange Act Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles Our internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of its assets

ii provide reasonable assurance that transactions arc recorded as necessary to permit preparation of consolidated financial

statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures are being

made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors and

iiiprovide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of any unauthorized acquisition use or disposition

of our assets that could have material effect on the consolidated financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also

projections of any evaluation of internal control effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

Our management has assessed the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 In

making this assessment our management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission COSO in Internal Control Integrated Framework Based on this evaluation our management has concluded

that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31 2011

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP the independent registered public accounting firm that audited our financial statements included

in this report has not issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December

31 2011 because we are non-accelerated filer
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by

Rule 3a- 15d and 5d- 15d of the Exchange Act that occurred during the fourth quarter ended December 31 2011 that has

materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting

Item 9B Other Information

None

PART Ill

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Board of Directors

The Board of Directors the Board currently has seven members The following are our directors names and ages as of March

12012

Name Age Position

Peter Brandt 54 Interim President and Chief Executive Officer CEO Director

Patrick Jones 67 Chairman of the Board

Philippe Chambon M.D Ph.D 53 Director

Gary Greenfield 57 Director

Thomas Harrison 64 Director

Erick Tseng 32 Director

Mark Wan 46 Director

Peter Brand has served on our Board since February 2011 and has served as our Interim President and Chief Executive

Officer since November 16 2011 Since September 2009 Mr Brandt has been serving on the Boards of Directors for various

healthcare companies From April 2008 to August 2009 Mr Brandt served as President and CEO of Noven Pharmaceuticals

Inc specialty pharmaceutical company where he was responsible for the overall management of the company From May 2007

to April 2008 Mr Brandt served as consultant for various healthcare companies From January 2006 to May 2007 Mr Brandt

served as President of U.S Pharmaceutical Operations of Pfizer Inc biomedical and pharmaceutical company and as President

of Latin American Pharmaceutical Operations and Senior Vice President of Global Pharmaceuticals overseeing Finance

Information Technology Planning and Business Development departments as well as the Pfizer Health Solutions department

from January 2004 to December 2005 Mr Brandt holds B.A from the University of Connecticut and an M.B.A from Columbia

University Mr Brandt previously served on the Board of Directors of Noven Pharmaceuticals Inc and currently serves as

director of Rexahn Pharmaceuticals Inc and Auxilium Pharmaceuticals Inc The Nominating Committee believes that Mr

Brandts extensive experience in the pharmaceutical industry and financial matters makes him valuable member of the Board

Mr Brandi was identified by recruiter and elected to the Board to fill vacancy created by the resignation of member of the

Board and prior to his appointment as Interim President and CEO to serve as member of our Audit Committee

Patrick Jones has served on our Board since October 2005 Mr Jones has been private investor since March 2001 From

June 1998 to March 2001 Mr Jones was the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer CFOof Gemplus International

S.A manufacturer of smart cards for banking retail security and telecommunications From 1992 to May 1998 Mr Jones

was Vice President Finance and Corporate Controller for Intel Corporation Mr Jones holds B.A from the University of Illinois

and an M.B.A from St Louis University Mr Jones also serves as Chairman of the Board of Lattice Semiconductor Inc and

serves as director of Fluidigm Inc Openwave Systems Inc and several private companies Mr Jones previously served as

director for Novell The Nominating Committee believes that Mr Jones extensive financial management and corporate governance

expertise make him valuable memberof the Board Mr Jones was identified by recruiter and was elected to the Board in an

effort to expand the size of the Board and provide additional experience and skills to the Board as it existed at that time

76



Philippe Chambon MD Ph.D has served on our Board since August 2000 Since July 2005 Dr Chambon has served as

Managing Director of New Leaf Venture Partners LLC venture capital firm spun off from Sprout Group the venture capital

affiliate of Credit Suisse Dr Chambon joined Sprout Group in May 1995 and became General Partner in January 1997 From

May 1993 to April 1995 Dr Chambon served as Manager in the healthcare practice ofThe Boston Consulting Group consulting
firm From September 1987 to April 1993 Dr Chambon served as Executive Director of New Product Management for Sandoz

Pharmaceutical Inc pharmaceutical company Dr Chambon holds an M.D and Ph.D from the University of Pans and an

M.B.A from Columbia University Dr Chambon also serves as director NxStage Medical Inc and several private biotechnology

companies Dr Chambon previously served as director of Auxilium Pharmaceuticals Inc from 2003 to 2011 and of Pharsight

Corporation from 1993 until 2007 The Nominating Committee believes that Dr Chambons leadership corporate governance
strategic capital market and small company build-up experience within the healthcare technology sector make him valuable

member of the Board Dr Chambon joined our Board at the request of and in connection with the investment in our stock by
entities affiliated with Sprout Group

Gary Greenfield has served on our Board since August 2011 Mr Greenfield is currently the Chairman and CEO of Avid

Technology Inc world leader in designing and pioneering content creation media production and broadcast solutions Mr
Greenfield has served as CEO of various divisions ofAvid since 2007 Prior to Avid Mr Greenfield served as CEO at GXS Inc

provider of business-to-business integration synchronization and collaboration solutions from December 2003 to December

2007 During the same period he also served as an Operating Partner with Francisco Partners technology-focused private

equity firm Prior to that Mr Greenfield served as CEO at Peregrine Systems Inc where he grew businesses both organically

and through acquisition and served diverse customers ranging from small businesses to the Fortune 500 Mr Greenfield also

serves as director of Vocus Inc and previously served as director of Novell Inc Mr Greenfield holds Bachelor of Science

from the U.S Naval Academy Master of Science Administration from George Washington University and an M.B.A from

Harvard Business School The Nominating Committee believes that Mr Greenfields proven leadership in high technology and

media as well as his significant operational experience makes him valuable member of the Board

Thomas Harrison has served on our Board since January 2002 Since May 1998 Mr Harrison has served as Chairman and

CEO of the Diversified Agency Services Inc division of Omnicom Group Inc an advertising and marketing company Mr
Harrison holds an honorary doctorate and an M.S from West Virginia University Mr Harrison also serves as director ofMorgans
Hotel Group The Nominating Committee believes that Mr Harrisons communications and marketing experience as well as his

independence and familiarity with the pharmaceutical industry make him valuable member of the Board Mr Harrison was
referred by one of our employees to our CEO who in turn recommended him to become member of the Board

ErickN Tseng has served on our Board since August2011 Since May2010 Mr Tseng has served as the Head of Mobile Products

for Facebook Inc social media company From August 2006 to May 2010 Mr Tseng was the Lead Product Manager for

Android at Google where he was responsible for the development and launch ofAndroid Googles open-source mobile operating

system Prior to joining Google Mr Tseng was an Associate at McKinsey Company He has also held various engineering and

product management positions at Microsoft and Yahoo Mr Tseng currently serves as Board Adviser at HealthTap Inc where

he advises on product management and mobile issues Mr Tseng holds B.S and Masters degree in Computer Science

Electrical Engineering from Massachusetts Institute ofTechnology and an M.B.A from the Stanford Graduate School of Business

The Nominating Committee believes that Mr Tsengs proven track record of mobile innovation and expertise in user engagement
makes him valuable member of the Board

Mark Wan has served on our Board since September 1999 Mr Wan co-founded Three Arch Partners venture capital firm
in 1993 Mr Wan holds B.S in engineering and B.A in economics from Yale University and an M.B.A from the Stanford

Graduate School of Business Mr Wan also serves as director ofAcelRx Pharmaceuticals Inc Biosensors International Group
Ltd and several private medical companies The Nominating Committee believes that Mr Wans experience in the financial

markets and his extensive knowledge of Epocrates having been director since 1999 position him to bring historical knowledge
and continuity to the Board Mr Wan joined our Board at the request of and in connection with the investment in our stock by
entities affiliated with Three Arch Partners

Executive Officers of the Registrant

Information regarding our executive officers is disclosed under the heading Executive Officers of the Registrant in Item

Business

Information Regarding the Audit Committee

Our Audit Committee is composed of Messrs Greenfield and Jones each of whom is non-employee memberof our Board Mr
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Jones is the Chairman of the Audit Committee The Board has determined that Mr Jones is an audit committee financial expert

as defined under the Securities and Exchange Commission SECrules and regulations As result of Mr Brandts appointment

as Interim President and Chief Executive Officer and department from the Audit Committee we are not in compliance with the

Audit Committee composition requirements of NASDAQ Listing Rule 5605c2A We are relying on the exemption afforded

by NASDAQ Listing Rule 506c4B We believe that the composition of our Audit Committee meets the requirements for

independence and financial sophistication under the current requirements of the NASDAQ listing standards with the exception

cited above and SEC rules and regulations In addition our Audit Committee has the specific responsibilities and authority

necessary to comply with the current requirements of the NASDAQ listing standards and SEC rules and regulations We intend

to comply with future requirements to the extent they become applicable to us

Epocrates is currently not in compliance with NASDAQ audit requirements set forth in Listing Rule 5605 That rule requires at

least three independent Board members to serve on the Audit Committee In order to not be delisted from NASDAQ we must

cure this deficiency on or before May 14 2012 six months from when Mr Brandt became the Interim President and CEO and

stepped down from the Audit Committee

Stockholder Recommendations for Nominations of Directors

At this time the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee does not have policy with regard to the consideration of

director candidates recommended by stockholders The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee believes that it is in

the best position to identify review evaluate and select qualified candidates for Board membership based upon the comprehensive

criteria for Board membership approved by the Board

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

Epocrates has adopted Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all officers directors and employees The Code of

Business Conduct and Ethics is available on Epocrates website at http//investor.epocrates.comlgOVerflaflce.cflTI If Epocrates

makes any substantive amendments to the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics or grants any waiver from provision of the

Code to any executive officer or director Epocrates will promptly disclose the nature of the amendment or waiver on its website

Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16a of the Exchange Act requires Epocrates directors and executive officers and persons who own more than ten

percent of registered class of Epocrates equity securities to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and reports of changes

in ownership of common stock and other equity securities of Epocrates Officers directors and greater-than-ten percent

stockholders are required by SEC regulation to furnish Epocrates with copies of all Section 16a forms they file

To Epocrates knowledge based solely on review of the copies of such reports furnished to Epocrates during the fiscal year

ended December 31 2011 all Section 16a filing requirements applicable to its officers directors and greater-than-ten percent

beneficial owners were complied with except for one late Form filing for Matthew Kaminer

Item 11 Executive Compensation

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION AND RELATED INFORMATION

COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In April 2011 we held stockholder advisory vote on the compensation of our named executive officers NEOs Our

stockholders overwhelmingly approved on an advisory basis the compensation of our NEOs with over 98% of stockholder

votes cast in favor of our Say on Pay resolution In evaluating our compensation practices during fiscal year 2011 we were

mindful of the strong support our stockholders expressed for our philosophy of linking compensation to our operating and

organizational objectives and the enhancement of stockholder value As result our Compensation Committee retained our

general approach to executive compensation and continued to apply the same general principles and philosophy as in the prior

fiscal year
in determining executive compensation Our Compensation Committee will continue to consider stockholder concerns

and feedback in the future
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Introduction

This Compensation Discussion and Analysis provides information regarding our compensation programs and policies for the

NEOs

Name Title

Peter Brandt Interim President and Chief Executive Officer CEO
Patrick Spangler Chief Financial Officer CFO
Matthew Kaminer General Counsel and Secretary

David Burlington ChiefOperations Officer

Heather Gervais Senior Vice President Commercial Operations

Rosemary Crane Former President and CEO

Joseph Kleine Former Chief Commercial Officer

Compensation philosophy and objectives

We believe that compensation of our NEOs should

provide means for us to attract retain and reward high-quality executives who will contribute to the long-term success

of Epocrates

inspire our executive officers to achieve our business objectives

encourage our executive officers to work as team and

align the financial interests of the executive officers with those of the stockholders

To achieve these objectives we generally use mix of compensation elements including base salary annual cash incentives

time-based stock options and restricted stock units performance-based stock options employee benefits and limited perquisites

and severance and change-of-control benefits

While the Compensation Committee or the Board as applicable reviews the total compensation package for each of our executive

officers in connection with the decisions it makes each year regarding each individual element of compensation the amount of

each element of compensation awarded is also assessed independent of the amount of any other one element awarded In

determining the amount and form of these compensation elements we may consider number of factors including the following

compensation levels paid by companies in our peer group with particular focus on having the cash and equity

compensation at between the 50th and 75th percentile of that of similarly-situated officers employed by those peer

companies as we believe this approach helps us to compete in hiring and retaining the best possible talent while at the

same time maintaining reasonable and responsible cost structure

corporate and/or individual performance as we believe this
encourages our executives to focus on achieving our business

objectives

the need to motivate executives to address particular business challenges that are unique to any given year

internal pay equity of the compensation paid to one NEO as compared to another as we believe this contributes to

retention and spirit of teamwork among our executives while recognizing that compensation opportunities should

increase based on increased levels of responsibility as between executive officers

the potential dilutive effect on our stockholders generally from equity awards

broader economic conditions in order to ensure that our pay strategies are effective yet responsible and
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individual negotiations with executives particularly in connection with their initial compensation package as these

executives may be leaving meaningful compensation opportunities at their prior employer in order to come work for

us as well as upon their departures as we recognize the benefit to our stockholders of seamless transitions

Role of the Compensation Committee in setting executive compensation

Our Compensation Committee is generally responsible for

determining reviewing modifying and approving the compensation and other terms of employment of our executive

officers

reviewing and approving corporate performance goals and objectives relevant to such compensation and compensation

of senior management

administering our equity and cash-based incentive plans and recommending to the Board the adoption amendment and

termination of such plans

establishing policies with respect to equity compensation arrangements and

reviewing and approving the terms of any employment agreements severance arrangements change-of-control

protections and any other compensatory arrangements
for our executive officers

However the Compensation Committee may at its discretion and in accordance with the philosophy of making all information

available to the Board present executive compensation matters to the entire Board for its review and approval In addition our

Compensation Committees authority in respect of CEO compensation is limited to recommending compensation to the Board

for its approval

As part of its deliberations in any given year
the Compensation Committee may review and consider materials such as company

financial reports and projections operational data tax and accounting information projection of the total compensation that may

become payable to executives in various hypothetical scenarios executive stock ownership information analyses of historical

executive compensation levels and current company-wide compensation levels and the recommendations of the CEO and the

Compensation Committees independent compensation consultant

Role of our management

Our Human Resources Finance and Legal Departments work with our CEO and the Compensation Committees compensation

consultant to design and develop compensation programs applicable to NEOs and other senior management to recommend

changes to existing compensation programs to recommend financial and other performance targets to be achieved under those

programs to prepare analyses of financial data peer comparisons and other Compensation Committee briefing materials and

ultimately to implement the decisions of the Compensation Committee Members of our Human Resources Finance and Legal

Departments attend Compensation Committee meetings and provide background on materials presented to the Compensation

Committee Members of these departments and our CEO also meet separately with the Compensation Committees consultant

to convey information on proposals that management may make to the Compensation Committee as well as to allow the consultants

to collect information about Epocrates to develop their own proposals

For executives other than the CEO the Compensation Committee solicits and considers the performance evaluations and

compensation recommendations submitted to the Compensation Committee by the CEO In the case ofthe CEO the Compensation

Committee facilitates the evaluation of his or her performance assisted by the Chairman of the Board and determines whether

to recommend to the Board any adjustments to the CEOs compensation

Role of our compensation consultant

In connection with making its recommendations for executive compensation for 2011 Epocrates continued its engagement with

Towers Watson to act as our compensation consultant with respect to executive and Board compensation matters The

Compensation Committee directed Towers Watson to provide its analysis of whether our existing compensation strategy and

practices were consistent with our compensation objectives and to assist the Compensation Committee in modifying our

compensation program for executive officers in order to better achieve our objectives As part of its duties Towers Watson

provided only the following services
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reviewed and provided recommendations on composition of the peer groups

provided compensation data for employees at our peer group companies as well as from published surveys

conducted review of the compensation arrangements for all of our executive officers including providing advice on

the design and structure of our annual management bonus plan

conducted review of our equity compensation program including an analysis of equity mix aggregate share
usage

and target grant levels

conducted review of Board member compensation and provided market data and summaries to the Nominating

Committee and Compensation Committee regarding Board pay structure and

updated the Compensation Committee on emerging trends/best practices in the area of executive compensation

During 2011 the Compensation Committee met from time to time with Towers Watson with management present and in separate

meetings including executive sessions during committee meetings Our General Counsel CFO and members of our Human

Resources department worked with Towers Watson as directed by the Compensation Committee to provide any information

Towers Watson required in order to provide its services

Benchmarking of compensation

Source of data As with many companies our Compensation Committee or our Board as applicable generally discussed

compensation levels in the context of the experiences and individual knowledge of each Board member as well as against

comparable market data for our peer group In addition the Compensation Committee and the Board as applicable considered

several peer company data sources in determining the annual compensation for our executive officers including the Radford

High-Tech Industry Executive and Benchmark Surveys the Bay Area 150 Tech Survey and public filings by companies selected

as part of our peer group

Peer group composition In February 2010 Towers Watson worked with the Compensation Committee and executive management

to propose group of peer companies for the Compensation Committees use in evaluating 2010 compensation At that time the

Compensation Committee approved the following companies based on the recommendations of Towers Watson as our peer

group of companies for purposes of evaluating 2010 compensation and making pay decisions

Amicas Medassets Quality Systems

athenahealth Medidata Solutions Transcend Services

Computer Programs and Systems Mediware Information Systems Vital Images

Health Grades Merge Healthcare WebMD Health

Healthstream Phase Forward

Icad QuadraMed

These companies were chosen because they were generally similar to us in terms of industry healthcare technology revenue

generally one-half to two times our size with any outliers being close to industry peers growth trajectory as represented by

revenue margin and cash flow geographic location Silicon Valley andlor competition for the same group of executive talent

Between February 2010 and August 2011 our peer group decreased due to acquisitions In August 2011 Towers Watson worked

with the Compensation Committee and executive management to evaluate the remaining peer group and recommend additions

to it At that time the Compensation Committee approved the following companies based on the recommendations of Towers

Watson as our peer group of companies for purposes of evaluating compensation and making pay decisions

Computer Programs and Systems Mediware Information Systems Transcend Services

Healthstream Merge Healthcare WebMD Health

Icad Omnicell

Medassets PDI

Medidata Solutions Quality Systems

We added PDI and Omnicell to the remaining members of our original peer group based on the following considerations market

capitalization industry profitability and growth complexity productlservice diversity and geographic scope
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Compensation positioning and compensation allocations In general the Compensation Committee in line with our philosophy

aimed to provide for base salaries at the 50th percentile and target total cash and equity compensation at the 75th percentile of the

compensation paid to similarly-situated executive officers employed by the peer group companies for target level performance

The Compensation Committee also reviewed typical ownership percentages
of similarly-situated public and pre-IPO companies

for executive officers individually and in total for the company In trying to achieve this positioning the Compensation Committee

did not have rigid pre-set allocation of compensation as between the various elements of compensation in our executive

compensation program but generally assessed the various compensation elements as follows

annual cash compensation targeted at the 50th to 75th percentile for our public company peer group companies and

target equity compensation at the 50th to 75th percentile to the extent doing so did not cause unreasonable dilution for

public and pre-IPO companies that approximate our size and stage of life

In determining equity compensation the Compensation Committee considered the total equity ownership of each individual

relative to comparable positions in peer companies and the extent to which the individuals equity had vested New grants were

made taking into consideration the individuals ownership levels as well as the estimated Black-Scholes value based on the fair

market value of our stock around the time the committee met Since incentive cash and equity awards have both upside opportunities

and downside risks the target percentages set at the beginning of fiscal
year may not equal the compensation actually earned

under these awards

Our Compensation Committee believes targeting total cash and equity compensation at the 75th percentile for our peer group is

necessary in order to achieve the primary objectives described above of our executive compensation program However as

noted above under Compensation philosophy and objectives benchmarking is just reference point Other factors such as

economic conditions performance internal pay equity and individual negotiations play an important role with respect to the

compensation offered to any executive in any given year We believe this approach helps us to compete in hiring and retaining

the best possible talent while at the same time maintaining reasonable and responsible cost structure
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Reasons forproviding and manner of structuring the key compensation elements in 2011

Elements of compensation The table below outlines which factors were material to the decisions of the Compensation Committee

when determining compensation for our NEOs in 2011 and the reasons such element of compensation is provided

Material factors considered in 2011 in

Compensation element determining amount Objective

Base salary
Board members experience and Attract and retain experienced

knowledge executives

Broader market conditions Compensation for performing

expectations of the role
Individual performance and

demonstration of successful

contributions and results

Public company market data

Annual performance-based
Board members experience and Attract and retain exceptional talent

cash bonuses knowledge

Motivate executives to achieve

Achievement of corporate objectives company objectives while working as

particularly in light of broader market team

conditions

Link corporate performance with

Internal pay equity contribution by compensation paid

level for targets as percent of salary

Provide incentives to promote our

Corporate performance against pre- growth and create stockholder value

established financial goals thereby aligning the financial interests

of the executive officers with those of

the stockholders

Time-based stock options
Board members experience and Attract and retain exceptional talent

and restricted stock units knowledge

Link corporate performance with

Internal pay equity compensation paid

The potential dilutive effect on our Provide incentives to promote our

stockholders growth and create stockholder value

thereby aligning the financial interests

Comparable market data for peer of the executive officers with those of

companies the stockholders

Potential gain and unvested holdings
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Material factors considered in 2011 in

Compensation element determining amount Objective

Performance-based option Board members experience and Attract and retain exceptional talent

awards knowledge

Motivate executives to achieve

Achievement of corporate objectives company objectives while working as

particularly in light of broader market team

conditions

Provide incentives to promote our

Internal pay equity growth and create stockholder value

thereby aligning the financial interests

The potential dilutive effect on our of the executive officers with those of

stockholders the stockholders

Comparable market data for peer

companies

Potential gain and unvested holdings

Employee benefits and Board members experience and Attract and retain exceptional talent

limited perquisites knowledge

Encourage officers to work as team

Internal pay equity

Individual negotiations with executives

Severance and change in
Board members experience and Attract and retain exceptional talent

control benefits knowledge

Motivate executives to achieve

Internal pay equity company objectives which may in any

given year include completion of

Individual negotiations with executives strategic transaction

Align the financial interests of the

executive officers with those of the

stockholders that is the completion of

desired transaction without regard to

executives own compensationljob

security

The Compensation Committee believes that incentive compensation opportunity in the form of both cash and equity awards

should make up larger portion of each NEOs target total compensation as the executives level of responsibility increases For

example the target levels of cash and equity incentives for our CEO are generally greater than the target incentive compensation

opportunities afforded to our other NEOs This approach to internal pay equity reflects the Compensation Committees recognition

of the relative importance of each executive officers contributions to the success of Epocrates By increasing the portion of total

target compensation that is performance-based with increasing levels of responsibility we believe our compensation program

provides appropriate levels of incentive for our executive officers to perform their duties to the best of their abilities

Base salary Each of our NEOs has entered into an at-will employment agreement or offer letter with us that provides for their

initial base salary Our Compensation Committee generally reviews base salaries in the first quarter of the fiscal year

In preparation for becoming publicly-traded company Towers Watson provided information to our Compensation Committee

on base salaries at peer companies The Compensation Committee considered this data as well as input and the performance

evaluations by the then CEO for her direct reports and the CEO performance evaluation presented by the Chairman of the Board

and recommended that base pay for the executive officers other than our then CEO remain unchanged from 2010 as follows
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2011 Base 2010 Base
Name

Salary Salary Change

Patrick Spangler 300000 300000

David Burlington 270000 270000

Rosemary Crane 380000 350000 8.6%

Joseph Kleine 280000 280000

The Compensation Committee believed that these salary levels were appropriate in matching the desire to have each of our

executive officers be positioned at the appropriate market level that is reflective of their skills contributions and performance

against comparable public peer roles With respect to Mr Kaminer who became our General Counsel and Secretary in June 2011
the Compensation Committee reviewed information provided by Towers Watson regarding base salaries at peer companies and
based on this information approved his base salary of $250000 per year In December 2011 our Board of Directors approved

base salary of $305000 per year for Mr Brandt our Interim President and Chief Executive Officer The amount of Mr Brandts

base salary was designed such that his base salary plus the value of the restricted stock unit award granted to Mr Brandt in

December 2011 would be approximately equal to Ms Cranes salary at the time of her departure and her target bonus for

2011 Because Ms Gervais became an executive officer in late 2011 and her salary was not modified in connection with her

becoming an executive officer the Compensation Committee was not involved in setting her compensation level for 2011

Annual cash bonuses We have an annual management bonus plan under which cash bonuses may be earned by our executive

officers and other members of management based on company performance The employment agreements or offer letters of each

of our NEOs generally set forth their initial target bonus levels Our Compensation Committee generally reviews target bonus

levels each fall in anticipation of the coming year In the first quarter of 2011 Towers Watson presented comparable market data

to our Compensation Committee on target bonus levels at peer companies company financial status and market conditions

generally After considering this information the Compensation Committee set the target bonus levels for our then-employed

NEOs as noted below Subsequently in connection with hiring Mr Kaminer the Compensation Committee established his target

bonus based on reference to peer company data internal pay equity the criticality of his role to our company and reflection on

current market conditions Mr Brandt is not entitled to pre-specified target bonus At the time the Compensation Committee

set the target bonus levels Ms Gervais was not one of our executive officers

2011 2010 Market

Target Target Change Position

Name Bonus Bonus absolute percentile

Peter Brandt

Patrick Spangler 60% 60% 75th

Matthew Kaminer 40% 50th

David Burlington 60% 60% 60th

Rosemary Crane 75% 70% 5% 60th

Joseph Kleine 70% 70% 75th

The Compensation Committee felt that these target bonus levels including positioning against the public peer companies and

differentiation among officers reflecting their impact to the organization were appropriate given

The belief that the incentive opportunity should make up larger portion of NEOs target total compensation as the

executives level of responsibility increases and

The belief that these levels were internally fair and financially responsible yet still provided appropriate motivation to

executives to achieve our growth objectives

The actual bonus amounts earned under our management bonus program in any year depend on the achievement of our corporate

objectives The corporate objectives for the bonus program are based on the broader company business plan that is approved each

spring by the Compensation Committee For 2011 the Compensation Committee selected the following three key business metrics

from our general business plan

sales bookings meaning total dollar amount of business contracted during the year
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revenue measured as GAAP revenue calculated in accordance with our revenue recognition policies in effect at the time

and

adjusted EBITDA measured as GAAP net income before income and expenses unrelated to core business activities such

as interest income other income expense net and benefit from provision for income taxes non-recurring income and

expenses such as gain on settlement and change in fair value of contingent consideration gain on sale-leaseback of building

impairment of intangible and long-lived assets related to EHR loss on impairment related to EHR business and other expenses

including legal expenses facilities exit costs employee severance charges current period depreciation and amortization

expense
related to assets assigned to the EHR business and refund of rent and non-cash charges such as depreciation and

amortization expense including intangible assets related to core business and stock based compensation

In order to earn any bonus under the program we have to achieve the following threshold levels of each metric

95% of our business plan for sales bookings

98% of our business plan for revenue and

97% of our business plan for adjusted EBITDA

If any one threshold level was missed no bonus would be earned If all three threshold levels arc achieved then the actual bonus

was calculated based on actual achievement and the bonus payout for each metric could vary from 0% to 150% of the target

bonus amount for that metric based on the actual over- or under-achievement of that metric according to the parameters in the

following tables Note the maximum payout for the Performance Options is 125%

Bookings 40% of overall bonus target

%Attainment 95% 95% 100% 108% 115%f

Bonus% Payout
0% 80% 100% 125% 150%l

Revenue 20% of overall bonus target

98% 98% 100% 102% 104/of

Bonus%Payout 0% 80% 100% 125%
l50%I

EBITDA 30% of overall bonus target

Attainment 97% 97% 100% 106% l%I

Bonus% Payout
0% 80% 100% 125% l50

fourth goal attaining certain degree of new product development and level of acquisition revenue as determined by an internal

metric otherwise known as the freshness index is worth 10% of the bonus

For all of our executive officers 100% of the cash bonus was based on achievement of these financial metrics

On February 15 2012 our Compensation Committee determined that the performance goals were not achieved and thus paid no

performance bonuses with respect to 2011 At that same meeting our Compensation Committee elected to grant discretionary

bonuses to our employees including our executive officers as follows

Discretionary Cash Bonus

NEO Payment

Peter Brandt

Patrick Spangler 87030

Matthew Kaminer 25758

David Burlington
81000

Heather Gervais 45100

86



Equity compensation Our equity incentive program is intended to reward longer-term performance and to help align the interests

of our executive officers with those of our stockholders We believe that if our executive officers own shares of our common
stock with values that are significant to them they will have an incentive to act to maximize longer-term stockholder value instead

of short-term gain To support this philosophy our equity program emphasizes stock options and for the executive team

performance stock options that are tied to the achievement of our growth and financial goals Our grants have traditionally had

four year vesting requirements which in 2010 the Compensation Committee increased to five years to further incent our leadership

team to focus on longer-term Company value Finally we believe that equity compensation is an integral component of our efforts

to attract exceptional executives senior management and employees

We currently grant both stock options and occasionally restricted stock units that vest based on time served as well as performance-

based stock options and occasionally performance-based restricted stock units under which performance against corporate metrics

in given year determines the number of shares that may then begin vesting over subsequent time-based vesting period These

performance-based equity units are the primary equity award for our NEOs In determining the mix of awards the Compensation

Committee considers the importance of focusing executives on achieving key metrics from our business plan the mix of equity

awards at our peer companies the potentially dilutive impact of stock awards the fair market value of our common stock and
therefore the potential for gains under options as opposed to full value awards in the coming years current holdings of our

executives and the tax consequences to Epocrates and the recipients

As with cash incentive opportunities in determining the target equity opportunity for each NEO the Compensation Committee

believes that the incentive opportunity should make up larger portion of NEOs target total compensation as the executives

level of responsibility increases For example the target levels of equity incentives for our CEO are generally greater than the

target incentive compensation opportunities afforded to our other NEOs This approach to internal pay equity reflects the

Compensation Committees recognition of the relative importance of each executive officers contributions to the success of

Epocrates By increasing the portion of total target compensation that is performance-based with increasing levels ofresponsibility

we believe our compensation program provides appropriate levels of incentive for our executive officers to perform their duties

to the best of their abilities

Aggregate awards in 2011 The following table lists the number and types of awards which each NEO was eligible to receive

upon achievement of performance goals under the terms of the 2011 bonus plan Because Ms Gervais was not an executive

officer at the time the 2011 bonus plan was approved she was not provided the opportunity to receive performance options for

2011

Estimated Future Payouts Under

Equity Incentive Plan Awards

Market

Position for 2011 Performance

Option Opportunity

Name Threshold Target Maximum percentile

Peter Brandt

Patrick Spangler 27034 32968 41210 60t

Matthew Kaminer

David Burlington 19310 23549 29436 50th

Rosemary Crane 64366 78495 98119 75th

Joseph Kleine 19310 23549 29436 75th

Represents all awards granted under our 2011 executive bonus plan in 2011 which were determined based on

performance in 2011 This table shows the awards that were possible at the maximum level of performance The

maximum number of options was granted however in February 2012 the Compensation Committee determined that

the number of options actually earned is zero for all such awards based on achievement of 2011 corporate goals

With respect to the performance-based option opportunity and as further described in the paragraphs below the Compensation

Committee felt that these award levels and differentiation among executive officers were appropriate for several reasons including

The need to attract and retain exceptional talent in competitive locale for critical executive roles

The belief that the incentive opportunity should make up larger portion of NEOs target total compensation as the

executives level of responsibility increases
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The overall contribution provided based on tenure with Epocrates and the level of unvestedlpotential gains

Comparable levels of awards for similarpositions

The desire to be internally consistent by providing each new hire executive officer with an initial option grant that was

comparable to grants held by continuing executives and

The belief that these levels were internally fair and financially responsible and yet still provided appropriate motivation to

executives to achieve our objectives in light of their respective existing aggregate equity holdings

With the exception of Mr Brandt Mr Kaminer and Ms Gervais each of the senior executive team employed during our annual

grant cycle were eligible to receive performance-based options In connection with his offer of employment Mr Brandt received

time-based stock options and restricted stock units Also new hire in the latter part of the fiscal year Mr Kaminer received

time-based stock option grants so that his overall potential ownership of Epocrates was in line with similarexecutives and to

ensure his interests were aligned with stockholders

In addition in March 2011 the Compensation Committee determined the level of performance goal achievement for the

performance-based options granted in 2010 Based on that level of achievement Ms Cranes performance-based restricted stock

unit granted under the 2010 bonus plan was determined to cover 35024 shares and Mr Kleines performance-based option

granted under the 2010 bonus plan was determined to cover 70048 shares Each of these performance-based awards was then

subject to three-year time-based vesting schedule commencing January 2011

Time-based awards Because we grant stock options with an exercise price equal to the value of our common stock on the date

of grant these options will have value to our executive officers only if the market price of our common stock increases after the

date of grant and through the date of vesting Historically stock options granted to our executive officers at hiring vest over

48 months with 25% of the shares vesting on the first anniversary of the vesting commencement date and the remainder vesting

monthly over the next 36 months In 2010 the Compensation Committee increased the vesting period to five years or 60 months

with initial option grants vesting 20% on the first anniversary of the vesting commencement date and the remainder vesting

monthly over 48 months and with on-going option grants vesting monthly over 60 months These time-based option grants further

incent our leadership team to focus on longer-term Company value We granted time-based stock options that vest over five-

year period to Mr Kaminer based on this schedule In connection with his employment we granted to Mr Brandt time-based

stock options and time-based restricted stock units that each vest monthly over six months

Performance-based awards In order to provide an additional incentive to management to achieve our business objectives while

working as team and to further align the interests of management with our stockholders in March 20 11 our Compensation

Committee approved performance-based stock option opportunities to certain of our NEOs in March 2011 These performance-

based option opportunities have largely replaced time-based options for our NEOs other than grants of time-based options to

new hire executives and periodic on-going option grants After considering information from Towers Watson regarding equity

compensation levels at peer companies without benchmarking to specific level company financial status and market conditions

generally and comparable levels of overall equity holdings at similar stage companies the Compensation Committee again

determined target number of such options based upon achievement of our goals at 100% performance with maximum

opportunity up to 125%

The actual amount of shares that can be earned under the performance-based stock option program in any year depends on the

achievement of our corporate objectives The corporate objectives for the program are based on the broader Company business

plan that is approved each spring by our Compensation Committee For 2011 the Compensation Committee selected the same

three key business metrics as under our cash bonus plan with the same weighting thresholds and maximums The Compensation

Committee felt it was appropriate to use the same metrics as under the cash-based plan because these metrics can be meaningfully

influenced by managements actions and both directly and indirectly reflect Company growth and stockholder value creation

The number of shares that could be earned for each metric could vary from 0% to 125% of the target amount for that metric based

on the actual over- or under-achievement of that metric according to the same parameters that applied to the performance cash

bonus in the tables above

As set forth above on February 15 2012 our Compensation Committee determined that the threshold performance goals for

2011 were not achieved and thus none of the shares subject to the performance-based options granted in 2011 vested Pursuant

to the bonus plan the shares set aside for potential grant under our performance-based options that failed to be earned remain

available for future grant under the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan On January 20 2012 the Compensation Committee granted
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time-based stock options as follows Mr Spangler and Mr Burlington each received 60000 options Mr Kaminer received 50000

options and Ms Gervais received 16000 options These options vest monthly over five years as described above

Accelerated vesting Under the terms of our stock plans and certain executives employment agreements and offer letters the

vesting of equity awards may be accelerated in the event of certain material corporate transactions as well as in the event of

certain involuntary terminations of employment following certain material corporate transactions We believe these accelerated

vesting provisions are appropriate in light of the collective knowledge and experiences of our Board members on compensating

individuals in the positions held by similarly-situated executive officers at other companies without reference to any specific

peer group or any specific benchmark level of compensation and therefore allow us to attract and retain high quality executives

In the case of accelerated vesting upon change-of-control the accelerated vesting allows our executives to focus on closing

transaction that may be in the best interests of our stockholders even though it may otherwise result in termination of their

employment and therefore forfeiture of their equity awards

Severance and change of control benefits

Each of our NEOs with the exception of Ms Gervais is entitled to severance and/or change-of-control benefits the terms of

which are described in detail below under Executive Employment and Severance Agreements With respect to change-of-

control benefits we provide severance compensation if an executive officer is terminated in connection with or subsequent to

change-of-control transaction to further promote the ability of our executive officers to act in the best interests of our stockholders

even though they could be terminated following such transaction Change-of-control vesting acceleration benefits are structured

on double-trigger basis meaning that the executive officer must experience constructive termination or termination without

cause in connection with change-of-control in order for the benefits to become due which is directly tied to our goal of

eliminating or at least reducing any reluctance of our NEOs to diligently consider and pursue potential change-of-control

transaction notwithstanding the risk to their own job positions We also believe that the other severance benefits are appropriate

particularly with respect to termination by us without cause since in that scenario we and the executive have mutually-agreed-

upon severance package that is in place prior to any termination event which provides us with more flexibility to make change

in executive management if such change is in our stockholders best interests We believe that these severance and changes-of-

control benefits are an essential element in our executive compensation packages and assist us in recruiting and retaining talented

individuals The severance and changes-in-control benefits do not influence and are not influenced by other elements of

compensation as these benefits serve different objectives than the other elements of compensation

Other benefits

We have 401k plan in which substantially all of our employees are entitled to participate Employees contribute their own
funds through salary deductions on pre-tax basis Contributions may be made up to plan limits subject to government limitations

The plan permits us to make matching contributions ifwe choose however to date we have not made any matching contributions

We provide health care dental and vision benefits to all full-time employees including our executive officers We also have

flexible benefits healthcare plan and flexible benefits childcare plan under which employees can set aside pre-tax funds to pay
for qualified health care expenses and qualified dependent care expenses not reimbursed by insurance These benefits are available

to all employees subject to applicable laws

Employee benefits limited perquisites Each of our NEOs is eligible to participate in our package of broad-based employee

benefit programs on the same terms and conditions as other employees including health dental and vision insurance medical

and dependent care flexible spending accounts basic life insurance short- and long-term disability insurance accidental death

and dismemberment insurance and 401k retirement plan The 401k plan permits us to make matching contributions if we
choose however to date we have not made any matching contributions We believe these benefits are consistent with benefits

provided by other companies based on the experiences and individual knowledge of the members of the Board regarding

compensation of similarly-situated executives at other companies without reliance on third-party surveys of compensation paid

to such executives at any specific companies or benchmarking to any specified level of compensation paid by any specific

companies and help us to attract and retain high quality executives

Equity compensation policies

We encourage our executive officers to hold significant equity interest in Epocrates To that end we adopted equity ownership

guidelines that are based on the value of outstanding vested awards with vested stock options being valued based on the spread

method as follows

CEO Four times annual Base Salary
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CFO Three times annual Base Salary and

Other senior executive officers Two times annual Base Salary

In addition during 2011 we adopted an equity award grant timing policy We have policy that prohibits our executive officers

directors and other members of management from engaging in short sales transactions in put or call options hedging transactions

or other inherently speculative transactions with respect to the Epocrates stock

Compensation recovery policies

The Compensation Committee has not determined whether it would attempt to recover bonuses from our executive officers if

the performance objectives that led to the bonus determination were to be restated or found not to have been met to the extent

originally believed by the Compensation Committee However as public company subject to the provisions of Section 304 of

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 if we are required as result of misconduct to restate our financial results due to our material

non-compliance with any financial reporting requirements under the federal securities laws our CEO and CFO may be legally

required to reimburse us for any
bonus or other incentive-based or equity-based compensation they receive

Accounting considerations

We account for equity compensation paid to our employees under Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB Accounting

Standards Codification ASC 718 which requires us to estimate and record an expense over the service period of the award

Our cash compensation is recorded as an expense
at the time the obligation is accrued The accounting impact of our compensation

programs is just one of many factors that are considered in determining the size and structure of our programs

Tax considerations

Subject to certain rules that exempt pre-existing arrangements approved prior to this offering as publicly-held company we are

not permitted federal income tax deduction for compensation paid to certain executive officers to the extent that compensation

exceeds $1.0 million per covered executive officer in any year The limitation applies only to compensation that is not performance-

based Non-performance-based compensation paid to our executive officers for 2011 did not exceed the $1.0 million limit for

any
executive officer and the Compensation Committee does not anticipate that the non-performance-based compensation to be

paid to any executive officer for 2012 will be in excess of the deductible limit

The Compensation Committee believes that in establishing the cash and equity incentive compensation programs for our executive

officers the potential deductibility of the compensation payable under those programs should be only one of number of relevant

factors taken into consideration and not the sole governing factor For that reason the Compensation Committee may deem it

appropriate to provide one or more executive officers with the opportunity to earn incentive compensation whether through cash

incentive award programs tied to our financial performance or equity incentive grants tied to the executive officers continued

service which may be in excess of the amount deductible by reason of Section 162m or other provisions of the Internal Revenue

Code The Compensation Committee believes it is important to maintain this flexibility in determining cash and equity incentive

compensation in order to attract and retain high caliber executive officer candidates even if all or part of that compensation may

not be deductible by reason of the Section 162m limitation

Also the Compensation Committee takes into account whether components of our compensation program may be subject to the

penalty tax associated with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code and aims to structure the elements of compensation to

be compliant with or exempt from Section 409A to avoid such potential adverse tax consequences

Risk analysis of our compensation plans

The Compensation Committee has reviewed our compensation policies as generally applicable to our employees and believes

that our policies do not encourage
excessive and unnecessary risk-taking and that the level of risk that they do encourage is not

reasonably likely to have material adverse effect on us The Compensation Committee performed an assessment of our

compensation programs and policies with focus on incentive compensation programs including our annual bonus program

and our equity compensation program The Compensation Committee reviewed the compensatory objectives and key provisions

including performance goals of those programs and considered the potential for participant to engage in risk-taking behavior

to earn awards under those programs as well as the risk mitigation features associated with those programs Following such

assessment the Compensation Committee believes that the design of our compensation policies and programs encourage our

employees to remain focused on both our short- and long-term goals For example while our cash bonus plans measure performance
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on an annual basis our equity awards typically vest over number of years which the Compensation Committee believes

encourages our employees to focus on sustained stock price appreciation thus limiting the potential value of excessive risk-

taking
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Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed with management the Compensation Discussion and Analysis

contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K Based on this review and discussion the Compensation Committee has

recommended to the Board that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in Epocrates Annual Report on Form 10-

for the fiscal year
ended December 2011 and in Epocrates Proxy Statement

Dr Philippe Chambon

Mr Thomas Harrison

This Section is not soliciting material is not deemed filed with the SEC and is not to be incorporated by reference in any

filing of Epocrates under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended whether

made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation language
in that filing
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Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

During the last fiscal year none of the members of our Compensation Committee was one of our officers or employees None

of our executive officers serves or has served in the past year as member of the Board or Compensation Committee of any

entity that has one or more executive officers who have served on our Board or Compensation Committee Our Board noted that

Mr Harrison did not derive any direct or indirect material benefit from the agreements between Epocrates and certain subsidiaries

of Diversified Agency Services Inc DAS where Mr Harrison serves as the CEO as described in greater detail below Our

Board believes that such agreements are in Epocrates best interest and on terms no less favorable than could be obtained from

other third parties

We have entered into various agreements with Cline Davis Mann Inc and beginning in 2009 with SSCG Media Group
division of Cline Davis Mann whereby we provided various marketing educational media and creative services through our

DocAlert channel Cline Davis Mann is subsidiary of DAS We recorded no revenue from Cline Davis Mann for the year

ended December 31 2011 and recorded revenue from SSCG Media Group of approximately $4.9 million for the same period

As of December 31 2011 there were approximately $1.0 million in accounts receivable from this customer

We provided services to Porter Novelli also DAS subsidiary In connection with these services we recorded revenue from

Porter Novelli of approximately $0.2 million for the
year

ended December 31 2011 At December 31 2011 there was an

insignificant amount of accounts receivable from this customer

Mr Harrison does not have direct or indirect material interest in these transactions and these transactions are immaterial to

DAS

Compensation of Executive Officers

Summary Compensation Table

The following table shows for the fiscal
year

ended December 31 2011 and with respect to certain individuals fiscal
years

ended December 31 2010 and 2009 compensation awarded to or paid to or earned by Epocrates CEO CFO and its three other

most highly compensated executive officers at December 312011 and two former executive officers who departed from Epocrates

during 2011 the NEOs
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Non-equity

Stock Option incentive plan All other

Name and Salary Bonus awards awards compensation compensation

principal position Year $1 $W Total

Peter Brandt

Interim President and

CEO2 2011 38126 180000 909948 58486 1186560

Patrick Spangler
CFO4 2011 300000 87030 1032 388062

2010 73864 1767333 53093 65 1894355

Matthew

Kaminer
General Counsel and

Secretary 2011 128788 25758 410905 177 565628

David Burlington

Chief Operations

Officer 2011 270000 81000 360 351360

2010 36818 1606399 26465 1669727

Heather Gervais

Senior Vice

President

Commercial

Operations 2011 205000 47100
10 1266 253366

Rosemary Crane

Former President and

CEO 2011 333940 836186 1170126

2010 350000 467923 293510 60552 1171985

2009 340000 4238756 102000
14 55529 4736285

Joseph KIelne

Former Chief

Commercial Officer 2011 256667 23993 280660

2010 272120 40000
17

418693 234808 360 965981

2009 218693 40000 752340 215034 137380 1363447
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Amounts shown in this column do not reflect dollar amounts actually received by our NEOs Instead these amounts reflect

the aggregate grant date fair value of each stock option granted computed in accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC

Topic 718 As required by SEC rules the amounts shown for performance-based grants exclude the impact of estimated

forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions Assumptions used in the calculation of these amounts are included

in Note 14 to our audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31 2011 included in this Annual Report

on Form 10-K Our NEOs will only realize compensation to the extent the trading price of our common stock is greater

than the exercise price of such stock options

Mr Brandts employment with us commenced in November2011 With respect to restricted stock and stock options granted

to Mr Brandt the awards vest monthly over six months for so long as Mr Brandt is serving as our Interim President and

Chief Executive Officer

Represents $48625 for services rendered as non-employee member of the Board of Directors and Audit Committee and

as Chair of the Compensation Committee $9792 of reimbursement for personal travel and $69 for costs related to group

term life insurance premiums

Mr Spanglers employment with us commenced in September 2010

Represents discretionary bonus to be paid in 2012 for performance in 2011 These bonuses were approved by our

Compensation Committee on February 15 2012

Represents costs related to group term life insurance premiums

Represents cash bonuses paid in 2011 for performance in 2010 pursuant to our 2010 Cash Bonus Plan Cash bonuses pursuant

to our 2010 Cash Bonus Plan were approved by our Compensation Committee on March 24 2011

Represents $72 of costs related to group term life insurance premiums and $105 of amounts paid for gym reimbursement

Mr Burlingtons employment with us commenced in October 2010

10
Represents $2000 of cash referral bonus paid to Ms Gervais in 2010 and $45100 of discretionary bonus to be paid in 2012

for performance in 2011 This bonus was approved by our Compensation Committee on February 15 2012

Represents $66 for costs related to group term life insurance premiums and $1200 for amounts paid for opting out of

Epocrates medical insurance benefit plan

12
Represents $529 for costs related to group term life insurance premiums $20000 for Ms Cranes living allowance $146061

of severance benefits and $669596 related to the acceleration of vesting and extension of time to exercise shares For

description of Ms Cranes living allowance see the section entitled Executive Employment and Severance Agreements

13
Represents $552 for costs related to group term life insurance premiums and $60000 for Ms Cranes living allowance

14
Represents cash bonus paid in 2010 for performance in 2009 pursuant to our 2009 Cash Bonus Plan

15
Represents $529 for costs related to group term life insurance premiums and $55000 for Ms Cranes living allowance

16
Represents $330 of costs related to group term life insurance premiums $330 of amounts paid for gym reimbursement and

$23333 of severance benefits

17
Represents cash bonus associated with Mr Kleines promotion

18
Represents cash payment of $39240 made in 2010 for performance in 2009 pursuant to our 2009 Cash Bonus Plan and

cash payment of $175794 made for performance in 2009 pursuant to our commission plan

19
Represents $303 for costs related to group term life insurance premiums and $137077 paid to Mr Kleine in connection

with tender offer completed in 2009

95



2011 Plan-Based and Other Awards

The following table sets forth certain information regarding plan-based and other awards to our NEOs during the year ended

December 31 2011

Grant

Date

All Other All Other Fair

Estimated Future Payouts Estimated Future Fayouts Stock Option Exercise Value of

Under Non-Equity Under Equity Incentive Plan Awards Awards or Base Stock

Incentive Plan Awards Awards
Number of Number of Price of and

Shares of Securities Option Option

Grant Threshold Target Maximum Threshold Target Maximum Stock or Underlying Awards Awards

Name Date Units Options $/Share

PeterC Brandt 12/7/2011 20595 150000 8.74 832320

Matthew

Kaminer 6/27/2011 42261 51538 77308 50000 17.95 410905

PatrickD

Spangler 3/24/2011 147600 180000 270000 27034 32968 41210

David

Burlington 3/24/2011 132840 162000 243000 19310 23549 29436

I-leather

Gervais

Rosemary
Crane 3/24/2011 233700 285000 427500 64366 78495 98119

Joseph

Kleine 3/24/2011 160720 196000 294000 19310 23549 29436

Represents all awards granted under our 2011 executive bonus plan in 2011 which were determined based on performance

in 2011 This table shows the awards that are possible at the threshold target and maximum levels of performance The

maximum number of options was granted but the number of options actually earned is subject to reduction based on

achievement of 2011 corporate goals Once determined the shares subject to the option or restricted stock unit will vest in

36 equal monthly installments subject in each case to the recipients continued service In February 2012 the Compensation

Committee determined that the number of options actually earned is zero for all such awards based on achievement of 201

corporate goals

The stock options and awards were granted under our 2010 Equity Incentive Plan The shares subject to each stock option

vest over equal monthly installments for so long as Mr Brandt is serving as our Interim President and Chief Executive

Officer

The stock options were granted under our 2010 Equity Incentive Plan The shares subject to this stock option vest as to 20%

of the shares subject to the option after one year with the remaining shares subject to the stock option vesting on an equal

monthly basis over the following 48 months subject in each case to recipients continued service
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2011 Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The following table sets forth certain information regarding outstanding equity awards for our NEOs as of December 31 2011

Option awards Stock awards

Market

value

Number of

of shares
Equity

Incentive
shares or

Number of
Number of Plan or units of

securities
securities Awards units of stock

underlying underlying
Number of

stock that
Securities

unexercised unexercised

Underlying
Option that have

options
options Unexercised exercise Option have not not

exercisable Unearned price expiration vested vested

Name unexercisable Options date

3275
16375 16.00 1/31/21

Peter 7860 3930
21.98 5/05/21

Brandt 25000 125000 8.74 12/06/21 17163 166309

Patrick 70406 231334 13.36 10/27/20

Spangler 41210 22.97 3/24/21

Matthew

Kaminer 50000 17.95 6/26/21

David 55356 200138 13.99 12/21/20

Burlington 29436 22.97 3/24/2

Heather

Gervais 2947 8843 13.36 10/27/20

Rosemary

Crane 31440 13.26 11/15/12

657726 12.11 11/15/12

43799 12.11 11/15/12

Joseph

Kleine 7860 4.29 1/25/16

15719 5.95 7/17/16

6288 5.5 4/29/17

47159 13.17 11/5/17

27386 13.26 1/30/18

81875 10.17 12/16/19

19457 13.36 8/24/20

Fully vested

The shares subject to this stock option vest in equal monthly installments over 12 months subject in each case to the
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recipients continued service

The shares subject to this stock option vest in equal monthly installments over six months subject to the recipients

continued service as interim CEO

The shares subject to this restricted stock award vest in equal monthly installments over six months subject to the

recipients continued service as interim CEO

The value is determined based on the closing price of our stock on 1/31/12 of $9.69 per share multiplied by the number

of shares that have not vested without taking into account any taxes that may be payable in connection with the

transaction

The shares subject to this stock option vest as to 20% ofthe shares subject to the option after one year with the remaining

shares subject to the stock option vesting on an equal monthly basis over the following 48 months subject in each case

to recipients continued service

Represents shares subject to outstanding and unearned options granted pursuant to our 2011 bonus plan

Pursuant to the Severance Agreement entered into with Ms Crane on December 2011 the vested portion of any

unexercised stock options held by Ms Crane will remain exercisable for period of one year from November 16 2011

which was the date of her termination

2011 OPTION EXERCISES AND STOCK VESTED

The following table sets forth certain information regarding option awards exercised and restricted stock units vested by our

NEOs during 2011

Option Awards Restricted Stock Units

Number of shares Value realized Number of Value realized

Name acquired on exercise on exercise shares vested on vesting

PcterC.Brandt 3432 28314

Patrick Spangler

Matthew Kaminer

David Burlington

Heather Gervais

Rosemary Crane 10215 79064

Joseph Kleine 49762 422479

The value realized on exercise is determined based on the price sold multiplied by the number of shares that were exercised

and subtracting the exercise price without taking into account any taxes that may be payable in connection with the transaction

The value realized upon vesting is determined by multiplying the number of restricted stock units by the market value of the

underlying shares on the vesting date

Pension Benefits

Our NEOs did not participate in or otherwise receive any benefits under any pension or retirement plan sponsored by us during

2011
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Non-qualified Deferred Compensation

We do not currently maintain non-qualified defined contribution plans or other deferred compensation plans

Executive Employment and Severance Agreements

Peter Brand In December2011 we entered into an offer letter with Peter Brandt our Interim President and Chief Executive

Officer The offer letter provides for monthly base salary of $25417 Pursuant to the offer letter Mr Brandt was granted

restricted stock unit award covering 20595 shares of common stock and an option to purchase 150000 shares of our common

stock each pursuant to our 2010 Equity Incentive Plan Mr Brandts stock option has per share exercise price of $8.74 the

fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant as determined by our Board The restricted stock and the stock

options vest monthly over six months for so long as Mr Brandt is serving as our Interim President and Chief Executive Officer

The offer letter specifies that Mr Brandts employment is at-will

Patrick Spang1er In January 2011 we entered into an amended and restated offer letter with Patrick Spangler our Chief

Financial Officer The amended and restated offer letter was amended in June 2011 The amended and restated offer letter as

amended provides for an initial annualized base salary of $300000 plus target bonus of 60% of his base salary under our

bonus plan based upon successful completion of the objectives set forth in the plan as determined by our Board Pursuant to

the amended and restated offer letter as amended Mr Spangler was granted an option to purchase 150870 shares of our common
stock under our 2008 Equity Incentive Plan with per share exercise price of $13.36 the fair market value of our common
stock on the date of grant as determined by our Board This stock option vests as to 20% of the shares on the first annual

anniversary of the vesting commencement date and the remainder will vest monthly thereafter over four years such that on the

fifth anniversary of the vesting commencement date of the stock option the shares shall be fully vested In addition Mr Spangler

was granted an additional option to purchase 150870 shares of our common stock under our 2008 Equity Incentive Plan with

per
share exercise price of$ 13.36 the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant as determined by our Board

This stock option will vest as to 20% of the shares on the first annual anniversary of the vesting commencement date and the

remainder will vest monthly thereafter over four years such that on the fifth anniversary of the vesting commencement date of

the stock option the shares shall be fully vested The amended and restated offer letter as amended specifies that Mr Spanglers

employment is at-will

Pursuant to the amended and restated offer letter as amended ifMr Spanglers employment is terminated without cause subject

to his general release of all known and unknown claims Mr Spangler shall be entitled to receive severance pay equal to nine

months of his base salary in effect as of the termination date less required deductions and withholdings to be paid in the form

of salary continuation on our standard payroll dates following such termination and if he timely elects continued
group health

insurance coverage through COBRA we will be obligated to pay his COBRA premiums necessary to continue his
group

health

insurance coverage at the same level as in effect as of the termination date for nine months after his termination or until he

becomes eligible for group health insurance coverage through new employer whichever occurs first

The amended and restated offer letter as amended further provides in the event that within twelve months after change-of-

control of Epocrates Mr Spanglers employment is terminated without cause or if Mr Spangler resigns for good reason subject

to his general release of all known and unknown claims Mr Spangler shall be entitled to receive severance pay equal to nine

months of his base salary in effect as of the termination date less required deductions and withholdings to be paid in the form

of salary continuation on our standard payroll dates following such termination and if he timely elects continued group health

insurance coverage through COBRA we will be obligated to pay his COBRA premiums necessary to continue his group health

insurance
coverage at the same level as in effect as of the termination date for nine months after his termination or until he

becomes eligible for group health insurance coverage through new employer whichever occurs first In addition except as

described above in connection with such termination of employment the vesting of Mr Spanglers stock options shall accelerate

in full

Matthew Kaminer In June 2011 we entered into an offer letter with Matthew Kaminer our General Counsel and Secretary

The offer letter provides for an initial annualized base salary of $250000 plus target bonus of 40% of his base salary under

our bonus plan based upon successful completion of the objectives set forth in the plan as determined by our Board Pursuant

to the offer letter Mr Kaminer was granted an option to purchase 50000 shares of our common stock under our 2010 Equity

Incentive Plan with per share exercise price of $17.95 the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant as

determined by our Board This stock option vests as to 20% of the shares on the first annual anniversary of the vesting

commencement date and the remainder will vest monthly thereafter over four
years

such that on the fifth anniversary of the

vesting commencement date of the stock option the shares shall be fully vested The offer letter specifies that Mr Kaminers
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employment is at-will

Pursuant to the offer letter if Mr Kaminers employment is terminated without cause subject to his general release of all known

and unknown claims Mr Kaminer shall be entitled to receive severance pay equal to six months of his base salary in effect as

of the termination date less required deductions and withholdings to be paid in the form of salary continuation on our standard

payroll dates following such termination and if he timely elects continued group health insurance coverage through COBRA

we will be obligated to pay his COBRA premiums necessary to continue his group health insurance coverage at the same level

as in effect as of the termination date for six months after his termination or until he becomes eligible for group health insurance

coverage through new employer whichever occurs first

The offer letter further provides in the event that within twelve months after change-of-control of Epocrates Mr Kaminers

employment is terminated without cause or if Mr Kaminer resigns for good reason subject to his general release of all known

and unknown claims Mr Kaminer shall be entitled to receive severance pay equal to nine months of his base salary in effect

as of the termination date less required deductions and withholdings to be paid in the form of salary continuation on our standard

payroll dates following such termination and if he timely elects continued group health insurance coverage through COBRA

we will be obligated to pay his COBRA premiums necessary to continue his group
health insurance coverage at the same level

as in effect as of the termination date for nine months after his termination or until he becomes eligible for group health insurance

coverage through new employer whichever occurs first In addition in connection with such termination of employment the

vesting of Mr Kaminers stock options shall accelerate in full

David Burlington In October 2010 we entered into an offer letter with David Burlington our Chief Operations Officer

The offer letter provides for an initial annualized base salary of $270000 plus target bonus of 60% of his base salary under

our bonus plan based upon successful completion of the objectives set forth in the plan as determined by our Board Pursuant

to the offer letter Mr Burlington was granted an option to purchase 255494 shares of our common stock under our 2008 Equity

Incentive Plan with per share exercise price of $13.99 the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant as

determined by our Board This stock option vests as to 20% of the shares on the first annual anniversary of the vesting

commencement date and the remainder will vest monthly thereafter over four years such that on the fifth anniversary of the

vesting commencement date of the stock option the shares shall be fully vested The offer letter specifies that Mr Burlingtons

employment is at-will

Pursuant to the offer letter if Mr Burlingtons employment is terminated without cause subject to his general release of all

known and unknown claims Mr Burlington shall be entitled to receive severance pay equal to six months of his base salary in

effect as of the termination date less required deductions and withholdings to be paid in the form of salary continuation on our

standard payroll dates following such termination and if he timely elects continued group
health insurance coverage through

COBRA we will be obligated to pay his COBRA premiums necessary to continue his
group

health insurance coverage at the

same level as in effect as of the termination date for six months after his termination or until he becomes eligible for group
health

insurance coverage through new employer whichever occurs first

The offer letter further provides in the event that within twelve months after change-of-control of Epocrates Mr Burlingtons

employment is terminated without cause or if Mr Burlington resigns for good reason subject to his general release of all known

and unknown claims Mr Burlington shall be entitled to receive severance pay equal to nine months of his base salary in effect

as of the termination date less required deductions and withholdings to be paid in the form of salary continuation on our standard

payroll dates following such termination and if he timely elects continued group
health insurance coverage through COBRA

we will be obligated to pay his COBRA premiums necessary to continue his
group

health insurance coverage at the same level

as in effect as of the termination date for nine months after his termination or until he becomes eligible for
group

health insurance

coverage through new employer whichever occurs first In addition in connection with such termination of employment the

vesting of Mr Burlingtons stock options shall accelerate in full

HeatherA Gervais Ms Gervais has served as our Senior Vice President of Commercial Operations since November 2011 Ms

Gervais joined Epocrates in September2010 as the Vice President ofClient Services Ms Gervais current base salary is $240000

She participates in our annual bonus plan and her target bonus upon her promotion in 2011 was 40%

Rosemary Crane Ms Crane served as our Chief Executive Officer from February 2009 until November 16 2011 Pursuant

to her offer letter dated February 25 2009 as amended in April 2011 Ms Crane is receiving continuation of her base salary

of $380000 per year as severance until November 16 2012 ii COBRA premiums necessary to continue her group health

insurance coverage at the same level as in effect as of the termination date for up to twelve months or earlier if she becomes

eligible for comparable coverage from November 16 2011 and iiithe acceleration of vesting of 183883 options to purchase
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our common stock at $12.11 per share In December 2011 we and Ms Crane entered into severance agreement providing for

the terms of her severance including in addition to the severance benefits she is entitled to under her offer letter that Ms
Crane would receive an additional severance payment of $100000 and iiMs Crane would be allowed to exercise the vested

portion of any unexercised options held by her for period of one year from her date of termination

Joseph Kleine Mr Kleine served as our Chief Commercial Officer from February 2010 until November 30 2011 On

November 2011 we entered into separation and release agreement with Mr Kleine Under the separation and release

agreement Mr Kicine will receive continuation of his base salary payable over six-month period commencing December

2011 for total of $140000 and ii COBRA premiums necessary to continue his group health insurance coverage at the

same level as in effect as of the termination date for up to six months or earlier if he becomes eligible for comparable coverage

from December 2011 The separation and release agreement contains confidentiality obligations that survive indefinitely and

non-solicitation and non-competition obligations that end on May 302012 The severance payments and other post-employment

benefits due to Mr Kleine under the separation and release agreement arc subject to Mr Kleines continued compliance with

these covenants

Potential Payments Upon Termination of Employment

The following table estimates the potential payments and benefits payable upon employment termination for each NEO as if

his or her employment had been terminated on December 31 2011 the last business day of our prior fiscal year

No Change-of-Control Change-of-Control

Termination without Cause or for

Termination without Cause Good Reason

Base COBRA Vesting Base COBRA Vesting

Name salary premiums acceleration salary premiums acceleratio4

Peter

Brandt 133871

Patrick

Spangler 225000 16713 225000 16713

Matthew

Kaminer 125000 11142 187500 16713

David

Burlington 135000 3144 202500 4716
10

Heather

Gervais

Rosemary

Crane 380000 17637 193510
11

Joseph
12 12

Kleine 140000 8995

change-of control generally means the consummation of any transaction by Epocrates whereby fifty percent

50%or more of the voting stock of Epocrates changes ownership pursuant to that transaction

Cause is generally defined as the NEOs

embezzlement misappropriation of corporate funds or other material acts of dishonesty

conviction plea of guilty or nob contendere to any felony not involving the operation of motor vehicle or of

any misdemeanor involving moral turpitude

engagement in any activity that such NEO knows or should know could materially harm the business or reputation

of Epocrates provided that such activity is not undertaken in good faith belief that such action was in the best

interest of Epocrates

material violation of any statutory contractual or common law duty or obligation owed to Epocrates including

without limitation material breach of any confidentiality obligation and the duty of loyalty which causes

demonstrable injury to Epocrates or
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repeated failure in the reasonable judgment of Epocrates to substantially perform his or her assigned duties or

responsibilities after written notice from Epocrates describing the failures in reasonable detail and such NEOs

failure to cure such failures within thirty 30 days of receiving such written notice provided that written notice

only must be provided if the failures are capable of cure

Good Reason is generally defined as the following actions taken without the consent of the NEO following the

consummation of change-of-control of Epocrates that terminates such NEOs employment in each case where the

NEO has provided written notice within 30 days of the action such action is not remedied by Epocrates within 30 days

following such notice and such termination occurs within ninety 90 days following the initial existence of one or

more of the conditions that constitute Good Reason

relocation of the NEOs assigned office which results in an increase in his or her one-way commuting distance

by more than thirty-five 35 miles

material decrease in the then current base salary of the NEO except for salary decreases generally applicable to

Epocrates other executive employees or

material reduction in the scope of the NEOs duties or responsibilities in effect immediately prior to the change-

of-control of Epocrates

The value of vesting acceleration is calculated based on the closing price of our common stock on December 31

2011 with respect to unvested option shares or unvested awards subject to acceleration minus the exercise price of

the unvested option shares

Represents continuation of base salary for period of nine months

Represents payment ofnine months ofcontinued COB RApremiums for medical dental and vision coverage calculated

at $1856.99 per month for the 12-month period ended December 31 2011 including 2% administrative fee

Represents continuation of base salary for period of six months

Represents payment of six months of continued COBRA premiums for medical dental and vision coverage calculated

at $1856.99 per month for the 12-month period ended December 31 2011 including 2% administrative fee

Represents payment of six months of continued COBRA premiums for medical dental and vision coverage calculated

at $524.01 per month for the 12-month period ended December 31 2011 including 2% administrative fee

10
Represents payment ofnine months ofcontinued COBRA premiums for medical dental and vision coverage calculated

at $524.01 per month for the 12-month period ended December 2011 including 2% administrative fee

Represents actual amount for Ms Crane as she did not have an employment agreement at December 31 2011

12
Represents actual amount for Mr Kleine as he did not have an employment agreement at December 31 2011

Non-Employee Director Compensation

Cash Compensation Arrangements

Effective October 2009 each non-employee director other than the Chairperson of the Board was entitled to an annual retainer

of $10000 per year payable quarterly The Chairperson of the Board was entitled to an annual retainer of $15000 per year

payable quarterly In addition all members of our Board were reimbursed for travel lodging and other reasonable expenses

incurred in attending Board or committee meetings

Following the completion of our initial public offering in February 2011 we pay each ofour non-employee directors as applicable

$30000 per year
for service as Board member payable quarterly
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$25000 per year for service as Chairperson of the Board payable quarterly

$20000 per year for service as Chairperson of the Audit Committee payable quarterly

$15000 per year for service as Chairperson of the Compensation Committee payable quarterly

$10000 per year for service as Chairperson of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee payable quarterly

$1000 for each Board meeting attended in person

$500 for each Board meeting attended telephonically or by videoconference

$12000 per year for service on the Audit Committee payable quarterly and

$7000 per year for service on the Compensation Committee and Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee payable

quarterly

In lieu of the cash compensation set forth above each non-employee director may elect to receive an option to purchase our

common stock exercisable for number of shares equal to the total cash compensation divided by the fair market value of our

common stock on the date of grant

All members of our Board will continue to be reimbursed for certain expenses in connection with attendance at Board and

committee meetings

2011 Director Compensation

The following table provides compensation information for all of our non-employee directors during 2011 with the exception

of Mr Brandt who ceased to be non-employee director upon his appointment as Interim President and Chief Executive Officer

Mr Brandts compensation as non-employee director is included in the tables in the sections titled Summary Compensation

Table 2011 Grants ofPlan-BasedAwards 2011 Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End and 2011 Option Exercises

and Stock Vested as set forth in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Fees earned or Option awards

Name
paid in cash $I23 Total

Philippe Chambon 46750 118644 165394

Thomas Harrison 38583 118644 157227

GaryG Greenfield 11500 140633 152133

Patrick Jones 81167 118644 199811

Erick Tseng 10000 94477 104477

MarkA Wan 38500 118644 157144

Amounts shown in this column do not reflect dollar amounts actually received by our directors Instead these amounts

reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of each stock option granted in the fiscal
year

ended December 312011 computed

in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718 Assumptions used in the calculation of these amounts are included in Note

14 to our audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31 2011 included in this Annual Report on Form

10-K Only one option was granted to each non-employee director in 2011 and the grant date fair value of each option is

set forth in the table Our directors will only realize compensation to the extent the trading price of our common stock is

greater than the exercise price of such stock options

As of December31 2011 the aggregate number of shares subject to outstanding option awards held by each of the directors

listed in the table above was as follows Dr Chambon 43230 shares Mr Harrison 175539 shares Mr Greenfield 19650

shares Mr Jones 120519 shares Mr Tseng 19650 shares and Mr Wan 43230 shares

1/12th of the shares subject to each option award vest monthly over one year subject in each case to the recipients continued
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service as director

Upon election to the Board each non-employee director shall be granted an option to purchase 19650 shares of our common

stock Thereafter each non-employee director shall be entitled to an annual grant of an option to purchase 11790 shares of our

common stock Each of these options will have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of our common stock on the date

of grant and will vest monthly over 12 months such that the entire option shall be fully vested after one year

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Mailers

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF

CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the ownership of Epocrates common stock as of January 31

2012 by each director ii each of the executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table iiiall executive

officers and directors of Epocrates as group and iv all those known by Epocrates to be beneficial owners of more than

five percent of its common stock

Shares Issuable

Shares of Pursuant to Options

common stock Exercisable Within

beneficially 60 Days of Percent of

Name of Beneficial Owner owned January 31 2012 Total

Entities affiliated with The Goldman

Sachs Group Inc 2786856 11.4%

Entities affiliated with Credit Suisse

AG/3 2661033 10.9%

Entities affiliated with InterWest

Partners VII L.P 2003651 31440 8.2%

Entities affiliated with Draper Fisher

Jurvetson Fund 2192163 9.0%

Three Arch Partners II 1655329 6.8%

BlackRock Inc.7 1405549 5.8%

FMRLLC8 2220810 9.1%

Peter Brandt 196647 137322

Adam Budish

David Burlington 70131 70131

Rosemary Crane 743180 732965 3.0%

Heather Gervais 4070 4070

Matthew Kaminer 6666 1666

Joseph Kleine 253506 201333 1.0%

Patrick Spangler 87493 87493

Philippe Chambon M.D Ph.D.9 2686417 42247 11.0%

Gary Greenfield 11462 11462

Thomas Harrison 115606 115606

Patrick Jones 119536 119536

ErickN.Tseng 11462 11462

Mark Wan6 1697576 42247 6.9%

All directors and executive officers

as group 14 persons 6003752 1577540 23.1%

Less than one percent
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Based upon information supplied by officers directors and principal stockholders Unless otherwise indicated in the

footnotes to this table and subject to community property laws where applicable Epocrates believes that each of the

stockholders named in this table has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares indicated as beneficially

owned Beneficial ownership includes shares of common stock issuable pursuant to options exercisable within 60 days

of January 312012 Applicable percentages are based on 24418653 shares outstanding on January 31 2012 adjusted

as required by rules promulgated by the SEC

Goldman Sachs Co also reports beneficial ownership of these shares Each of these Goldman Sachs entities has

shared voting and investment power with respect to these shares These Goldman Sachs entities disclaim beneficial

ownership of the securities beneficially owned by any client accounts with respect to which the Goldman Sachs

reporting units or their employees have voting or investment discretion or both or with respect to which there are limits

on their voting or investment authority or both and ii certain investment entities of which the Goldman Sachs reporting

units act as the general partner managing general partner or other manager to the extent interests in such entities are

held by persons other than the Goldman Sachs reporting units The address for The Goldman Sachs Group Inc and

Goldman Sachs Co is 200 West Street 7th Floor New York New York 10282 The beneficial ownership of these

securities is based on Schedule 3G filed by these entities on February 14 2012 reporting beneficial ownership as

of December 31 2011 and therefore does not reflect any changes in beneficial ownership that may have occurred

between that date and January 31 2012

The shares are held by direct and indirect subsidiaries of Credit Suisse AG The address of the principal business and

office of Credit Suisse AG is Uetlibergstrasse 231 P.O Box 900 CH 8070 Zurich Switzerland The ultimate parent

company of Credit Suisse AG is Credit Suisse Group AG and its business address is Paradeplatz P.O Box CII

8070 Zurich Switzerland Credit Suisse AG and Credit Suisse Group AG disclaim beneficial ownership of shares

beneficially owned by their direct and indirect subsidiaries including by the Sprout Funds as defined below Of the

shares referred to above 2434175 shares are held by Sprout Capital IX L.P or Sprout IX 158773 shares are held

by DLJ ESC II L.P or ESC II 33340 shares are held by DLJ Capital Corporation or DLJCC and 17882 shares are

held by Sprout Entrepreneurs Fund L.P or Sprout Entrepreneurs collectively the Sprout Funds The remainder of

the shares is traded by proprietary desks of Credit Suisse that are not under the control of the Sprout Funds Sprout IX

Sprout Entrepreneurs and ESC II make investments for long-term appreciation DLJCC acts as venture capital

partnership management company DLJCC is the general partner of Sprout Entrepreneurs and is the managing general

partner of Sprout IX and as such is responsible for its day-to-day management DLJCC makes all of the investment

decisions on behalf of Sprout IX and Sprout Entrepreneurs DLJ Associates IX L.P or Associates IX is general

partner of Sprout IX and in accordance with the terms of the relevant partnership agreement does not participate in

investment decisions made on behalf of Sprout IX DLJ Capital Associates IX Inc is the managing general partner of

Associates IX Dr Chambon one of our directors is limited partner of Associates IX DLJ LBO Plans Management

Corporation or DLJLBO is the general partner of ESC II and as such is responsible for its day-to-day management

DLJLBO makes all of the investment decisions on behalf of ESC II Dr Chambon in his capacity as memberof the

investment committees of DLJCC and DLJLBO may be deemed to beneficially own the shares of the Sprout Funds

Dr Chambon disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by the Sprout Funds except to the extent ofhis pecuniary

interest therein See footnote below The address for the Sprout Funds is 11 Madison Avenue 13th Floor New York

New York 10010

Includes 1885124 shares held by InterWest Partners VII L.P and 87087 shares held by InterWest Investors VII L.P

collectively the InterWest Funds InterWest Management Partners VII LLC is the general partner of the InterWest

Funds and thereby has sole voting and investment control over the shares owned by the InterWest Funds Dr Gilbert

Kliman Harvey Cash Philip Gianos Scott Hedrick Stephen Holmes Thomas Rosch and Arnold

Oronsky are managing directors of InterWest Management Partners VII LLC and have shared voting and investment

control over the shares owned by the InterWest Funds The managing directors and members of Inter West Management

Partners VII LLC disclaim beneficial ownership of the shares owned by the lnterWest Funds except to the extent of

their respective pecuniary interest therein Also includes options to purchase 31440 shares issuable pursuant to options

exercisable within 60 days of January 31 2012 granted to Dr Kliman one of our former directors The address for

each of these entities is 2710 Sand Hill Road Second Floor Menlo Park California 94025

Includes 1819017 shares held by Draper Fisher Jurvetson Fund L.P and 147486 shares held by Draper Fisher

Jurvetson Partners LLC collectively the DFJ funds each of which has shared voting and investment power with

respect to the shares they own Draper Fisher Jurvetson Management Co LLC is the general partner of Draper Fisher

Jurvetson Fund L.P and thereby has shared voting and investment control over the shares owned by Draper Fisher
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Jurvetson Fund L.P Timothy Draper John H.N Fisher and Stephen Jurvetson are the managing directors of

Draper Fisher Jurvetson Management Co LLC and managing members of Draper Fisher Jurvetson Partners LLC

They share voting and investment control over the shares owned by the DFJ Funds The managing directors and

managing members disclaim beneficial ownership of the shares owned by the DFJ Funds except to the extent of their

respective pecuniary interest therein Also includes 225660 shares owned by The Timothy Cook Draper 2010 Annuity

Trust over which Mr Draper has sole voting and investment power The address for all of these entities is 2882 Sand

Hill Road Suite 150 Menlo Park California 94025

Represents shares held by Three Arch Partners II L.R or Three Arch over which Three Arch has sole voting and

investment power Three Arch Management II L.L.C or TAM II is the general partner of Three Arch and thereby

has sole voting and investment control over the shares owned by the Three Arch Mr Wan one of our directors and

Wilfred Jaeger are managing members of TAM II and have shared voting and investment control over the shares

owned by Three Arch Mr Wan disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by Three Arch except to the extent

of his pecuniary interest therein The address for each of these entities is 3200 Alpine Road Portola Valley California

94028 In addition to the shares beneficially owned by Mr Wan by virtue of the shares owned by Three Arch Mr Wan

has beneficial ownership of 42247 shares subject to stock options exercisable within 60 days of January 31 2012

granted to Mr Wan

The address for BlackRock Inc is 40 East 52 Street New York New York 10022 The beneficial ownership of these

securities is based on Schedule 13G filed by BlackRock Inc on February 2012 reporting beneficial ownership as

of December 31 2011 and therefore does not reflect any changes in beneficial ownership that may have occurred

between that date and January 31 2012

Fidelity Management Research Company Fidelity is wholly-owned subsidiary of FMR LLC is an investment

advisor and beneficially owns these shares by virtue of having sole investment power over these shares Edward

Johnson 3d the Chairman of FMR LLC and FMR LLC through its control of Fidelity also beneficially own these

shares Members of the family of Mr Johnson are the predominant owners directly or through trusts of Series voting

common shares of FMR LLC representing 49% of the voting power of FMR LLC Neither FMR LLC nor Mr Johnson

has the sole power to vote or direct the voting of the shares owned directly by the Fidelity Funds which power resides

with the Funds Boards of Trustees The address for FMR LLC Mr Johnson and Fidelity is 82 Devonshire Street

Boston Massachusetts 02109 The beneficial ownership of these securities is based on Schedule 3G filed by these

entities on February 14 2012 reporting beneficial ownership as of December 31 2011 and therefore does not reflect

any changes in beneficial ownership that may have occurred between that date and January 31 2012

Includes 42247 shares issuable pursuant to options exercisable within 60 days of January 31 2012 Also includes

2644170 shares held by the Sprout Funds See footnote above Dr Chambon disclaims beneficial ownership of the

shares held by the Sprout Funds except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein The address for Dr Chambon

is 11 Madison Avenue 13th Floor New York New York 10010

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table provides information as of December 31 2011 with respect to shares of our common stock that may be

issued upon the exercise of stock options and other rights under our existing equity compensation plans which consists of our

1999 Stock Option Plan our 2008 Equity Incentive Plan and our 2010 Equity Incentive Plan

Number of available

securities remaining

Number of securities Weighted average for future issuance under

to be issued upon
exercise price

equity compensation plans

exercise of options
outstanding options

excluding securities

warrants and rights
warrants and rights reflected in column

Plan Category

Equity compensation

plans approved by

stockholders 6470382 10.54 1649264
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Consists of three plans our 1999 Stock Option Plan our 2008 Equity Incentive Plan and our 2010 Equity Incentive

Plan

The number of shares reserved for issuance under our 2010 Equity Incentive Plan will automatically increase on

January each year starting on January 2012 and continuing through January 2014 by the lesser of four

percent 4% of the total number of shares of our common stock outstanding on the last day of the preceding calendar

year 1965000 shares of our common stock or number determined by our Board that is less than or

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

In addition to the executive and director compensation arrangements including the employment termination of employment

and change-of-control arrangements discussed above under Executive Compensation and Related Information the following

is description of transactions since January 2011 unless otherwise specified to which we have been party in which the

amount involved in the transaction exceeds or will exceed $120000 and in which any of our directors executive officers or

beneficial holders of more than 5% of our capital stock or any immediate family member of or person sharing the household

with any of these individuals had or will have direct or indirect material interest

Employment agreements

We have entered into employment agreements with certain of our executive officers For more information regarding these

agreements see the section above entitled Executive Employment and Severance Agreements

Director and officer indemnification

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation contains provisions limiting the liability of directors In addition we

have entered into agreements to indemnify our directors and executive officers to the fullest extent permitted under Delaware

Law

Other agreements

In 2009 we entered into various agreements with Cline Davis Mann Inc and SSCG Media Group division of Cline Davis

Mann whereby we provided various marketing educational media and creative services through our DocAlert channel

Cline Davis Mann is subsidiary of DAS where Mr Harrison memberof our Board serves as the Chief Executive Officer

CEO For the year ended December 312011 we recorded no revenue from Cline Davis Mann and recorded approximately

$4.9 million of revenue from SSCG Media Group respectively Mr Harrison does not have direct or indirect material interest

in these transactions and these transactions are immaterial to DAS

In 2010 we provided services to Porter Novelli also DAS subsidiary In connection with these services we recorded revenue

from Porter Novelli of approximately $0.2 million for the year ended December 31 2011 Mr Harrison does not have direct

or indirect material interest in this transaction and this transaction is immaterial to DAS

Review approval or ratification of transactions with related parties

Pursuant to our written Code of Business Conduct and Ethics executive officers and directors arc not permitted to enter into

any transactions with Epocrates without the approval of either our Audit Committee pursuant to the provisions set forth in the

Audit Committee Charter or our Board In approving or rejecting such proposed transactions the Audit Committee or Board

as applicable shall consider the relevant facts and circumstances available and deemed relevant to the Audit Committee or

Board as applicable including but not limited to the risks costs benefits to Epocrates the terms of the transactions the availability

of other sources for comparable services or products and if applicable the impact on directors independence Our Audit

Committee and/or Board shall approve only those transactions that in light of known circumstances are in or are not inconsistent

with our best interests as our Audit Committee or Board determines in the good faith exercise of its discretion We have

designated compliance officer to generally oversee compliance with the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
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Audit Fees

Audit-Related Fees

Tax Fees

All Other Fees

Total Fees

All of the transactions described above were entered into prior to the adoption of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics As

each of the aforementioned were entered into in the ordinary course of business and were deemed not material to our business

or operations they were not formally approved or ratified by our Board or Audit Committee

For complete description of the agreements entered into with subsidiaries of DAS of which Thomas Harrison member

of our Compensation Committee and Board is the CEO please refer to the section above entitled Compensation Committee

Interlocks and Insider Participation

Independence of the Board

As required under the NASDAQ Stock Market NASDAQ listing standards majority of the members of listed companys

Board of Iirectors must qualify as independent as affirmatively determined by the Board The Board consults with Epocrates

counsel to ensure that the Boards determinations are consistent with relevant securities and other laws and regulations regarding

the definition of independent including those set forth in pertinent listing standards of the NASDAQ as in effect from time

to time

Consistent with these considerations after review of all relevant identified transactions or relationships between each director

or any
of his or her family members and Epocrates its senior management and its independent auditors the Board has

affirmatively determined that the following six directors are independent directors within the meaning ofthe applicable NASDAQ
listing standards Dr Chambon and Messrs Jones Greenfield Harrison Tseng and Wan In making this determination the

Board found that none of the directors had material or other disqualifying relationship with Epocrates Mr Brandt Epocrates

Interim President and CEO is currently not an independent director by virtue of his employment with Epocrates

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The following table represents aggregate fees billed to Epocrates for the fiscal years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 by

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Epocrates principal accountant

Fiscal Years Ended December 31

2011 2010

1402833 1787625

5000 5000

1800 1500

1409633 1794125

Relates to tax compliance services provided

Relates to license fees for accounting research software

All fees described above were approved by the Audit Committee

In connection with the audit of the 2011 financial statements Epocrates entered into an engagement agreement with

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP which sets forth the terms by which PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP will perform audit services for

Epocrates That agreement is subject to alternative dispute resolution procedures and an exclusion of punitive damages

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

The Audit Committee has adopted policy and procedures for the pre-approval of audit and non-audit services rendered by

Epocrates independent registered public accounting firm PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP The policy generally pre-approves

specified services in the defined categories of audit services audit-related services and tax services up to specified amounts

Pre-approval may also be given as part of the Audit Committees approval of the scope of the engagement of the independent

auditor or on an individual explicit case-by-case basis before the independent auditor is engaged to provide each service The

pre-approval of services may be delegated to one or more of the Audit Committee members but the decision must be reported

to the full Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting
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The Audit Committee has determined that the rendering of the services other than audit services by PricewaterhouseCoopers

LLP is compatible while maintaining the principal accountants independence

PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits Financial Statement Schedules

We have filed the following documents as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 2011 and 2010

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred Stock Stockholders Equity Deficit and

Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Statement Schedule

The following financial statement schedule is filed as part of this report

Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules are omitted because they are not required or the required information is shown in the financial statements

or notes thereto

See the Exhibit Index which follows the signature page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K which is incorporated here by

reference
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Registrant has duly caused this

report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thercunto duly authorized

Epocrates Inc

By Is PETER BRANDT By Is PATRICK SPANGLER

PETER BRANDT PATRICK SPANGLER

Interim President and Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

Principal Executive Officer Principal Financial andAccounting Officer

Date March 192012

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENT that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Peter

Brandt and Patrick Spangler and each or any one of them his true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent with full power

of substitution and resubstitution for him and in his name place and stead in any and all capacities to sign any and all amendments

to this Report and to file the same with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith with the Securities

and Exchange Commission granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents and each of them full power and authority to do

and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith as fully to all intents and

purposes as he might or could do in person hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of

them or their or his substitutes or substitute may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this Report has been signed below by the following persons

on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated



Signatures Title Date

Is PETER BRANDT Interim President and Chief Executive

PETER BRANDT OfficerPrincipal Executive Officer
March 19 2012

Is PATRICK SPANGLER Chief Financial OfficerPrincipal

PATRICK SPANGLER Financial and Accounting Officer
March 19 2012

/s PATRICK JONES
Chairman of the Board March 19 2012PATRICK JONES

Is PHILIPPE CHAMBON
PHILIPPE CHAMBON M.D PH.D

Director March 19 2012

/5/ GARY GREENFIELD

GARY GREENFIELD
Director March 19 2012

Is THOMAS HARRISON

THOMAS HARRISON
Director March 19 2012

/s ERICK TSENG
Director March 19 2012

ERICK TSENG

Is MARK WAN
MARKA WAN

Director March 19 2012



Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Epocrates Inc

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves

Years Ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009

in thousands

Charged to

Beginning Costs and Ending

Description
Balance Expenses Reversals Utilizations Balance

Allowance for doubtful accounts

2011 141 665 721 85

2010 22 282 163 141

2009 27 89 94 22

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets

2011 159 509 668

2010 159 159

2009

Note Additions to the allowance for doubtful accounts are charged to expense
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Exhibit

Number Description of Document

3.11 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated February 2011

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws

4.13 Specimen common stock certificate

4.2 Form of Warrant to purchase Series convertible preferred stock

10.13 Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement dated October 2007

10.2 Form of Indemnity Agreement entered into between Registrant and each of its directors and officers

10.3 1999 Stock Option Plan as amended

10.4 Form of Stock Option Agreement under 1999 Stock Option Plan as amended

10.5 Form of 2007 Performance Based Option Grant Notice under 1999 Stock Option Plan as amended

10.6 Form of 2008 PerformanceBased Option Grant Notice irnder 1999 Stock Option Plan as amended

10.7 2008 Equity Incentive Plan as amended

10.8 Form of Stock Option Agreement and Form of Option Grant Notice under 2008 Equity Incentive Plan

10.9 Form of 2009 PerformanceBased Option Grant Notice under 2008 Equity Incentive Plan as amended

10.10 2010 Equity Incentive Plan as amended

10.11 Form of Stock Option Agreement and Form of Option Grant Notice under 2010 Equity Incentive Plan

10.12 Sublease Agreement dated December 2006 by and between Oracle USA Inc and the Registrant as

amended on May 2007 and April 29 2010 and Consent to Sublease by and among Bay Meadows Park

Place Investors LLC Oracle USA and the Registrant dated December 14 2006

10.13 Sublease dated as of September 30 2010 by and between the Registrant and CA Inc and Consent dated

as of October 14 2010 by and between Princeton South Development L.L.C the Registrant and CA Inc

10.14 Offer Letter dated June 2011 by and between Registrant and Matthew Kaminer

10.15 Offer Letter dated February 25 2009 by and between Registrant and Rosemary Crane

10.16 Amendment No to Offer Letter dated February 25 2009 by and between Registrant and Rosemary

Crane dated April 18 2011

10.17 Separation Agreement dated December 2011 by and between Registrant and Rosemary Crane

10.18 Offer Letter dated January 26 2001 by and between Registrant and Joseph Kleine as amended

February 2010

10.19 Amended and Restated Director Compensation Policy as amended

10.20 Offer Letter dated December 2011 by and between Registrant and Peter Brandt

10.21 Separation and Release Agreement dated November 2011 by and between the Registrant and Joseph

Kleine

10.22 Amended and Restated Offer Letter dated January 28 2011 by and between the Registrant and

Patrick Spangler

10.23 Amendment No to the Amended and Restated Offer Letter dated January 28 2011 by and between the

Registrant and Patrick Spangler dated June 29 2011

10.24 Offer Letter dated October 2010 by and between the Registrant and David Burlington

10.25 Form of 2010 Performance Based Option Grant Notice under 2008 Equity incentive Plan as amended

10.26 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement and Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice under 2010

Equity Incentive Plan

10.27 Lease Agreement dated June 2006 by and between Windsor Limited Partnership of New Jersey and the

Registrant as amended November 21 2007 and Confirmation of Commencement Date by and between

Windsor Acquisitions L.L.C and the Registrant dated January 11 2008

10.28 2011 Executive Officers Compensation

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

24.1 Power of Attorney reference is made to the signature page

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 3a- 14 of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 As Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 3a- 14 of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 As Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C

Section 1350 As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101 .INS XBRL Instance Document

101 .SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101 .CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101 .DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101 .LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101 .PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

Management contract or compensatory plan

Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to ourAnnual Report on Form 10-K Reg No 001-35062 with the SEC on March 31 2011 and
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Filed as Exhibit 3.4 to our Registration Statement on Form S-i as amended Reg No 333-168176 and
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and incorporated herein by reference

Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q Reg No 001-35062 with the SEC on August 12 2011
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 No 333-172906 of Epocrates

Inc of our report dated March 192012 relating to the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule which

appear
in this Form 10-K

Is PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose California

March 19 2012



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

Peter Brandt certify that

have reviewed this Form 10-K of Epocrates Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state material

fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made not

misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly present

in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for the periods

presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and

procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15e and 5d-15e and internal control over financial reporting as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f and lSd-15f for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed

under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is

made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be

designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the

preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this

report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the

registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report that has materially

affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal control

over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board of directors or persons

performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record process summarize and report

financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have significant role in the

registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date March 19 2012

Is Peter Brandt

Peter Brandt

Interim Chief Executive Officer

Principal Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

Patrick Spangler certify that

have reviewed this Form 10-K of Epocrates Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state material

fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made not

misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly present

in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for the periods

presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and

procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15e and 5d- 15e and internal control over financial reporting as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a- 15f and 5d- 5f for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed

under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is

made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be

designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the

preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this

report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the

registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report that has materially

affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal control

over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board of directors or persons

performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record process summarize and report

financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have significant role in the

registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date March 19 2012

Is Patrick Spangler

Patrick Spangler

Chief Financial Officer

Principal Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C SECTION 1350 AS

ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY

ACT OF 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the annual report of Epocrates Inc the

Company on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 2011 as filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission the Report for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14b or Rule 15d-14b of the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934 the Exchange Act and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code

Peter Brandt the Interim Chief Executive Officer and Patrick Spangler the Chief Financial Officer of the Company

each certifies that to the best of his or her knowledge

the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Exchange Act and

the information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of

operations of the Company

Date March 19 2012

Is Peter Brandt

Name Peter Brandt

Interim Chief Executive Officer

Is Patrick Spangler

Name Patrick Spangler

Chief Financial Officer


